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Thursday, May 17, 2018
--- On commencing at 9:01 a.m.

MS. LEA:  I'm just going to turn on the microphones now.

Good morning, and welcome to the second day of the technical conference on the motion by NextBridge on Hydro One's application to build the Lake Superior link, and I believe that -- are there any preliminary matters?  Any questions?  Yes, Mr. Warren.
Preliminary Matters:

MR. WARREN:  Jennifer, I don't know that we need to deal with it now, but one of the issues that came up yesterday was the question of the records in discrete proceeding and, in particular, the record from the technical conference in NextBridge's section 92 application.

MS. LEA:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  It is not clear to me that the evidence from that proceeding and the undertaking and the responses whenever we get them in that proceeding can be used in this particular proceeding, and my suggestion is that they should be so that we don't have to parse these things, but that is a matter on which certainly I would like some direction as to the use of that.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thank you.  Mr. Stevens, did you have any views on this matter at all?  I don't know if you heard what Mr. Warren was suggesting with regard to the evidence that NextBridge has filed, not merely on this motion, but on its own application and, in particular, with respect to the technical conference that was held in the 0182 application.

MR. STEVENS:  I suppose ultimately we're in the Board's hands on this.  I took that the Board's direction in terms of what was on the record here was intended to focus on Hydro One's project, not on NextBridge's project, and I know we did agree to import some of the record from that proceeding into this proceeding, and we're willing to do that.

I hesitate to agree that we should import everything in, because I think we're going to lose focus on what this motion is all about, but of course we're in the Board's hands on that.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thank you.  I did note that in the Board's procedural order they specifically reference the evidence file on the motion as being appropriate to discuss in the technical conference.  However, the information on the 0182 matter is on the public record and it is almost inevitable, I think, that we can't ignore it.

I don't know if anyone else has a view on this, because I can seek guidance from the Board today.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I think it is within our -- collective parties would have the ability to agree to essentially deem that record, the record -- 182 record as being on the record for this proceeding.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  I understand there was some confidential material as well; is that right?  That was dealt with in the 0182 technical conference?

MR. STEVENS:  Yes, that's right.

MS. LEA:  Mm-hmm.  So one difficulty may be -- it may be more appropriate not to move that over or to refer to it in this motion.  If anybody needs to, perhaps they could let us know.  It may be that every party here has signed that declaration and undertaking, but I don't believe that's true, and so consequently I think that we should definitely not import or refer to the confidential material in 0182, and if anybody has a problem with that, let me know, and I'll seek guidance.

MR. STEVENS:  Again, I just want to make clear that if it is determined that the entire record from the separate LTC is brought into this case that in no way is NextBridge agreeing to the relevance of everything in that record for the purposes of this motion.

MS. LEA:  One moment.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So do I take it then you wouldn't agree to deem the, let's say, all the public material from the 182 proceeding to be on the record in this proceeding?

MR. STEVENS:  That's not my instructions right now.  I don't have instructions to agree to that.

MS. LEA:  All right.  Thanks very much for your thoughts.  Perhaps, Mr. Stevens, you can think about it and let us know.  In the meantime I'll think about how I might get instructions with respect to that, certainly before the first day of argument of this motion.

And that brings me to another question:  I've already had one request about how to organize the actual argument phase of the motion.  I had presumed that the moving party would begin, and all those supporting the motion would follow that, followed by intervenors opposing the motion and Hydro One, followed by some reply from NextBridge, and OEB Staff would fit in there somewhere.  I don't know that they would be taking a position, but all parties need an opportunity to respond to their comments as well, I think.

So if anybody has any thoughts on that, you can perhaps let me know off the record, or if you have time constraints, and I'm aware Ms. Kempton has a time constraint, let me know.  Okay?  Thanks.

Let's begin then if there is nothing further with our first panel of the day, the Métis Nation of Ontario.

Ms. Strachan, I think you have one witness here and one or more on the telephone.  Thank you.

MS. STRACHAN:  Yes, thank you, Megan Strachan, counsel to the MNO, so here in person we have president, Margaret Froh, of the Métis Nation of Ontario, and on the phone we have Germaine Conacher and Tracy Campbell, who are both consultants with MNP, which is previously --

[teleconference announcement]


MS. STRACHAN:  -- which is previously Calliou Group, and they were the consultants that prepared the Métis Nation of Ontario's traditional land use studies.  And also on the line is Jason Madden, who is also counsel to the MNO.
MÉTIS NATION OF ONTARIO - PANEL 1

Margaret Froh

Germaine Conacher
Tracy Campbell


MS. LEA:  Thank you, and I think, Mr. Warren, you have some questions for this group.

MR. WARREN:  I do not.

MS. LEA:  You do not.  Do Board Staff have any questions for the Métis Nation of Ontario then?

MS. CRNOJACKI:  We do have a few questions --

MS. LEA:  You do.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  -- for the Métis Nation for --

MS. LEA:  Thank you.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  -- Ontario.

MS. LEA:  Please proceed.
Questions by Ms. Crnojacki:

MS. CRNOJACKI:  The MNO evidence, paragraph 21, that indicates that as of May 7th, 2018 there was no consultation with the MNO, the MNO also noted that it had sent a summary of its concerns with respect to the eleventh-hour nature of the LSL and the difficulties it poses for Métis Nation consultation and economic participation in a letter you sent to the Ministry of Energy.  The letter is dated March 21st, 2018.

Our first question is:  Since May 2018 has the MNO been contacted by Hydro One?

MS. FROH:  So good morning.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Good morning.

MS. FROH:  Yes, so we haven't had follow-up specific to the April 30th letter directly with them, other than we initiated contact with Hydro One.  We issued a letter to their board of directors on May 14th outlining our concerns and requesting to meet on an urgent basis to discuss those concerns.  And since that time we -- which was just earlier this week -- we did receive a preliminary response from a staff member, and I understand that there will be a response, because my letter was directed directly to the Chair of the board and the president and CEO.  So we're anticipating a response back from that.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Thank you.

In your view, is there a way for Hydro One to meet its duty to consult if Hydro One's leave-to-construct application is not dismissed by the OEB?  And in your opinion, in your estimation, what would be the reasonable time frame for Hydro One to discharge its duty to consult regarding the LSL project?

MS. FROH:  I think that it's going to be a challenge in terms of the timelines that I understand are in play with this particular leave.  It took us four years to come to the place where we are right now through a very robust engagement process with NextBridge, both in terms of the duty to consult, but also on the economic participation end of things.  That has taken a long time, and ultimately consultation is about building relationships.

I have serious concerns about the ability to be able to meet those consultation obligations in light of the timing of this, as well as the fact that the fact that there is a real concern around what Hydro One -- some of the assumptions that it appears to have made with regard to the impact on Métis Nation of Ontario regional rights-bearing communities, and to that extent that is very much what this letter is about that I referenced earlier.

I don't believe it's in the record, but it does lay out the concerns that we have with regard to consultation and the concerns that we have with the ability to actually follow through on that within the timelines that have been provided.

So that outlined our concerns, but also the concerns about moving forward.  And in particular, we have concerns about essentially the assumptions that have been made by Hydro One have poisoned the well, so to speak, in terms of consultation.

If we are going to be moving forward with Hydro One through this process, we're going to be starting from a deficit position.  Given that consultation really is about establishing that relationship of trust, that, I think, will pose significant challenges for us in order to do that.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Our final last question today for the MNO.  Can you please describe any impact on your communities if the 2020 project in-service date is delayed?

MS. FROH:  So for us, this is very much about starting from scratch again.

As I mentioned earlier, it has taken over four years to come to the place where we are with NextBridge, both in terms of the duty to consult and accommodate, but also in terms of the economic participation.

If we were to have to start that process all over again, we have very serious concerns, A, about the ability to complete it, particularly in the timelines that have been identified.  I think that that's next to impossible. But also there is no guarantee that we are going to actually come out the other end with the benefits for communities that we've been successful in -- that we're on the verge of achieving in our discussions with NextBridge.

This will put us back, we believe, at least -- it took us four years to do this work with NextBridge.  It's going to take us a very extended period of time to have that kind of deep consultation and engagement with Hydro One.

So that would ultimately be -- the impact is starting from scratch again is a real risk for our communities.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Thank you very much.  These are all our questions.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Anyone else with questions for the Métis Nation of Ontario?

Thank you very much for taking the time, both those on the phone and yourself here in the room.  I really appreciate it.  And thank you, Ms. Strachan.

So the next group is BZA.  Mr. Esquega and Ms. MacDonald, I believe you're on the line.
BIINIJITIWABIK ZAAGING ANISHNAABEK - PANEL 1

Chief Melvin Hardy


MR. ESQUEGA:  Good morning.  It's Etienne Esquega here.  Molly MacDonald is here with me as well, and so is Chief Melvin Hardy.

MS. LEA:  Chief Melvin Hardy.  Okay, thank you.  Does Hydro One have any questions for the BZA?

MR. WARREN:  No.

MS. LEA:  Very well, thank you.  Then we'll turn to Board Staff -- unless anybody else?  No?  Board Staff, please.
Questions by Ms. Crnojacki:


MS. CRNOJACKI:  Board Staff has several questions for BZA, First Nations.

BZA motion evidence indicates that Hydro One made very limited contact with the BZA concerning the LSL project, and that there has been no community engagement.

BZA noted that it requires significant consultation and accommodation, and even the consent of BZA with respect to the LSL project.

Our first question is -- since the BZA evidence was filed, has there been any communication with Hydro One?  And if so, please describe the communication.

CHIEF HARDY:  This is Chief Mel Hardy.  And it's not just BZA.  It is Biinjitiwaabik Zaaging Anishinaabek; BZA is just an acronym. Just so you guys know who you're dealing with, we're actually a First Nations -- that's our  First Nations language we're talking here.

Hydro One did send on April 30th a letter, and that's the only engagement we've had.

I did receive a call from an employee of Hydro One, requesting to have a meeting with that staff member.  I said I would get back to that member, but it is on the same date as when I got the letter and that's the only engagement I have ever had.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Thank you, and my apologies for using the acronym.

We know that your evidence raises a number of concerns with respect to Hydro One meeting its duty to consult.  In your view, is there a way for Hydro One to meet its duty to consult if Hydro One's leave to construct application is not dismissed?

CHIEF HARDY:  One of the things I do see is that the 45-day window obviously would not be enough time for consultation, because if you look at the consultations we've had with NextBridge since 2013 and in all that time
-- and I really believe that there was no true consultation made to our First Nations.  And so in order for Hydro One to do this, Hydro One has to develop a relationship of trust with our First Nation.  In order to do that, they'd have to engage with our First Nations on the ground and then develop that trust within that relationship, and engagement will follow.  But that trust needs to be built first.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Thank you.  In your view, what would be a reasonable timeframe for Hydro One to discharge its duty to consult?

CHIEF HARDY:  Well, at this time, it's pretty hard to determine because Hydro One already does some procurement projects on our land right now, and we've inquired about the procurement opportunities and at this point the Hydro One has not reached out to us.

So when we look at development of trust, we are looking at a period almost the same as NextBridge or more.  It depends how long that NextBridge -- I mean that Hydro One is able to develop that trusting relationship with Biinjitiwaabik Zaaging Anishinaabek members.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Thank you.  And is there -- do you want to add anything to that response?

CHIEF HARDY:  Not right now.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Our final question is: If you can please describe any impact on your community if the 2020 project in-service date is delayed?

CHIEF HARDY:  One of the things I'd like to add is the proximity of Biinjitiwaabik Zaaging Anishinaabek to the proposed EWT line on the HONI route is that the community is in relation to the proposed route, we are about approximately 58 kilometres by highway, 47 kilometres as the crow flies, on Highway 11.  We've also got many members living in Thunder Bay and along as the Highway 17 route as well, so we do have members living there.

The traditional territory of BZA, of Rocky Bay or Biinjitiwaabik Zaaging Anishinaabek extends down the reserve and includes lands affected by the proposed route of the project.  We do not delineate or speculate as to where the boundaries as to our territory may be.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Thank you very much.  These are all our questions.

MS. LEA:  Any other questions for Chief Hardy?  If not, Chief Hardy, I want to thank you very much for taking the time to answer questions today.  We do really appreciate it, thank you.

CHIEF HARDY:  Thank you very much.

MS. LEA:  Mr. Warren, are you ready to empanel your witnesses?

MR. WARREN:  I have to find one first.  But other than that, can we take five minutes to get the last of the witnesses down?

MS. LEA:  Yes, five minutes.  Reconvening at 9:25.
--- Recess taken at 9:20 a.m.
--- On resuming at 9:30 a.m.

MS. LEA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren, if you could introduce your panel, please, that would be great.
HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 1

Elise Croll

Christine Goulais

Andrew Spencer

Sanjiv Karunakaran

Bing Young

Megdi Ishac


MR. WARREN:  Yes, good morning.  I'll introduce the panel beginning on my right, Elise Croll from Hydro One Networks.  Next to her is Christine Goulais from Hydro One Networks.  Next to Christine is --


MS. LEA:  Is your mic on and pointing at you as much as possible?  Thank you.

MR. WARREN:  Next to Christine is Andrew Spencer of Hydro One Networks.  Next to Andrew is Sanjiv Karunakaran.  He is with SNC-Lavalin.  Next to him is Bing Young from Hydro One Networks.  And finally to my left is Megdi Ishac.  He is from SNC-Lavalin.  Their CVs have been distributed, and those CVs will indicate their areas of responsibility with respect to today's testimony.

MS. LEA:  Thank you very much.

Now, Mr. Stevens, I think you are up first.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.
Questions by Mr. Stevens:

MR. STEVENS:  Good morning, panel.  My name is David Stevens, and I'll be asking questions on behalf of NextBridge.  My colleague, Brian Murphy, will also have some questions after I've completed the items I'm going to talk about.

So to start with I'd like to ask some questions about Hydro One's project schedule.  To do this is the document that I can -- should consult, the one that's found at Exhibit B, tab 11, Schedule 1, page 1 of your leave to construct?

MR. SPENCER:  That's correct, yes.

MR. STEVENS:  And is this the -- is there anything more detailed in the evidence?  I didn't find it, but please let me know if there is or if there's anything more up-to-date.

MR. SPENCER:  There certainly is additional detail available.

MR. STEVENS:  Is everything collected in one place somewhere else in the evidence in a more detailed or more up-to-date form?

MR. SPENCER:  We submitted the centre level of detail within the section 92 application, but we would be happy to provide additional detail if so requested.

MR. STEVENS:  It's going to take a while if we don't just kind of answer the basic questions as they come out.  So I understand from what you're saying that that you could provide more but this is what you have right now on the record.

MR. SPENCER:  We would be happy to provide additional detail, yes.

MR. STEVENS:  All right.  So let's start.  At the top we talk about projected section 92 approval.  That's the leave to construct application?

MR. SPENCER:  That's correct, yes.

MR. STEVENS:  And it says "start February 2018, finish October 2018".  Is that still your anticipation?

MR. SPENCER:  Subject to the Board's process, yes, we would be able to achieve our completion date within October 2018.

MR. STEVENS:  No, I understand that there is not yet a procedural order or -- I believe there is not yet a notice of proceeding in this case; is that right?

MR. SPENCER:  I think in large part the motion today is to understand that process going forward.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay, and with that in mind, assuming that NextBridge's motion does not succeed, how are you going to achieve the October 2018 date, taking into account the fact that we need to have a notice, procedural order, discovery, hearing, and an OEB decision with reasons?

MR. SPENCER:  I feel the OEB Staff might be able to give a better answer than I would, but we would do feel that with the information presented both in our leave to construct application, the May 7th evidence, and interrogatory responses -- or, sorry, undertaking responses we may provide today, there is sufficient information to allow the Board to understand the viability of our project en route to a hopeful October 2018 leave to construct decision.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay, can you -- and I would be happy for you to do this by way of undertaking -- can you provide me with a specific timeline schedule for -- including all the relevant steps showing how you plan to achieve the October 2018 LTC approval?

MR. WARREN:  Well, Mr. Stevens, since that's substantially out of our hands, we can certainly undertake to provide a more detailed schedule, but the processing of -- within the Board is substantially out of our hands, and we have no control over that, so if you want a more detailed schedule, project schedule, we'll undertake to provide that, but with respect to the timing of the process within the Ontario Energy Board, it's out of my client's control.

MR. STEVENS:  I understand it is out of your control, Mr. Warren, but I assume that your client will have some ideas of what needs to happen to meet the October 2018 date, and that's what I'm asking for.

MR. WARREN:  Well, Mr. Stevens, we both know what needs to happen, because they're Board processes.  Again, I make the point, it is out of my client's control, so describing what the Board's ordinary processes are, it seems to me, almost zero value.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay, well, again, I repeat the question, and if it's a refusal that's fine.  I'd like to see the schedule that will be required to meet the deadline that you have identified, taking into account the state of the proceeding at this point.

MR. WARREN:  Mr. Stevens, we'll undertake to outline what the Ontario Energy Board's usual process is if that would be of benefit to you.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay, with reference to the October 2018 date, please.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  So that will be Undertaking JT2.1, Hydro One to provide the timeline for the OEB process of its leave to construct application with a reference to October 2018 date for receiving Board's decision as pointed in the project schedule.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.1:  HYDRO ONE TO PROVIDE THE TIMELINE FOR THE OEB PROCESS OF ITS LEAVE TO CONSTRUCT APPLICATION WITH A REFERENCE TO OCTOBER 2018 DATE FOR RECEIVING BOARD'S DECISION.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.

I'd like to ask you next about the "obtain EA approval" line on this schedule.  Is it still Hydro One's anticipation to have a completion date of June 2019?

MS. CROLL:  Can everyone hear me?  So that date was based on some sort of exemption, such as a declaration order.  If we are doing a completed individual EA, that date would actually be July 2019.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay, and you're assuming that if you go the declaration route you would have a approval or an exemption from approval by June 2019?

MS. CROLL:  We can't presuppose how that would work, but generally it is a shorter process than an individual EA.

MR. STEVENS:  I see.  Okay.  And how does -- let's take each of them in turn.  The July 2019 expectation of a EA approval, how does that fit with what we heard from the MOECC yesterday that it will take three to five years to go through that process?

MS. CROLL:  Right, so when the MOECC was referencing a three- to five-year process, they're referencing a project that is just beginning and no work has been done, so we wouldn't disagree with that on a typical EA project where no work has been done.  However, in this case there has been significant work done on NextBridge's route, significant consultation completed, and even Hydro One itself on our Lake Superior link route has already been consulting some of our stakeholders as early as last summer, and we've already undertaken many of the studies required.

So even the code of practice from MOECC states that generally it takes a proponent 12 to 24 months to prepare EA documentation.  We've already started that, and a number of our studies are underway, so we do have a schedule that we feel confident will allow us to meet those MOE timelines for review, which are 12 weeks for terms of reference and a 30 weeks' review time for an individual EA.

MR. STEVENS:  And have you discussed that schedule with the MOECC and have they agreed with it?

MS. CROLL:  Yes, we've discussed it with MOECC.

MR. STEVENS:  And have they agreed with it?

MS. CROLL:  No, they haven't, but we are still under discussion.

MR. STEVENS:  I see.  Can you provide me with correspondence where the schedule's been discussed with them?

MS. CROLL:  We've provided the schedule to them.

MR. STEVENS:  No, I'm sorry, can you provide me with copies of the correspondence between Hydro One and MOECC where your proposed EER schedule has been discussed?

MS. CROLL:  I would say I can provide you with correspondence where we've provided that.

MR. STEVENS:  So do I take that to mean that there's been no correspondence in response from MOECC?

MS. CROLL:  We've had verbal discussions around general timelines for declaration orders and individual EAs.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  And what -- can you summarize what they've told you in terms of their reaction to the time that you are proposing?

MS. CROLL:  So we've had numerous meetings with MOECC.  With respect to a declaration order, it is difficult to presuppose how long that would take.  Typically it is shorter than an individual EA process, and we heard the MOECC suggest a range of six to nine months yesterday.  We feel that that would be appropriate, given the six months that we've suggested.

With respect to individual EAs, we have had verbal discussions with MOECC around possible ways to expedite that process, and we have had mostly verbal meeting discussions.  I suppose we would have to get permission from MOECC to share those meeting notes.

MR. STEVENS:  Did you get permission from MOECC to share everything that you've shared up to this point?

MS. CROLL:  I think the correspondence that's formal -- sorry.

MS. LEA:  Is the green light lit, not on Mr. Warren's side, but yours.  I think you share with Ms. Strachan.

MS. COOPER:  How's that?

MS. LEA:  I think your microphone is working.  Is that working for you?

MS. COOPER:  Okay, I've got it.

I believe as part of the evidence that was filed, there were documents, correspondence exchanged between Hydro One and the ministry.  So are you seeking something more than that?

MR. STEVENS:  No.  I've noticed in the documents and in your evidence that there's correspondence between MOECC and Hydro One, and summaries of discussions with MOECC.  And the witness, Ms. Croll, indicated that she would need to seek permission from MOECC to report on the conversations that I've been asking about.

I'm just curious to know whether permission has already been received for the items that have been disclosed to date.

MS. COOPER:  So the items that have been disclosed to date, in my understanding, are items of public record, I believe NextBridge received copies of some of those letters and the correspondence that are in the evidence.

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  I'm having trouble hearing.

MS. COOPER:  It doesn't sound like I'm on the mic, even though --


MR. STEVENS:  We're having trouble hearing the conference call as well.

MS. LEA:  Can you get closer to it and see if that helps?  If not, we'll get you to trade microphones with somebody.

MS. COOPER:  Okay, how about that?  Better?

MS. LEA:  Not great.

MS. COOPER:  Now is that better?  Yes, I'm on.

MS. LEA:  My apologies for the -- I don't know what's going on here.

MS. COOPER:  Sorry, do I have to repeat the question, because I don't know if I was halfway through the --


MR. STEVENS:  I was simply inquiring as to whether if it's important for Hydro One to get the MOECC's permission to report on discussions and correspondence.  I was simply inquiring whether that permission has been received for --explicitly received for everything that's currently in the record.

MS. COOPER:  So are you asking whether or not the documents that have been produced as part of the evidence submitted to date, whether permission was sought from the Ministry to provide those documents?

MR. STEVENS:  Yes.

MS. CROLL:  No, but most -- to Ms. Cooper's point, most of those documents, I'd have to check whether all of them are a matter of public record.  But they are also formal correspondence.

I would be referring to verbal discussions that took place at meetings between Ministry of Environment, Hydro One.

MR. STEVENS:  So my question then is this: Can you please provide us with a summary of the MOECC reaction or comments on your proposed timelines after having received their consent, and confirm that you are accurately reporting what they told you?

MS. COOPER:  We'll take that one under advisement.  We don't have a formal record of the discussions.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  So will that be an undertaking?  It is JT2.2.

MS. LEA:  To report back.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  To report back under advisement, if the MOECC agrees that Hydro One provide a summary of their comments regarding the proposed environmental assessment schedule.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.2:  HYDRO ONE TO PROVIDE A SUMMARY OF THEIR COMMENTS REGARDING THE PROPOSED ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT SCHEDULE, IF MOECC AGREES TO DISCLOSE


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  While we are on the topic of Hydro One's planned EA process, my understanding from your evidence is that you are in the process of commencing your own EA process.

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  And does your own EA process rely in any way on the NextBridge EA documentation and studies?

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  Can you explain how?

MS. CROLL:  So it is our opinion that the NextBridge EA studies are a public document.  There are several reasons for this.

MR. STEVENS:  I'm not asking why, actually.  I'm asking how you are going to rely on it.

MS. CROLL:  How we would rely on it?

MR. STEVENS:  What parts of those documents are you using; how are you coming to have those documents.


MS. CROLL:  So those documents are a matter of public record and they are available for public review, so we would be referencing those documents.  We wouldn't intend to undertake and re-do all of the studies for the route sections that are shared.  We would be undertaking our own studies for the sections of the route which differ.

But given that information has already been collected and it is clear that that's for the use of the line constructor, we would use that information.  We're well aware that relying on that information is at our own risk, and we would take steps to verify that information where we deemed it necessary.  And we would also take steps to consult along the entire route to ensure that there were no additional concerns with our proposed undertaking.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay, thank you.  So is that different than from what you said in your prefiled evidence?  I'm at tab B, schedule 1, tab 1, page 10.

My apologies, I meant to -- I wrote the wrong reference down.  Sorry, the reference I should have given you was Exhibit B, tab 7, schedule 1, page 6, the key assumptions.

As I read your second key assumption, you had been requiring or expecting that NextBridge's entire EA development work would be made available to Hydro One, and I assumed that that included a request for all of the underlying studies and data, and everything that was used to build-up the EA.

Did I understand correctly what your initial request was?

MS. CROLL:  No, we actually didn't anticipate that all the underlying studies and specifics of consultation would be provided.  We expected to use what was publicly available in the published EA documents.

MR. STEVENS:  I see.  So your request now, in any event -- or your expectation now is that you would be able to print off whatever is publicly available, and use and rely on that at your own risk?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.

MR. STEVENS:  And you don't see any requirement to obtain consent from any other party to do that?

MS. CROLL:  No.

MR. STEVENS:  And you're aware that you in fact don't have the consent from any other -- from NextBridge or other parties who contributed to the EA to do that?

MS. CROLL:  We're aware we don't have consent.  But I would say that we wouldn't necessarily have to print or reproduce that document.  It is publicly available now.  We would be referencing that document.

MR. STEVENS:  I see.  Are you asking any specific relief from the Ontario Energy Board to be able to do that?

MS. CROLL:  No.

MR. STEVENS:  Are you asking any specific relief from the MOECC to be able to do that?

MS. CROLL:  The MOECC would obviously have to support that approach, but specifically we haven't asked for relief at this point.

If we were to request a declaration order we would suggest that that publicly available information would demonstrate that environmental impacts of the NextBridge route have been properly assessed and there are plans in place to mitigate those impacts.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  But staying with the EA process, you indicated that the MOECC will have to endorse, agree, perhaps just allow this approach.  Have you had discussions with them about that?

MS. CROLL:  I would say that they would not -- they wouldn't object to that.  So I think in order for us to do that, they would have to object to that in some way to show us that we weren't allowed to reference that public document.  I think in the EA Act it is clear that an environmental assessment is a public document, and we would expect to be able to access that public document.

MR. STEVENS:  And are you relying on precedents where this has happened in the past?

MS. CROLL:  No.

MR. STEVENS:  Are you aware of precedents where this has happened in the past?

MS. CROLL:  There are a number of cases that I know from professional experience where other reports have been referenced by environmental consultants and other parties, but of course the reference includes identifying who prepared those studies, and unless reliance is formally provided by a consultant on a report, another party relies on that at their own risk.

MR. STEVENS:  I see.  But are you specifically aware of other circumstances where a project proponent has relied on an EA report that it did not prepare and that was done by another proponent?

MS. CROLL:  I'm aware of cases where a third-party proponent has undertaken a project in accordance with an approved EA that was done by another party.

MR. STEVENS:  And was that with the consent of the other party?

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  Let's talk just a bit more about this.  Can you turn to page 23 of your evidence on this motion.  And I'm hoping that you also have a copy of -- page 23 has been updated, so I'm hoping you also have a copy of the original filing?

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  Can you explain to me why you updated the evidence?  As far as I can tell there were no changes to the evidence; there were just items removed.  It looks like, roughly speaking, the bottom half of page 23 was removed.

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.

MR. STEVENS:  So there was no changes to the part that's remained?

MS. CROLL:  Correct.

MR. STEVENS:  Why did you remove the section that was taken away?

MS. CROLL:  The reason we removed that was we didn't want to appear to presuppose the position of the Ministry on this matter.  We didn't want to state an opinion about our preference on a process, because now we've also initiated an individual EA, yet we still remain aware that the declaration order option is still available to us.

So the reason we removed the last section, although not inaccurate, did seem to presuppose a position by the Ministry.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  Thank you.

And going back to your own EA, you are only producing -- you are only producing your own materials in relation to the parts of the route that diverge from NextBridge; is that right?

MS. CROLL:  No.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  Can you expand on that?  How have I misunderstood?

MS. CROLL:  So we will be conducting full studies and consultation for the section of the route which differs from NextBridge.  That would be the 89 kilometres, which includes 35 kilometres through Pukaskwa National Park and also the approaches to the park, so those areas have not been studied by NextBridge other than in the terms of reference, so in their individual EA those were not studied, so we would do full studies and consultation on those areas.

In addition, however, there are very minor differences in our undertaking from that of NextBridge along the route.  For example, our footprint is much narrower.  We don't require the widening that NextBridge does, so although we don't see that as an additional environmental impact, in fact we see it as a benefit, we would still need to let people along the route know that there is that difference.

Further, our tower design differs, so we would be consulting consultation along the entire route to ensure that all of the interested parties are aware of the slight differences for the shared portions of the route.  We would also be engaging our Indigenous communities along the entire route and gaining any additional information from them on our proposal.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.

Can you please provide me with a schedule of all the activities leading up to a July 2019 approval for this EA?  And a good reference for that might be the flow chart that was provided in the MOECC evidence showing the various steps that have to be undertaken.

MS. CROLL:  So to be clear, you are looking for a schedule of EA activities to meet the July 2019 date?

MR. STEVENS:  That's correct, from the very start of whatever activities you've been doing.  You've mentioned that you've been working for some time now.

MS. CROLL:  Correct.

MR. STEVENS:  Up until July 2019, setting out the nature of each of the steps and the timing for each of those steps.

MS. CROLL:  Yes, we can do that.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That will be undertaking JT2.3.  Hydro One to provide a schedule of all activities leading to the July 2019 date of environmental assessment completion.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.3:  HYDRO ONE TO PROVIDE A SCHEDULE OF ALL ACTIVITIES LEADING TO THE JULY 2019 DATE OF INDIVIDUAL ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT COMPLETION.

MR. STEVENS:  And I just want to ask a bit about the declaration order process.  Is it your expectation that the -- your own EA process and the declaration process -- order process will be proceeding in tandem?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.

MR. STEVENS:  And do I understand correctly that you are not planning to start the order declaration process until such time as NextBridge's EA is approved?

MS. CROLL:  Originally we were not, because we were instructed by MOECC that they didn't feel we could submit a declaration order until the NextBridge EA was final, but as we heard yesterday from the MOECC staff that were here, in fact, that is not the case.  So we could submit our declaration order earlier, which would allow the regulator additional time to review, and declaration orders by nature are flexible.  There could be conditions on that declaration order that would allow us to submit it early, conditional upon approval of other items or completion of other requirements.

MR. STEVENS:  And so what's your plan?

MS. CROLL:  We're considering our options at the moment.

MR. STEVENS:  I see.  Can you provide me with a schedule of when you plan to undertake the various steps leading up to a declaration order approval?  And you can include whatever contingencies you like, given your current state of planning?

MS. COOPER:  So we're going to take that under advisement, just because, as Ms. Croll said, at this point in time they are considering the issue.  It hasn't been finalized.

MR. STEVENS:  In any event, your firm plan is that you would have a declaration order by June 2019?

MS. CROLL:  No, we're actually undertaking an individual EA process at this time, and we could submit a request for a declaration order at any time.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  But you are going to provide me with updated information about your plans if you're able?

MS. CROLL:  As soon as we determine when it would be most prudent to submit such a request we will provide that information.

MR. STEVENS:  Can you -- why don't we do it this way:  Can you tell me, based on what you knew until yesterday, what your plans were?

MS. CROLL:  When we originally thought that we would not be able to submit a declaration order request until NextBridge's EA was finalized, our plan was to submit such a request in December, at which time we expected our field studies and most of our consultations to be complete, and at which time, based on the publicly available schedule provided by NextBridge, we would expect their EA to be approved.  However, we can't presuppose when the Minister will actually approve that, but our general plan was to submit immediately following the NextBridge EA being approved.

That plan may change.  We just found out yesterday there may be an option to submit sooner, so we would certainly consider that.

MR. STEVENS:  And do you have any different information from what we heard from the MOECC yesterday that a declaration order process could take six to nine months?

MS. CROLL:  We've reviewed the MOECC website with a number of declaration orders.  Specifically, MOECC in discussions referred us to the most recent example, and that was actually approved in approximately one month.  In the few declaration orders that I observed, many of them were approved in under four months.  So we would expect that six-month timeline would be reasonable.

MR. STEVENS:  So we heard yesterday that the only two -- I believe this is what -- correct me if you heard differently.  I heard that there were two declaration orders issued in the last five years, and each of those were in emergency circumstances.

Are you speaking of non-emergency cases where the timing was one month or four months?

MS. CROLL:  I'm speaking of examples publicly available on MOECC's website for the 59 DEC orders that are listed there.

MR. STEVENS:  But are they emergency situations?

MS. CROLL:  I did not review all of them.

MR. STEVENS:  Right.  Can you please let us know if you are going to be taking the position that the MOECC has been approving declaration orders in less than six to nine months in non-emergency situations?

MS. CROLL:  So the MOECC -- well...

MR. STEVENS:  Sorry, the Minister, I suppose, to be fair.

MS. CROLL:  Can you repeat the actual question?

MR. STEVENS:  Sure.  Can you please let us know, perhaps by way of undertaking, if you are taking the position that the MOECC has been approving -- or the minister, rather, has been approving declaration orders in less than six to nine months in non-emergency situations?

MS. COOPER:  We're not going to give that undertaking, because all of this information is publicly available on the website.  It is not Hydro One information.  It is a review of the declaration orders that have been issued.

I think Ms. Croll mentioned there's 59 of them on the website.  So anybody can go onto the website and review all of the declaration orders.  It is all publicly available.

MR. STEVENS:  Can you please provide me with a link to that?

MS. COOPER:  A link to the MOECC website?

MR. STEVENS:  A link to exactly where you would find this information.

MS. COOPER:  I would be personally happy to do that.

MR. STEVENS:  I would like that by way of Undertaking, just so I can follow through.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That will be undertaking JT2.4.  Hydro One to provide the link to the MOECC's website with a list of postings of declarations of -- I'm sorry, I need help with this.

MR. STEVENS:  A link to the page on the MOECC's website that lists declaration orders that have been granted.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  They have to --


MS. CROLL:  I would also add with respect to emergencies, as the MOECC noted yesterday, there are four reasons that a declaration order could be granted, one of which is an emergency situation.

That is clearly not the only reason they could be granted, and I would direct you to our evidence, page 8, where we outline the other three reasons and how we feel that we're a good candidate for a declaration order, because we meet those other three criteria.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.4:  HYDRO ONE TO PROVIDE A LINK TO A MOECC WEB PAGE THAT LISTS DECLARATION ORDERS THAT HAVE BEEN GRANTED

MR. STEVENS:  Finally on the declaration order, is Hydro One planning to make use of any of the non-public portions of the NextBridge EA materials, including studies and technical information, as part of the declaration order process?

MS. CROLL:  So it is possible that we could make use of archaeological studies, because those are available through the Ministry of Tourism, Culture and Sport to other licensed archaeologists, and it is industry practice for archaeologists to check with that regulatory body on previous studies.  Those studies can be somewhat confidential, and that is why they are only released to licensed archaeologists.

MR. STEVENS:  Is there anything else non-public that you would be intending to rely upon?

MS. CROLL:  No.

MR. STEVENS:  Going back to this schedule that we began talking about, which is at Exhibit B, tab 11, schedule 1, I notice there is no reference here to Parks Canada approval and federal EA approval.

Now, my understanding from the letter from Parks Canada in your evidence at Exhibit C, tab 1, schedule 2, appendix 2, is that do you require Parks Canada approval to take the route through Pukaskwa Park; is that right?

MS. CROLL:  Correct.

MR. STEVENS:  And I also understand that you also require a completed Environment Canada impact assessment for that portion of the route.  Is that correct?

MS. CROLL:  Correct.

MR. STEVENS:  Have you commenced the Environment Canada impact process?

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  Can you give me a schedule -- and this might best be done by way of undertaking -- showing me the start and anticipated finish of that schedule, and all significant steps in between?

MS. COOPER:  We can provide you with a schedule outlining steps.

MS. LEA:  I'm sorry, I can't hear that answer.

MS. CROLL:  Yes, we can.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That will be JT2.5, Hydro One to provide a schedule for Parks Canada approval of an Environment Canada impact assessment process for the Pukaskwa National Park portion of the route.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.5:  HYDRO ONE TO PROVIDE A SCHEDULE FOR PARKS CANADA APPROVAL OF ALL ENVIRONMENT CANADA IMPACT ASSESSMENT PROCESSES FOR THE PUKASKWA NATIONAL PARK PORTION OF THE ROUTE

MR. STEVENS:  And in terms of the Parks Canada approval, you've produced a number of pieces of correspondence that relate to discussions to renew or extend Hydro One's licence.  Are you familiar with those?

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  What -- have those discussions now been completed?

MS. CROLL:  Are you referring to the licence renewal itself?

MR. STEVENS:  I am.  Has the licence been renewed?

MS. CROLL:  No.

MR. STEVENS:  What's the status there?

MS. CROLL:  So we are still in discussions with Parks Canada.  However, the current licence remains in place until the renewal is completed, and that's agreed upon by both Parks Canada and Hydro One.

MR. STEVENS:  I see, and what -- do you have any more recent correspondence than what we have in the record as to the status of negotiations with Hydro One?

MS. CROLL:  Those negotiations are taking place with our realty department.  They've produced the correspondence up to the date of the evidence, and we would have to check for anything more recent.

MR. STEVENS:  Can you do that for me, please?

MS. COOPER:  We'll give you that undertaking to see if there has been any further correspondence on the record with Parks Canada.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  JT2.6, Hydro One to provide correspondence with Parks Canada regarding licence renewal. 
MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.

MR. WARREN:  Sorry, just to refine that.  I apologize.  Much of that correspondence is already in the record.

I think what Mr. Stevens asked for was any correspondence after the date of the filing of our evidence on May 7th.  Is that right?

MR. STEVENS:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Thanks.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.6:  HYDRO ONE TO PROVIDE CORRESPONDENCE WITH PARKS CANADA AFTER MAY 7TH, 2018 REGARDING LICENCE RENEWAL

MR. STEVENS:  What's the -- and we were talking a moment ago about the Environment Canada impact assessment, and I noticed in your evidence there is reference to a May 9th meeting --


MS. CROLL:  Right.

MR. STEVENS:  -- that appeared to be in relation to that request.  Am I correct in that reading?

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  Did that meeting happen?

MS. CROLL:  So on May -- I'll find my notes.  On May 8th, the park actually provided us comments on the study that we proposed within the park.

So those comments were provided instead of the May 9th meeting, and we agreed to have another meeting which is now scheduled for May 17th.

So on May 7th, we provided a table of contents for the proposed outline for the impact assessment, and we'd previously provided the details of our study, and we received those comments back actually on May 8th.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  So I have two undertaking requests in relation to that.

First of all, can you please provide copies of the materials received by Parks Canada in relation to what would have been the May 9th meeting?

MS. COOPER:  Are you talking about correspondence, documentation that's been provided by Parks Canada?

MR. STEVENS:  The witness just indicated that Parks Canada provided comments on materials submitted, so I'm asking for copies of that.

MS. CROLL:  I believe that was verbal correspondence.  I would have to check on that.  Would you suggest we would provide a summary of that conversation, or are you looking for a formal correspondence?

MR. STEVENS:  When you indicated correspondence, I wrongly assumed it was written.

MS. COOPER:  As did I.  So why don't we give you an undertaking to look for and see if there is any correspondence from Parks Canada on this issue and if so, we'll provide.

MR. STEVENS:  Right.  To be clear, I'm interested in you providing -- if it's a summary of what was communicated to Hydro One in any form, whether it was oral or written.

MS. COOPER:  So we'd have to check to see if something like that is readily available or not available; in other words, if a summary has been prepared or not been prepared?

MR. STEVENS:  I'm asking you, even if one hasn't been prepared, to prepare it now.

MS. COOPER:  We'll take that under advisement.

MR. STEVENS:  Well, the witness has indicated to me that Parks Canada provided comments that Hydro One is working to address those comments.  Surely the comments are therefore known to Hydro One and can be summarized.

MS. COOPER:  I'm going to get further information for you on that, and I will take that under advisement.  I'm not sure what those comments were, if they're verbal or what form they came.

MR. STEVENS:  Right.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That will be Undertaking JT2.7.  Hydro One to provide, under advisement, a summary of what was provided from Parks Canada in response to the communication Hydro One had with Parks Canada regarding the environmental assessment.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.7:  (A) HYDRO ONE TO PROVIDE, UNDER ADVISEMENT, A SUMMARY OF WHAT WAS PROVIDED FROM PARKS CANADA IN RESPONSE TO THE COMMUNICATION HYDRO ONE HAD WITH PARKS CANADA REGARDING THE ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT; (B) HYDRO ONE TO PROVIDE A SUMMARY OF DISCUSSIONS THAT WILL TAKE PLACE IN THE MEETING WITH PARKS CANADA ON MAY 17TH.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And just a second part to that.  Can you please undertake to provide me with a summary of discussions at the May 17th meeting and any documents that are exchanged at that meeting, since we won't have a chance to be together again after that meeting, but that meeting is taking place before the motion next week.

MS. COOPER:  So -- is this on?  It's on.  Okay.  Thank you.  So we'll provide you with an undertaking with respect to documentation, and the same response with respect to discussions unless they are in written form.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  So the second part of Undertaking J2.7 will be for Hydro One to provide also a summary of discussions that will take place in meeting on May 17th with -- meeting with Parks Canada.

MR. STEVENS:  And at tab 7 of your materials you include a draft plan for construction.  Was that -- do I understand correctly that that was submitted to Parks Canada?

MS. CROLL:  Yes, it was.

MR. STEVENS:  And is that the summary of the information that's been provided to them about your construction plans?  Sorry, is that the sum total, rather, of what's been provided to Parks Canada in terms of your construction plans?

MS. CROLL:  So we've outlined on page 4 also of our evidence a summary of the information provided to Parks Canada.  So we've provided Parks Canada with a project overview, that was in October of 2017, an environmental evaluation report in January of 2018, and then the construction execution plan, which was provided in February of 2018.  And all those documents are included in our evidence.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay, and the responses that you received on May 8th, were those in relation to this construction plan?

MS. CROLL:  No.

MR. STEVENS:  Have you received any responses in relation to this construction plan?

MS. CROLL:  We haven't received formal responses.  We have numerous conversations with Parks Canada.  Formal correspondence really comes at milestone events, so I think in the summary you've asked for of our correspondence we could outline any comments that they've made.  I wouldn't have those specifically.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, I'd like to add that to the undertaking, please.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That will be Undertaking J2.8, Hydro One to provide a summary of any comments by Parks Canada regarding Hydro One's construction plans submitted.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.8:  HYDRO ONE TO PROVIDE A SUMMARY OF ANY COMMENTS BY PARKS CANADA REGARDING HYDRO ONE'S CONSTRUCTION PLANs.

MS. COOPER:  Is that the response as per the other with respect to the summaries?

MS. COOPER:  That would be included.

MR. STEVENS:  Now, still on this Parks Canada and Pukaskwa Park issue, I note that in the November 27th, 2017 letter Parks Canada indicates that it's prepared to consider the request in accordance with the licence of occupation, we talked about that, applicable laws and policies, and so that includes, I assume, in part, the environmental assessment?

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  Are there other applicable laws and policies that you understand them to be referring to?

MS. CROLL:  I think it would be -- there would be a number of applicable laws and policies that are in effect in the province of Ontario and federally.

MR. STEVENS:  So are there specific laws and policies that have come to your mind or have been pointed out to you by Parks Canada that are important to observe in your request?

MS. CROLL:  I think Parks Canada is referring to any applicable laws, in effect.  Those would be numerous, and I think their focus is to ensure that we meet the requirements of the Canadian Environmental Assessment Act in completing either a basic or a detailed environmental assessment, which is currently underway.

MR. STEVENS:  I see.  Okay.

And finally, they refer to Hydro One meeting its Indigenous consultation obligations.  I assume you are familiar with the evidence filed by First Nations and Métis groups in this motion?

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  And you'll have noted that the Métis Nation of Ontario and Pic Mobert First Nation and Biigtigong Nishnaabeg have each indicated that their interests are impacts by the proposed routing through Pukaskwa Park?

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  What's the status of Indigenous consultations on your routing through the park?

MS. GOULAIS:  So -- good morning, everybody.

From a -- I won't speak specifically to the EA, because that's Ms. Croll's area of expertise.  In terms of consulting with community specifically in relation to the park, and outside of the park, for that matter, on our proposed route, we are prepared to undertake consultation immediately with communities.

As you have seen in the evidence, there have been letters sent.  There have been some correspondence.  However, we are -- currently haven't had an opportunity to meet with some of those communities.  Particularly the communities you referenced, we did meet with on April 6th, and had initial discussion with them, but we are fully aware and fully prepared to undertake the adequate consultation with those communities in relation to not only the park but the entire project.

MS. CROLL:  I would also add that for studies that have commenced in the park already, we have notified those communities that the studies were commencing, and in fact, one community requested a copy of the Caribou study, which we have provided.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And do you have a timeline estimation as to when you will complete consultation with each of these groups whose interests are affected through Pukaskwa Park?

MS. GOULAIS:  Are you speaking specifically to the Indigenous communities impacted on this project?

MR. STEVENS:  I am.

MS. GOULAIS:  So as I mentioned, we are prepared to begin consultation immediately and have sent correspondence to both the First Nation and Métis communities.

In terms of timelines, we are not only prepared to undertake consultation in advance of, if we are awarded, not only if we are able to proceed and are, in fact, awarded the section 92 and are the proponent to construct this project, we will undertake consultation leading up to construction, as well as after construction and well into our -- sorry, well after in-service, given the importance of maintaining those relationships and working with communities.

The consultation from Hydro One's perspective does not end at in-service date; it would continue on moving forward.  So although, as you had raised earlier when we looked at the consultation schedule, although it says, you know, consultation would end in 2021, it is Hydro One's policy and position that consultation should and would continue going forward.

MR. STEVENS:  Right, okay.  And what's Parks Canada's view as to the stage that consultation much reach before they grant their approval?

MS. CROLL:  Parks Canada has simply indicated to us that we should be consulting with Indigenous communities as we would under any EA process in order to do our impact assessment and throughout our studies.  They haven't suggested any kind of timeline when that should start or finish.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay, and just finally on this question of the route through Pukaskwa Park and your discussions with Parks Canada, the only document that I could see on the record specifically related to obtaining Parks Canada approval is the letter from November 27, 2017.

Is there other correspondence in the record that I've missed that relates specifically to that question?

MS. CROLL:  No, we haven't actually submitted anything to Parks Canada yet that requires their formal approval, so we haven't received any formal correspondence.

The reason we asked for this correspondence was that we wanted to assure ourselves that we wouldn't be in a similar situation to NextBridge where Parks Canada did not allow the route through the park because it was considered a new development.  This letter was key to our proposal, because it demonstrated that there was no opposition to this under Parks Canada Act, with respect to this being a new development. It is permitted under the current licence.

MR. STEVENS:  To be fair, it simply says there is no opposition in principle.  It doesn't say there is no opposition to this project.

MS. CROLL:  Well, there is no opposition in principle given the information to this date.  Obviously Parks Canada couldn't approve this until our detailed assessment was done.

So they are indicating that they will continue to work with us collaboratively on the process, and that they have no reason to oppose the project at this point.

MR. STEVENS:  And is there any other written correspondence that's not on the record, written correspondence with Parks Canada related to the specific approval request?

MS. CROLL:  I would have to look.  It's possible.  I would expect there to be a number of emails, telephone documentation records.  We maintain regular contact with Parks Canada.

Again, you've asked for a summary of relevant correspondence.

MS. COOPER:  Sorry, Ms. Croll.  There are some emails, I don't know if you've noticed, in the evidence that have been exchanged with Parks Canada.

MR. STEVENS:  I know there is a collection of things as to the licence renewal.  I'm differentiating between that and the approval to route through the park.

MS. CROLL:  So I would, though, point out on page 4 of our evidence that we did complete a summary of the key correspondence dates with Parks Canada.  So I would refer you to those summaries of our teleconferences and our in-person meetings.  So those are the key interactions, and obviously there are numerous other minor verbal and written correspondence.

MR. STEVENS:  I don't want to put words in your mouth, but are you suggesting there is no key interactions since February 12, 2018?

MS. CROLL:  Not at all.

MR. STEVENS:  Can you please provide me then with a summary of the subsequent interactions with Parks Canada that relate to your request for permission to route through the park?

MS. CROLL:  I believe that was already an undertaking.  Is that true?

MS. COOPER:  I think your undertaking in this case spoke specifically on the EA portion, although the others were more broad.  I this it was generally all correspondence, as I understood it.

MR. STEVENS:  I'm happy to get all correspondence.  I think I was going through the question with different subjects in mind, but I'd be pleased to receive the totality of your correspondence and dealings with Parks Canada that have anything at all to do with Pukaskwa Park since your Lake Superior link project has been started.

MS. COOPER:  I think we have that covered.  I'd ask the Board Staff if we have that covered by the previous undertakings.

And I will also just mention that as Mr. Warren pointed out, the emails that I referred to earlier actually do contain a commentary with respect to the EA aspects as well.

MS. LEA:  So can I ask which undertaking it was that dealt with the correspondence regarding the park previously?

MS. CRNOJACKI:  I think it was J2.7.

MS. LEA:  JT2.7, all right.  So, that undertaking will now include all correspondence as just described.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And just before I move on from scheduling or the schedule for this project, Mr. Spencer, you were eager at the beginning of our discussion to provide an updated schedule, so I'd like to take you up on that offer.

Can you please provide us with an updated version of the schedule that was set out in your prefiled evidence?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes, we can do that.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That will be undertaking JT2.9, the updated schedule that's provided in the prefiled evidence.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.9:  TO UPDATE EXHIBIT B, TAB 11, SCHEDULE 1, PAGE 1; TO PROVIDE A GANTT PROJECT SCHEDULE OR OTHER DETAILS, AS AVAILABLE

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Is there more?

MR. STEVENS:  It was -- I'm sorry, it's at Exhibit B, tab 11, schedule 1, page 1.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Thank you.

MR. STEVENS:  Just a couple of final questions around the route through Pukaskwa Park.

What is Hydro One's current proposal for the Lake Superior link project?  Is it one route, or two alternative routes?

MS. CROLL:  So currently the notice of commencement that we've provided indicates a reference route, which is paralleling our existing corridor, including through Pukaskwa National Park.  The deviation that is included in the reference route would be a 50-kilometre deviation in the area of Dorion, and that would actually match the current NextBridge route.

In addition to that, we have an alternate route that we are including in our terms of reference, which would be the current route of NextBridge, which is a 131 kilometre bypass by around Pukaskwa National Park.  However, that is not our preferred route, obviously because the environmental impacts in going through Pukaskwa are significantly less than that other route.

MR. STEVENS:  Let's break this down and talk about both your EA application and your leave to construct application.

So in your EA application, I understand that your draft notice of commencement, which is attachment 18 to your evidence, shows two different routes.  Is that right?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.

MR. STEVENS:  One route goes through Pukaskwa Park, and one route does not?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.

MR. STEVENS:  And is it your intention to proceed with the EA seeking approval for each of those alternate routes?

MS. CROLL:  No.

MR. STEVENS:  What is your intention?

MS. CROLL:  Our intent is to seek approval for our preferred route, the reference route.

MR. STEVENS:  So what will be provided to the Ministry in relation to your alternate route?

MS. CROLL:  We would be looking at the relative impacts of that other route and we would be providing a rationale for why a reference route is the preferred.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And within the leave to construct application is it your intention to update and include two alternate routes?

MS. CROLL:  No, our intent is that we would use the reference route through Pukaskwa National Park.

MR. STEVENS:  And what happen if Parks Canada determined that they will not grant you the opportunity to use quad towers on your existing route through the park?

MS. CROLL:  So in the very unlikely case that Parks Canada did not allow us to go through the park, we would know that by, I would expect, late in Q4.  And at that point, we could complete the EA such that we could use the alternate route to go around Pukaskwa.

MR. STEVENS:  Am I right in assuming that would rely almost entirely on the EA materials filed by NextBridge?

MS. CROLL:  Yes, with the exception of the minor changes that are resulting from our route, that again being the footprint area of the corridor being reduced by approximately 50 percent, and the change in tower design.

MR. STEVENS:  When are you anticipating approval from Parks Canada?

MS. CROLL:  We would anticipate approval -- we expect in December, so sometime in Q4, late November or December, because our studies would have been done at that point and we would have submitted our impact assessment and provided time for review by Parks Canada.

MR. STEVENS:  Can you remind me what your evidence says?  I don't remember seeing -- I remember seeing a much earlier date than December, but I might be wrong on that.

MR. SPENCER:  So it's in fact on page 5 of our May 7th evidence.

MS. CROLL:  Late 2018.  I think that's consistent with what I've said.

MR. SPENCER:  Just to elaborate slightly on what Ms. Croll's testimony states, the answers to some of these questions, if not all, are on page 5 of our evidence filed on May 7th.  At the bottom of the second paragraph:
"Approval from Parks Canada is anticipated to be late in 2018."

And later in the page, for those that are interested in the cost dimension of this proceeding, we are in fact articulating the fact that in the unlikely event that we did have to follow the route defined by NextBridge, that that incremental cost would only add an additional $40 million to the Hydro One proposal, still substantially providing savings on the capital expenditures, as well as ongoing maintenance costs.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  So within the LTC proceeding, you are simply proceed -- you are going forward on the basis that you will route through Pukaskwa Park, correct?

MS. CROLL:  Correct.

MR. STEVENS:  How is it that you can achieve LTC approval in October, if you are not going to get Parks Canada approval until December?

MS. CROLL:  Our LTC would be based on that route and we would expect going forward to get Parks Canada approval.

MR. SPENCER:  It is my understanding, although I'm not the expert, it is quite common for leave to construct applications to have conditions associated with follow-on environmental approvals.

MR. STEVENS:  And so you would look on this just as a garden-variety environmental approval?

MS. CROLL:  It is a required environmental approval, and often leave to construct are granted prior to an EA being approved.

MR. STEVENS:  Right.  But I'm not talking about the EA.  I'm talking about sort of the fundamental permission from Parks Canada to let you go through the park --


MS. CROLL:  So --


MR. STEVENS:  -- in a different way than currently --


MS. CROLL:  So their permission is based on completion of an EA in accordance with the Canadian Environmental Assessment Act, so they are one and the same.

MR. STEVENS:  I see, so you will not receive any permission from them until your EA is approved?

MS. CROLL:  That's -- until the EA specifically for Parks Canada is approved, not our individual EA.

MR. STEVENS:  I'm sorry, so this is the Environment Canada EA?

MS. CROLL:  So Environment Canada, under the Canadian Environmental Assessment Act, requires us to do either a basic or a detailed impact assessment for the section of our route which is actually within the park, and that is a separate document from our individual EA and subject to Parks Canada approval.

So we will use the same studies that we're doing for both of those processes.  However, a discrete document will be submitted to Parks Canada.

MR. STEVENS:  I see.  And I believe I asked you this before, and I apologize, but I want to confirm that you did agree, I think, to provide me with your anticipated schedule for that environmental assessment process, that being the one that is required by Parks Canada?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.

MR. STEVENS:  Great.  And is it your position that Hydro One's leave to construct approval will be effective from the time that it's granted, even though you won't have Parks Canada approval at that time?

MS. CROLL:  I don't know what the usual process is, I'm sorry.

MR. SPENCER:  Honestly, we're not sure of the procedural details of the leave to construct's approval process.

MR. STEVENS:  Right.  Okay.

So the final set of questions that I wanted to ask you about, and then perhaps we can take a break after that, and my colleague will have a few questions.  I apologize that we're taking as long as we are, but hopefully it will answer some of the questions others might have been asking.

I provided your counsel with a couple of documents this morning that I hope that you've received.  They both are submissions from EWP -- EWT LP within the EB-2011-0140 designation proceeding.  Do you have those?

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  Mr. Warren, is there any objection to entering these as exhibits?

MR. WARREN:  No.

MR. STEVENS:  Can we please enter these as exhibits, the first one being the two interrogatory responses and the second one being the first portion of EWT LP's argument in-chief?

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Yes.  So KT2.1 is the first exhibit.  These are answers to interrogatory 6 and interrogatory 2 in EB-2011-0140 proceeding.
EXHIBIT NO. KT2.1:  ANSWERS TO INTERROGATORY 6 AND INTERROGATORY 2 IN EB-2011-0140 PROCEEDING.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  And the second one is Exhibit KT2.2.  It is the first portion of EWT LP argument-in-chief, EB-2011-0140, Board file.
EXHIBIT NO. KT2.2:  FIRST PORTION OF EWT LP ARGUMENT-IN-CHIEF, EB-2011-0140

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.

So looking first at Exhibit KT2.1, the interrogatory responses, I just want to confirm that EWT LP was a partnership company created by Hydro One, or at least in the majority by Hydro One, to -- seeking to become designated as the transmitter for the East-West Tie project?

MR. SPENCER:  It was an equal partnership between Hydro One Networks, Great Lakes Power, and Bamkushwada L.P.

MR. STEVENS:  And at that time, Great Lakes Power was associated with Hydro One?  No?

MR. SPENCER:  Not as a matter of normal course of business, only for the EWT LP proceeding.

MR. STEVENS:  Right, but Hydro One was certainly one of the equal partners within EWT?

MR. SPENCER:  That's correct.

MR. STEVENS:  And my understanding is that one of the equal partners was the Bamkushwada Limited Partnership, or BLP; is that right?

MR. SPENCER:  That's correct.

MR. STEVENS:  And the interrogatory responses that I've provided give a little bit of context as to the decision of BLP to be part of this, and I'd like to look first at Interrogatory No. 6.

It indicates that the -- and now I'm in the second paragraph of the answer.  It indicates that:

"The decision of the participating First Nations to do business with each other to form BLP and to become equal partners in EWT LP with companies of their own choice was an act of self-determination.  It has taken almost three years to develop the underlying relationship.  Their decision was based on a desire for participation in development, construction, and operation activities; for equity ownership; and for equal participation in the corporate governance of the transmitter designated to own transmission facilities crossing their own traditional territories.  This is congruent with the participating First Nations each having traditional territories directly impacted by the project."

And it seems to me that that same reasoning would apply now to BLP's partnership with NextBridge; is that a fair comment?

MS. GOULAIS:  Sorry, can you repeat the question?

MR. STEVENS:  Sure, I just read you a section of this answer, and I can reread it --


MS. GOULAIS:  I'm following it.

MR. STEVENS:  -- and I'm just asking for your reaction to my suggestion that these same comments relied -- or relate equally or substantially equally to BLP's current relationship with NextBridge.

MS. GOULAIS:  I'm not going to speak to --


MR. WARREN:  Hang on, witness.

How would they know what BLP is thinking about?  How could they conceivably answer that question, Mr. Stevens?

MR. STEVENS:  Okay, I'll move on.  I know I'm running out of time.

So let's look then at the next interrogatory.  It's Interrogatory No. 2.  And this interrogatory response appears to set out the contractual or other relationship between BLP and EWT LP, and it indicates that:

"The partners of EWT LP have mutually agreed to deal with one another on an exclusive basis with respect to the project before and after the date of designation.  The participating First Nations did so voluntarily and with the advice of independent legal counsel."

I guess my first question here -- and this is for Mr. Warren -- is whether Hydro One is able and willing to provide the exclusivity language from the agreement with BLP.

MR. WARREN:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That will be JT2.10.  Hydro One to provide the details, the exclusivity language of agreements with BLP.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.10:  HYDRO ONE TO PROVIDE THE DETAILS OF THE EXCLUSIVITY LANGUAGE OF AGREEMENTS WITH BLP.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.

And I don't know if anybody on the panel can answer this or not, but my interpretation of this answer is that, had EWT LP been designated as the transmitter, this exclusivity arrangement would have continued; is that fair?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.

So let's move on to KT2.2.  And this is EWT LP's argument-in-chief in the designation proceeding.  If you turn up page 2, the executive summary, and go down to the heading "consultation", it states that:

"EWT LP's development plan is founded on the need to acquire a social licence to develop, construct, and operate the project.  This fundamental tenet runs through every aspect of the development plan.  As has been seen recently elsewhere, projects lacking a valid social licence experience repeated delays, cost overruns, and in many instances have to be abandoned."

Does Hydro One still agree that this statement continues to apply?


MS. GOULAIS:  So from a consultation perspective, Hydro One's position would be that we understand the obligations that are in front of us from a consultation perspective, and we do intend to undertake those.


MR. STEVENS:  Right.  But do you still believe that having a social licence is fundamentally important and that if you don't have a social licence, you risk delays, cost overruns and potential abandonment?


MS. GOULAIS:  From a consultation perspective generally, working with and consulting the Indigenous communities is absolutely critical.  I would agree with that.


MR. STEVENS:  Right, okay.  Next I'd like to turn up page 14 of the argument-in-chief.  I'm in the third paragraph, and it indicates that:

"No other applicant has demonstrated the positive relationships that EWT LP, through its partners, has with Aboriginal communities.  These positive relationships are built on a foundation of trust, which takes time to develop and is essential for meaningful Aboriginal engagement."


And then I'm skipping down a couple of lines:

"BLP's early participation in the project planning process and its active engagement in development work, especially environmental assessment and consultation, will significantly lower the risk of project cost overruns and delays."

That was all within the same paragraph.  I just skipped a couple of sentences.  It is all on page 14.  Are you there?


MS. CROLL:  Sorry, what was the question?


MR. STEVENS:  I haven't had a question.  It looked like you were struggling to find the passage, so I was just waiting for you to catch up.


Now, it's fair to say that EWT -- or Hydro One no longer enjoys this advantage or relationship that it had at the time of designation?


MS. GOULAIS:  Well, you know, thinking back to yesterday, when Chief Collins had explained, you know, in advance of our original submission through the designation process, there was a significant amount of time and effort that had gone into building that relationship.  And unfortunately, we were not successful and NextBridge was.


So, you know, those relationships that were built over that period of time with these communities has continued over the years, not specifically related to any project, but under Hydro One's approach to working with communities respectfully.


Hydro One, as well as its construction partner SNC, does have a long-standing history of working with communities respectfully, and building those relationships across the province and particularly in this part of the province.  And we intend to work with those communities and continue building those relationships and in the respectful way that we have to date.


We understand that -- you know, and we heard the chiefs' testimonies yesterday that of course it's frustrating for them to have had -- to be bounced around in terms of who they are working with, and we fully appreciate that and we are sensitive to those issues and -- again, not only on this project, but in general.


And so again, we do have relationships in this part of the province, and we do intend to continue building those relationships and work collaboratively and respectfully with those communities.


MR. STEVENS:  What do you say to the comment that we heard from the Métis Nation of Ontario today that you are starting from a deficit?  You've poisoned the well?


MS. GOULAIS:  I think what I would say to that comment is what we have been saying on this, particularly from the beginning, is that we have reached out.  We do want to work and consult with all Indigenous communities impacted on this project, including the Métis.


If given the opportunity to meet, we would really appreciate understanding how we can work together going forward.


We understand that the Métis specifically, given that was your question, they do have consultation protocols, and we do intend to respect those protocols and work within those.


We do -- we are in a position where we haven't been given the opportunity to have those discussions, and we really are looking forward to those.  And we do want to act respectfully and work with all Indigenous communities, including the Métis.


MS. CROLL:  Could I add that from an EA perspective, I think there is a misunderstanding when we talk about a declaration order.  This is not an exemption that means we don't have to do our proper studies and consultation.  It is a way to acknowledge that a lot of work has already been done and to expedite a process.


But I think the misunderstanding is that we are going to skip the consultation phase.  We are not doing that.  We are consulting the same way for an individual EA as we are for a declaration order and documenting that.


If we're relying on NextBridge's EA, we are relying on all that consultation that's already been done, and has created and identified impacts and which is to mitigate those, and those are clearly laid out in the EA document.


The MOECC yesterday said itself that all of those inputs, including traditional knowledge from Indigenous groups, have been rolled up and must be rolled up in that EA document.


MR. STEVENS:  So are you suggesting that you can rely on the First Nations and Métis consultation that NextBridge has undertaken?


MS. CROLL:  No, we are conducting our own consultation.  But what I'm saying is all of that information already provided has been included in the public document that's now available.  It doesn't mean that we wouldn't still do our own consultation.


MR. STEVENS:  Right.  Can you please turn to page 25 of the argument?


On page 25 below your chart, it says:

"EWT LP submits that aggressive assumptions about the timeline for completing any of these steps," the steps being the steps in an ES process, "if proven wrong can create cascading delays through each subsequent step."

If we go to the next page, page 26, at the bottom of the first paragraph it says:

"Unlike other applicants, EWT LP has factored into its development schedule assumptions about the EA process consistent with MOE practice guidelines."

Can you please provide me with the schedule for EA approval that was assumed and included in the designation application?


I can give you some help.  It looks to me like there is a 25-month term when I look at Exhibit 7 -- part B, Exhibit 7, page 12.  But there is very little detail.  It is found on a quite a wide-ranging development schedule page.  But I say it's relevant because I want to be able to test the EA schedule that you are now proposing.


MR. WARREN:  We'll take it under advisement.


MS. CRNOJACKI:  JT2.11.  Hydro One under advisement to provide schedule for EA approval assumed in EWT LP's designation application.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.11:  HYDRO ONE, UNDER ADVISEMENT, TO PROVIDE SCHEDULE FOR EA APPROVAL ASSUMED IN EWT LP'S DESIGNATION APPLICATION


MR. STEVENS:  If I can add to that, given that this is under advisement, if you are not prepared to provide the schedule, can you please confirm that the evidence in your designation application indicated a 25-month period from submitting the terms of reference to approval.  And the reference there is part B, Exhibit 7, page 12 of 49.


MR. WARREN:  Where is that evidence reference?  Is that from some --


MR. STEVENS:  That is from the EWT LP designation application in EB-2011-0140.


MR. WARREN:  It's still under advisement.


MR. STEVENS:  You will be pleased to hear this is my last question.


Could you please turn to page 41 of the argument in-chief?  At the top of the page, the first full paragraph, it indicates:

"EWT LP's consultation plan recognizes that meaningful consultation requires giving stakeholders genuine opportunities to shape the design and route of the project.  EWT LP is not taking the 'design first, consult later' approach favoured by some proponents.  Proponents such as AOLP and UCT, that intend to approach stakeholders with a ready-made plan for project development, will likely not be offering meaningful opportunities to receive and integrate public feedback and, as a result, risk encountering delays and cost impacts due to public opposition."

Can you explain to me how your current plan is different from what you are identifying as problematic in this statement?

MS. CROLL:  Yes, so this statement was made at the very start of this project where no work or consultation had been done at that time.

We're all aware that over the last five years there has been significant consultation and study done on both the proposed Hydro One route and the proposed NextBridge route, both under the terms of reference and now by NextBridge in the individual EA.

So for Hydro One to create a new terms of reference is -- we expect to be a fairly straightforward process, because everyone who is already familiar with this project has been heavily consulted and, in fact, an approved terms of reference already exists for this undertaking.

That approved terms of reference, in fact, uses our proposed route as the preferred reference route, so there has already been significant consultation on that.  We would not expect to duplicate all that, but we would expect to create our own terms of reference which makes it clear what our reference route is and what our alternate route is.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, those are my questions, although my colleague will have a few questions after the break.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  So we'll reconvene in 15 minutes, please, which is 11:05 by the clock on the wall, which I'm informed is two minutes slow, so at about 11:07.

Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 10:52 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:08 a.m.


MS. LEA:  Welcome back.  Thank you.  I believe -- is it Mr. Murphy?  Yes, thank you.  You have some questions for the panel.
Questions by Mr. Murphy:


MR. MURPHY:  Good morning.  My name is Brian Murphy, and I'll be asking you questions on behalf of NextBridge.

First I'd like to start with the material that you submitted on May 7th, page 30, the third full paragraph.  In that paragraph, Hydro One states that it has the utmost confidence in its modelling, although it will do full scale testing to perform on the suspension transmission towers.

Do you see that statement?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes, we see it.

MR. MURPHY:  Does this statement apply to the suspension towers in the park, or all the suspension towers proposed for the Lake Superior link project?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  It is for all the structures associated with the Lake Superior link project.

MR. MURPHY:  How many structures are you proposing for the Lake Superior project?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Number of structure types?

MR. MURPHY:  The family of structures, the family of different structures.  You have quad circuit, you have double circuited, you'll have dead-end, so I just want to understand the number that you will be testing.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  There are about seven of them.

MR. MURPHY:  Seven?  Thank you.  Now, let's turn to page 39 and the design for the quad circuit tower.

Can you explain to me how many guides are depicted in this rendition of the tower, or another way of saying it, how many guides are you currently planning to use on the quad circuit tower?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  I'd have to check on that and come back to you with an accurate answer -- hang on a second, sorry.

MR. ISHAC:  It is three guide wires per length; in total there are 12.

MR. MURPHY:  Thank you.  That's what I thought and I just wanted to confirm.

Has Hydro One ever tested a quad circuit transmission tower that uses that number of guides?

MR. ISHAC:  No.

MR. MURPHY:  Has Hydro One considered shortening the spans of the quad circuit transmission towers in the park as a way to help use less guides?

MR. ISHAC:  No.

MR. MURPHY:  Let's turn to page 6, the fifth full paragraph.

In that paragraph, you provide two examples of quad circuit transmission towers, the Longwood circuit and the Burlington circuit.  I'll refer to them separately as Longwood and Burlington; do you see that?

MR. SPENCER:  We do, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  These quad circuit towers are self-supporting towers; in other words they do not use guys, correct?

MR. YOUNG:  That is correct.

MR. MURPHY:  The Longwood example that you provide runs through predominantly farmland; is that correct?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MURPHY:  And it's also near London, Ontario; is that correct?

MR. YOUNG:  That's correct.

MR. MURPHY:  Turning to the Burlington example, that runs along a beach near Hamilton; is that correct?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes.

MR. MURPHY:  So it's fair to say that neither one of these examples are anywhere near located in northwest Ontario?

MR. SPENCER:  And if I might just elaborate slightly? Although these examples cited in point 1 on page 6 of the evidence are not in north-western Ontario, Hydro One has over 50,000 steel structures and approximately a third of our transmission line overhead inventory is within northern Ontario.  So certainly we have a very clear understanding of the topology, the terrain and weather conditions and how those all affect design requirements.

MR. MURPHY:  Just so I can go back to my question, I just want to confirm that those locations are not in northwest Ontario?

MR. SPENCER:  That is correct.

MR. MURPHY:  Thank you.  Even with those examples, is it fair to say that Hydro One does not have a transmission circuit that includes 87 quad circuit transmission towers?

MR. YOUNG:  No, that isn't correct.  We have a number of multi-circuit towers throughout the province.  The other one that wasn't identified here is a quad 230 kV tower line that we have in the eastern part of the GTA, and those are four 230 kV circuits on the same tower that runs for nearly 30 kilometres.

MR. MURPHY:  Why was that not indicated in your submittal?

MR. YOUNG:  We just provided a couple of examples.

MR. SPENCER:  There are a number of examples and as you are driving around highways in the greater Toronto area, you will actually see many squad circuit towers.  I would encourage anyone driving from the Gardiner Expressway way onto the 427, you will see quad circuit towers there.

And as Mr. Young alluded to, some of the most critical corridors we have feeding load within the Toronto area are in fact built on quad circuit towers.

MR. MURPHY:  I'd like to have an undertaking for a full answer on all the examples that you have on quad circuit towers.  You've mentioned quite a few.  I'd like a full inventory, including the length and vintage.

MS. LEA:  And the location, sir?

MR. WARREN:  We'll see how much is involved in getting an answer to that.

MR. MURPHY:  I'm sorry, I did not hear the response.

MS. LEA:  I'm sorry, Mr. Warren, I interrupted you.  I beg your pardon, sir.

MR. WARREN:  I said we'll take it under advisement.  We'll see how much is involved in it.  If there are hundreds of towers in different locations, it may be effectively impractical for us to provide an answer to that.  We'll take under advisement and let you know.

MR. MURPHY:  I can make it easier.  I'm looking for the circuits between one substation and another, and only the length and vintage between those circuits.

As a person who works in this industry, I'm fairly comfortable that you have that list readily available.

MR. WARREN:  Same answer.  I'll take it under advisement and let you know.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  JT2.12, under advisement, Hydro One to provide examples of quad circuit towers between substations.

MR. MURPHY:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.12:  UNDER ADVISEMENT, TO PROVIDE EXAMPLES OF QUAD CIRCUIT TOWERS LOCATED BETWEEN SUBSTATIONS

MR. MURPHY:  I'd like to turn to page 31, the third full paragraph, where it states that Hydro One's towers withstood the 1998 ice storm with minor damages, unlike Hydro-Quebec.

Do you see that statement?


MR. YOUNG:  Yes.

MR. SPENCER:  I do see it, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  Let's turn to page 35, the first full paragraph.  Here Hydro One claims that the 1998 ICE storm shows that Hydro One's design criteria prevents cascading.  Do you see that statement?

MR. ISHAC:  Yes.

MR. MURPHY:  Is it a fair statement that the 1998 ice storm did not impact Hydro One with the same amount of ice accumulation that was experienced by Hydro Quebec?

MR. ISHAC:  Yes.

MR. MURPHY:  Thank you. Is it also fair to state that Hydro One did not have 87 quad circuit towers in northwest Ontario placed on 50-year old foundations that withstand the same icing conditions of Hydro Quebec?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. WARREN:  Sorry.  Actually, before my clients answer the question, I need to understand the question.  Is the question that in the 1998 ice storm, there was no ice on 87 quad towers in north-western Ontario?  Is that the question?

MR. MURPHY:  The question is: Did Hydro One have 87 quad circuit towers built on 50-year-old foundations at that time period.

MR. ISHAC:  The answer is no.

MR. MURPHY:  Thank you.  Now, I would like to move to the critique of Mr. Nickerson's memorandum.  Hydro One, in its critique, discusses that there are two industry practices, modelling and testing, and that Hydro One models but does not test angled and dead-end structures, and it also -- this is on page 30 --


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Murphy, Mr. Murphy, do you have a page reference that you can direct my clients to?

MR. MURPHY:  Yep, page 30.  It is just a general discussion of -- they use modelling sometimes and sometimes testing.

So my question -- and that dead-end towers are modelled, not tested, and that you've had no failures with dead-end; is that a correct reading?

MR. SPENCER:  That is a correct read, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  Thank you.

In the 87 quad circuit transmission towers that you are proposing for your project, there are no dead-end towers, correct?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  That's correct.

MR. MURPHY:  In 2011 Hydro One experienced a failure of a double circuit 230 suspension tower near Wawa on the transmission line that connects Ontario to Manitoba; isn't that correct?

MR. SPENCER:  That is correct.

MR. MURPHY:  How long did it take to restore the tower near Wawa?

MR. SPENCER:  The specifics we don't have at the particular moment, but I would like to articulate a very clear difference between that tower and the ones that are proposed through the Lake Superior link.  Those towers were designed in accordance with the standards at the time, which were to withstand a one-in-50-year storm event, and of course, as Hydro One and SNC-Lavalin have proposed as part of the Lake Superior link, we'll be designing far more stringent criteria of a one-in-100-year storm event.

MR. MURPHY:  And I do understand that, so thank you, but I would also like to understand the amount of time it took to restore the tower; could I get that through an undertaking?

MR. SPENCER:  We could provide that through an undertaking.  Yes.

MR. MURPHY:  Was there any loss of load during -- I'm sorry, yeah, the number.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  JT2.13, Hydro One to provide time that it took to restore the tower in 2011 on the transmission line from Ontario to Manitoba.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.13:  HYDRO ONE TO PROVIDE THE TIME THAT IT TOOK TO RESTORE THE TOWER NEAR WAWA IN 2011 STORM ON THE TRANSMISSION LINE FROM ONTARIO TO MANITOBA.

MR. MURPHY:  I'll move on to -- the next question is, my understanding you had two transmission failures in March of this year; is that correct?

MR. SPENCER:  Let us consult for one second, please.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. WARREN:  While they are conferring, Mr. Murphy, do you have dates, times, locations so that we are not looking for a needle in a haystack?

MR. MURPHY:  I actually have pretty dramatic newspaper articles that I could hand out if you want me too, but I'm also --


MR. WARREN:  I just want dates and times, Mr. Murphy.  You can keep the drama to yourself, if you wouldn't mind.

MR. MURPHY:  It was March of 2018.

MR. SPENCER:  So Mr. Young and I are consulting.  We are familiar with one event on the K2Z circuit in the Belle River area.  We are at a bit of a loss for the second event, in all honesty.

MR. MURPHY:  What I'd like to ask as an undertaking is for each of Ontario's Hydro's transmission failures over the past ten years -- and I'll read this slowly so, one, you can hear it, and two, that I have it in writing if the court reporter needs it -- for each Ontario Hydro transmission tower failure over the past ten years, provide the following information:  The days of the outage of the transmission circuit, whether there was a loss of load.  If yes, the duration of the loss of load, was the -- was the tower modelled prior to construction?  Was the tower tested prior to construction?  Was it designed to withstand a one-in-50-year storm or a one-in-100-year storm?  Was a root-cause analysis conducted?  If no, why not?  If yes, provide a copy of the root-cause analysis.  Were there remedial measures or procedures implemented?  If not, why not?  If yes, provide a copy.

MR. WARREN:  The answer to the request for an undertaking is no.

MR. MURPHY:  Can I have a basis for the refusal?

MR. WARREN:  No.

MR. MURPHY:  I will just say it is pretty standard information that most utilities have at hand.  I will move on.

MR. SPENCER:  If I might just add a few things here, because my understanding of this technical conference is to share information that may ultimately be helpful to OEB staff and the Board members themselves in arriving at a decision on the motion itself, so with that in mind I'd like to speak briefly just to the underlying issue I believe you are getting to, which is our restoration capabilities in the event of an extreme weather event.

MR. MURPHY:  I'm trying to do it in a database manner, not in an anecdotal matter, so I actually would rather move on to my other questions, and if you are not willing to provide the detail, I don't see how anecdotal helps either party.

MR. SPENCER:  I think, honestly, it would be helpful.  We've certainly taken into account the importance of the proposed Lake Superior link circuitry on the northwestern power system and the other parts of the power system within Ontario, and we have developed response plans in the event of forced outages in that area, which would include location of crews in proximity, which I might add we already have, including necessary equipment, sourcing of materials for both temporary and permanent repairs that would minimize power system disruption in the event of a forced outage on those circuits.  Thank you.

MR. MURPHY:  Now let's turn to NextBridge April 30th submittal, if the person -- it is attachment A, Appendix 5, page 2 of 4, the last line of the second full paragraph.  This is a letter from Andrew Spencer, vice-president, transmission and substations for Hydro One.

MR. SPENCER:  Yes, we have it turned up.

MR. MURPHY:  The last sentence says:
"In fact, in the over 40 years of current East-West Tie's life span there has only been one tower-down situation, which took place during the -- 2009 ice storm, the weather phenomenon that would have most likely had the same effect on any equipment in the region."

Do you see that statement?

MR. SPENCER:  Around the middle of page 2, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  Is it Hydro One's position that if the existing East-West Tie were to experience, again, a 2009-type ice storm, that again it would experience similar damage?

MR. SPENCER:  Not necessarily.

MR. MURPHY:  And is there a basis for that?  It seems like an apples-to-apples statement.

MR. SPENCER:  As I'm sure you are aware, there are a number of factors which would impact the outcome, and just a storm in and of itself does not necessarily result in a structural failure of a tower.

MR. MURPHY:  But it's correct to say you are not upgrading the existing East-West Tie to a one-in-100 standard?

MR. SPENCER:  That statement is correct, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  Thank you.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  But I would add, sorry, that the 97 structures of quad circuit through the Pukaskwa National Park --


[Reporter appeals.]


MR. KARUNAKARAN:  -- but I would add that the 87 structures, the quad circuit towers through the Pukaskwa National Park are currently being upgraded to the one-in-100-year storm event.

MR. MURPHY:  I heard two different answers, and I don't know who controls in your corporation, so I'm happy to have him correct you, if that's the case.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  For clarity, you were asking whether the existing east-west tie which runs for 400 route kilometres was going to be upgraded.

The short answer to that is not no its entirety.  However, with the Lake Superior link plan, we are building a two-circuit line that is adjacent to the existing east-west tie line, but there is a replacement portion through the Pukaskwa National Park, and those structures through the Pukaskwa National Park will be upgraded to the one-in-100-year storm event.

MR. SPENCER:  Mr. Karunakaran's clarification is in fact...

MR. MURPHY:  I understand that and I appreciate that clarification, thank you.

Let's turn to page 42, back to your May 7th submittal, and this is on page 42, the last paragraph.

There, Hydro One indicates that it does not dispute the ultimate capacity need for the project, but asserts that the capacity shortfalls identified in the December 2017 updated IESO needs assessment can be managed until 2021.  Do you see that statement?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes, I do.

MR. MURPHY:  It is a correct statement, is it not, that Hydro Ones to not own any generation?

MR. YOUNG:  That is correct.

MR. MURPHY:  Hydro One is also not a NERC balancing authority that can balance load in generation.  That's under the authority of the IESO, correct?

MR. YOUNG:  That is correct.

MR. MURPHY:  Hydro One is not the system operator.  The IESO is the system operator, is that correct?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes, the IESO is the system operator, as well as the planning coordinator for Ontario.

MR. MURPHY:  And a resource -- the resource planner as well?

MR. YOUNG:  That is correct.

MR. MURPHY:  The IESO has control over ties with Minnesota and Manitoba, correct?

MR. YOUNG:  They have operational supervision of the tie lines with Manitoba and Minnesota.

MR. MURPHY:  As a reliability coordinator?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes, and as a system operator.

MR. MURPHY:  Thank you.  Is it a fair statement, given the above, that it's the IESO, not Hydro One, who would be the entity to determine that the movement of the in-service date to December of 2021 or 2022 is manageable?

MR. YOUNG:  It is up to the IESO to continually assess the risk of the capacity shortfall.  But based on the study results of the IESO and previous studies, especially the study provided in May of 2014, which we've included in this response, and if I could take you over to -- if I can take you to page 20 and figure 6 of the additional evidence.

You can see in that in that graph, the capacity requirement -- or as we call it, the capacity shortfall --in the years 2019 to 2020 indicates capacity shortfalls at levels higher than the capacity shortfall currently identified for 2021.

In that instance, in figure 6 in the study for that figure was -- where the study was done and the figure produced, the IESO indicated that those capacity shortfall levels were manageable.

So in this case, the most recent study, the capacity shortfall of an incremental 10 megawatts between 2020 and 2021, from our review of what the IESO has provided, looks to be quite manageable.

MR. MURPHY:  And I do understand that's your opinion.  My question is: That is a determination of the IESO, correct, whether it's manageable or not?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes, and the IESO has indicated that it's manageable at levels of 300 megawatts.

MR. MURPHY:  Its latest 2017 study recommended an in-service date of 2020, isn't that correct?

MR. YOUNG:  That's correct.

MR. MURPHY:  That assessment was not studying whether they could manage through a year or two of additional risk, isn't that correct?

MR. YOUNG:  Well, that assessment I don't believe precludes the possibility of delays into 2021.  As part of their statement in the recommendation, there was a note and caveat indicating that this was subject to potential approvals delays, with a recognition that should there be approval delays, then the in-service dates may delay out into 2021.

The report did not identify any significant concerns with that.  I would expect if 2020 was a hard date, and that there was some serious significant system impacts, IESO would have indicated that.

MR. MURPHY:  Now, I'd like to move to page 46, the bottom half of the page, and the top of page 47, where it discusses the Northeast Power Co-ordinating Council directory number 1.

Are you all there?

MR. SPENCER:  We're at the page reference, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  Now, Hydro One submitted a request and supporting documentation for exclusion of the 87 quad circuit towers to MPC's task force on system studies pursuant to appendix E of directory number 1?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes.  There has been -- to answer this question properly, I believe I need to take the audience perhaps through what is exactly stated in the standard and what is exactly required.

I know yesterday Mr. Rubenstein asked for a copy of it, and I think that has been filed.  And I'd like to go through the relevant sections of that NPCC directory 1, so people can be clear on exactly what is meant by that exclusion. There has been significant confusion around it.

Before going into that, just generally for the -- as a sort of a synopsis of it is that fundamentally, there is no restriction for multi-circuit lines.  All that that standard says is that should your multi-circuit line involve more than five towers, right, then you can't be excluded from the -- what the planning -- the performance requirements.

If you your line is less than five towers, then you can be excluded.  There is no statement, whether direct or implied, that multi-circuit tower lines are not allowed.

So if I may -- could you pull up the directory one.

MR. MURPHY:  I don't disagree with that statement.  So I would be willing to stipulate to that.

MR. WARREN:  Mr. Murphy, if you could just let the witness answer the question, please.

MR. MURPHY:  I'm giving him the opportunity to see that we are an the same page.

MR. YOUNG:  Okay.  So this is quite a hefty document.  I'm not going to go through all of it, because it has portion are of it for resource planning, transmission planning, and operations planning.

MR. WARREN:  I apologize for interrupting, Mr. Young.  Might this be given an exhibit number, please?

MS. CRNOJACKI:  It will be Exhibit KT2.3.  Do we have a copy of that?  I mean a hard copy?

MR. WARREN:  We'll undertake to provide you with a copy.

MR. SPENCER:  To clarify, I believe it was filed as an undertaking this morning by NextBridge further to a request yesterday.

MR. YOUNG:  I'm not sure that entire thing was filed.  There might be sufficient portions of it that cover what I'm going to be speaking to.

MR. WARREN:  What we'll do is over the lunch break we will make additional copies of the entire document.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  This is May 17th dated document.  Am I correct?

MS. LEA:  So we have copies of a document dated May the 17th, but it is an undertaking response.  Is that what you are referring to?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  So we have Exhibit JT1.13 and 1.14.  Is that the undertaking response you wish to refer to now?

MR. WARREN:  This is not the same.

MS. LEA:  Not the same document?

MR. WARREN:  Not the same document.

MS. LEA:  Right.  The one that Lauren is presently passing out, can you indicate, is that the document you wish to refer to?

MR. YOUNG:  It is the same document.

MS. LEA:  Same document.

MR. YOUNG:  But we've got -- we've just numbered it in a way that's much easier to follow.

MS. LEA:  Oh.

MR. YOUNG:  And we have sections highlighted, so it's -- there are a lot of words in this document.  It is quite, quite hefty.

MS. LEA:  That's fine.  So Mr. Warren, it appears we have copies of the document your witness is about to refer to you but in a slightly different format; is that my understanding?  Is my understanding correct?

MR. WARREN:  I have to defer to my witness.

MR. YOUNG:  Yes, it is the exact same document --


MS. LEA:  Okay.

MR. YOUNG:  -- except that there has been some highlights placed on certain portions of the document.

MS. LEA:  All righty.  Thank you.

MR. YOUNG:  If we could go to page 7, under the transmission planning.  Unfortunately, the highlighted sections are not easy to see, but I'll just walk everyone through it.

Under R7 of the transmission planning, it makes a distinction that each transmission planning, planner, and planning coordinator, which in Ontario is the IESO, "shall plan its bulk power system" essentially to the requirements specified in Table 1.

Table 1 is essentially a long list of the contingencies that must be tested to demonstrate system performance.  And I'll be going there in a moment.

In R8 it says that "each transmission planner and planning coordinator shall assess" -- now, this is really key -- "the impact of extreme contingencies listed in Table 2".

So there is a key distinction between the contingencies that need to be assessed from a required performance perspective versus the extreme contingencies that need to just be assessed, but not necessarily be designed for.

So if you could go to the first Table 1.  The heading of that table talks to the planning design criteria and the contingencies identified in this table -- "the system must meet these performance requirements", and when it comes to multi-circuit tower lines, the key contingency is the item number 6, where we've provided some asterisks to it.

Can you go to page 75?  What the contingency 6 says that if you have a multi-circuit tower line then your system needs to be designed for the simultaneous loss of any two adjacent transmission circuits on this multi-circuit tower.

And this is just a simple illustration of a quad four-circuit tower.  And just conceptually labelled the four circuits A, B, C, D.

The NPCC requirement for multi-circuit tower lines only requires the system to be designed to withstand the loss of circuits A, B -- A and B or A and C or B and D or C and D.  It does not require the system to be designed to withstand the loss of four of them or three of them or even the combination of A and D or B and C.

Now, if you can go back to page 13 of -- there is essentially a footnote here, footnote item 7.  And this is the footnote that talks to the five-circuit exclusion.  And what this says is that in situations where you have a multi-circuit line and that multi-circuit line is five towers or less, you don't need, as a transmission system, you do not need to design your system to be able to withstand the loss of these double circuits, the combinations that I went through, simply because it is a recognition that the circuits are very short and the likelihood of losing two circuits simultaneously is very low.

It doesn't -- this footnote does not preclude multi-circuit towers at all and, in fact, even provides an opportunity for -- for transmitters and power system entities to come forward to NPCC to ask for an exclusion where the line involves more than five towers.  But those are very special situations that are case by case that requires NPCC approval.

Hydro One is not seeking any kind of approval.  Hydro One is simply designing a four-circuit tower line that fully meets and complies with the NPCC performance requirements.

Can you go to Table 2, please.  This is the section which deals with the consideration of multi-circuit loss beyond the loss of two circuits.  And these are deemed to be extreme contingency events.  And again, there is a very fine -- very fine distinction, even in the title, that this is not design criteria and that these are not performance requirements.  These are just performance assessments.

And if you look at the -- where I have it asterisked under "extreme contingency", when the IESO as part of its regular review of all the facilities in the tower system, they have to do extreme contingency assessment, and the extreme contingencies that they have to assess are all identified in this list.

So this includes not only the loss of four circuits on a single tower, but it also includes all of the circuits that are in a common right-of-way.

So in the case of this project, the Lake Superior link, the extreme contingency that needs to be tested for is not just the four circuits on the quad tower, but also the four circuits that are on two separate tower lines which are adjacent to each other.

The extreme contingency testing goes beyond that and says it has to even look at loss of all the circuits emanating from a station which is even more severe than just the four-circuit loss.

The extreme contingency assessment is a review to determine the -- and to identify impacts which might be unacceptable.  And the intent of that assessment is to say that if something were extremely impactive, then the IESO would look at potential mitigation measures.  But the consideration of those potential mitigation measures is always in the context of what is the level of impact, and what is the economic feasibility associated with it.

Otherwise, if we were to design the system to withstand extreme contingencies, the cost of transmission facilities in all Ontario would easily double or more.  It's essentially that you'd have to duplicate all these major stations and many, many lines and corridors.

So the economic feasibility component of it plays a significant role in the assessment of what mitigation measures is potentially possible when it comes to extreme contingency assessments.

And then I'd just like to just go to the last item in this document, and this is Pasquale on page 28.  Under the introduction section, I would just like to read out this portion of it, that the intent of assessing extreme contingency is not to assess the individual extreme contingency on its own.

It is really to assess a collection of extreme contingencies to determine if there is overall weakness in the system.

And then the part that I wanted to quote here is that:
"This procedure applies to transmission planning studies that consider the overall performance of the inter-connected system of the NPCC planning coordinator areas.  It principally applies to NPCC-wide studies of the bulk power system, and generally does not apply to studies normally conducted by NPCC transmission planner and planning coordinators that concentrate on an individual or a limited number of facilities."

Then in section 3, just to reinforce that, the second -- the bottom of the first paragraph:
"It is not the intent to test the worst imaginable extreme contingency, but EC tests should be severe."

And then if you go to page 3, in the second paragraph, I'd just like to note that it says here:
"The loss of portions of the system should not necessarily be considered a failed result, provided that these losses do not jeopardize the integrity of the overall bulk power system."

Again, the intent of the extreme contingency testing is to say when I review this collection of possible extreme contingency, how does this affect the broader interconnected power system.

And again, that's reinforced again in section 5, the first paragraph.
"EC test reports should focus on those portions of the system in which the basic system weaknesses may be developing, rather than on the results of one specific contingency."

I know that was a fair bit to go through, but I just want to ensure that there was appropriate context when we're talking about what are extreme contingencies and what are contingencies that both the transmission entity as well as the IESO needs to design the system to perform against.

MR. MURPHY:  I'd like to go back to my original question, just to confirm from what I'm hearing, that Hydro One does not intend to seek an exclusion under appendix E of directory number 1.

MR. YOUNG:  That is correct, there is no exclusion to seek.

MR. MURPHY:  Thank you.  Those are all my questions.

MS. LEA:  Thank you very much.

MS. LEA:  So we have Batchewana First Nation listed as the next questioner.  Is counsel for that party here, or on the phone?

MR. HENDERSON:  Yes, I am.  It's Bill Henderson on the phone.

MS. LEA:  Mr. Henderson, I apologize.  I got a little bit mixed up as to who was who.  So Mr. Henderson, do you have some questions for these witnesses?

MR. HENDERSON:  Yes, I do.

MS. LEA:  Thank you, please go ahead.

MR. HENDERSON:  Before starting into my questioning, I would like to make a small correction to the record from yesterday.

Chief Sayers was asked whether or not there are any agreements between Batchewana First Nation and NextBridge.  And with my assistance, we responded that there are none.

We went back and double-checked that last night, and I can confirm, and put on the record now, that there is a capacity funding agreement that is in existence between Batchewana First Nation and NextBridge.  And I can disclose that it is otherwise confidential, so I'm confirming its existence and definitely not suggesting that it is available for inspection or sharing.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Please proceed with your questions.
Questions by Mr. Henderson:


MR. HENDERSON:  Thank you.  We're starting, I think on all fronts, with Hydro One's assumption that at some point there would be a responsibility to engage and consult with the Indigenous groups affected by the Lake Superior link.  Is that correct?

MS. GOULAIS:  That's correct.

MR. HENDERSON:  When did Hydro One become aware of the list of groups that were to be consulted with?

MS. GOULAIS:  Mr. Henderson, can I just ask if the chief is on the phone?  Is Chief Sayers on the phone?

MR. HENDERSON:  No, he's not, to my knowledge.

MS. GOULAIS:  So the question was: When did we receive a delegation of consultation?

MR. HENDERSON:  Yes.

MS. GOULAIS:  The answer is March 2nd, from the Ministry of Energy.

MR. HENDERSON:  March 2nd of this year?

MS. GOULAIS:  Correct.

MR. HENDERSON:  Okay.  Now, earlier this morning, I sent two PDFs of correspondence.  Did you receive those?

MS. LEA:  They were sent to the group, definitely, and then I forwarded them to Aaron and to Mr. Warren myself from my own email.

The tradition, Mr. Henderson, here is that we need 24 hours before items are put before a panel, so that they can have the opportunity to look at them before they're asked questions about them.

Can you describe what those documents are, please?

MR. HENDERSON:  Yes.  The first package that was sent consists of correspondence that was referred to yesterday, with the exception of a March 2nd letter to Chief Sayers.

MS. LEA:  Is that correspondence between Hydro One and your client?

MR. HENDERSON:  It is.

MS. LEA:  We may be able to access that. And the second set, sir?

MR. HENDERSON:  The second one is the notice of the EA certification on the marathon transformer station, and it is dated March the 5th.

MS. LEA:  Certification granted to Hydro One?

MR. HENDERSON:  Notice of completion of a draft environmental study report.

MS. LEA:  If you could give us a minute, please?

MR. HENDERSON:  Yes, of course.

MS. LEA:  Mr. Warren, are you able to help us as to whether your witnesses can answer questions related to these documents?  They may not have them in front of them, but maybe the questions are sufficiently general that they can answer.

MR. HENDERSON:  They are a little more specific than that.

MR. WARREN:  Sorry, Ms. Lea, I am checking my email at 9:45 from you, which means that I haven't seen my clients and my clients haven't seen the documents, and I think it would be helpful if they actually had the documents in front of them.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  Mr. Henderson, would it be possible to allow us the lunch break to make sure that the witnesses have the documents in front of them?  Would you be willing to suspend your questions then until after the lunch break?

MR. HENDERSON:  Oh, yes, certainly.  I don't want to be unfair in any way to the witnesses.

MS. LEA:  All right.  So what we'll do then is we'll arrange for printing or some other way for the witnesses to look at the documents, and if you don't mind standing down, then we'll do that, and we will call on you again after the lunch break.

MR. HENDERSON:  That's absolutely fine.

MS. LEA:  Thank you very much.

Ms. Kempton, do you wish to proceed with your questions at this time?
Questions by Ms. Kempton:

MS. KEMPTON:  Good morning.  Can you hear me okay?

All right.  Hydro One is aware that Biigtigong Nishnaabeg First Nation and Pic Mobert First Nation have asserted title claims to an area that includes Pukaskwa National Park, correct?

MS. GOULAIS:  Correct.

MS. KEMPTON:  And I take it you're also aware from the evidence in those two Chiefs' affidavits that they are -- both of those First Nations are taking the position that any new development, including a Lake Superior link through the park, would require those First Nations' consent, correct?

MS. GOULAIS:  Correct, that's what the evidence says.

MS. KEMPTON:  You have indicated today that you expect approval from Parks Canada for that line through the park by November or December 2018.

Does Hydro One take the position, or does it agree with the two First Nations, that it will need their approval as well to put the line through the park?

MS. GOULAIS:  So Hydro One's position is that we are
-- understand and are fully prepared to consult with both these communities and understand what those impacts are.

MS. KEMPTON:  That doesn't answer my question.  Are you going to internally -- it is not a legal question about what Canadian law requires, it is a question about what your company is requiring for itself.

Will you require for yourselves to get those two First Nations' consent to put the line through the park?

MS. GOULAIS:  So again, if I can answer the question, the work that we need to do from a consultation perspective, particularly on the EA, given this is a new portion of the line that's currently being contemplated by NextBridge, we are fully prepared and understand that we need to consult with these communities and have -- and are confident we can do that within the timelines that we've identified.

MS. KEMPTON:  I will note that still does not answer my question.  Does HONI not have a position on this or are you refusing to answer my question?

MS. GOULAIS:  In terms of whether or not we require consent from the First Nations?

MS. KEMPTON:  Whether it is your company's position that you will require and obtain that consent from those two First Nations before building a portion of the line through the park?

MS. GOULAIS:  Again, our position is that we will consult with the communities and undertake that consultation and accommodation as required.

MS. KEMPTON:  I will note that that is a refusal to answer.  It does not answer my question.

Was there any consultation with or accommodation of any of the Bamkushwada First Nations when Hydro One or it's probably Ontario Hydro first built the line in the park?

MS. GOULAIS:  I don't know.

MS. KEMPTON:  Was there any archaeological assessment when HONI first built the line through the park?

MS. CROLL:  We wouldn't know that.

MS. KEMPTON:  Could you undertake to find that out and report back?

Was there any traditional land-use occupancy --


MS. CROLL:  Sorry, we --


MS. KEMPTON:  Sorry, oh, yes --


MS. CROLL:  -- on that undertaking --


MS. KEMPTON:  I --


MS. CROLL:  -- the line was constructed in the late 1960s.

MR. WARREN:  We'll undertake to see what information is available and let you know.

MS. KEMPTON:  Thank you.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That will be JT2.14.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.14:  TO ADVISE WHETHER THERE WAS ANY CONSULTATION WITH OR ACCOMMODATION OF ANY OF THE BAMKUSHWADA FIRST NATIONS WHEN ONTARIO HYDRO FIRST BUILT THE LINE THROUGH THE PARK; TO ADVISE WHETHER THERE WAS ANY ARCHAEOLOGICAL ASSESSMENT WHEN ONTARIO HYDRO FIRST BUILT THE LINE THROUGH THE PARK.

MS. KEMPTON:  Is Hydro One aware of any traditional land use and occupancy study in respect of any of the Bamkushwada First Nations for the area of the park affected by the line currently?  Have any of those studies been done?

MS. GOULAIS:  We wouldn't have conducted those studies as of yet, and I'm not aware of any that currently exist, and my understanding is that those traditional land-use studies are confidential.

MS. CROLL:  It's like we would expect that NextBridge has done those, but again, we wouldn't be using that information specifically in our own EA process.  We would be conducting our own consultation.

MS. KEMPTON:  Right.  NextBridge would not have conducted a traditional land-use study with the First Nations through the park, though, because their line does not go through the park; is that not correct?

MS. CROLL:  I couldn't say what they did as part of the terms of reference.  Keeping in mind that their original reference route was through the park, I'm not entirely certain of to what extent study was done.

MS. KEMPTON:  Are you aware of how long the traditional land-use and occupancy studies that were done in respect of the NextBridge line took?

MS. CROLL:  I'm not aware of how long their studies took.

MS. KEMPTON:  Are you aware of how long those studies, let's say typically take for an area the size of the area of impact in the park?

MS. CROLL:  I couldn't say.  I think there are a number of factors for each project that are unique.  I couldn't really say what's typical.  It depends on the community consulted, the nature of the area, and the type of undertaking.

MS. KEMPTON:  Are you aware of the best practices for conducting a traditional land-use and occupancy study?

MS. CROLL:  I personally am not.

MS. KEMPTON:  Have you heard of the term -- methodological term for traditional land-use and occupancy studies of the living proof standards?

MS. CROLL:  I personally am not.

MS. KEMPTON:  If I were to put to you that these studies done in accordance with best practices typically take many months, if not years, would that then surprise you?

MS. CROLL:  I have no position on that.

MS. KEMPTON:  In evidence as an exhibit, I believe it's Exhibit B to Chief Duncan Michano's affidavit, he's writing to Parks Canada indicating that studies that are underway or have been completed on caribou were done without the First Nations' knowledge, involvement, or consent and that he's quite loudly complaining about that fact.

Were these studies done at HONI's behest?

MS. CROLL:  Sorry, could you repeat the question?

MS. KEMPTON:  Were the caribou studies for the park that were completed or undertaken in approximately February or March this year undertaken at HONI's behest?

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MS. KEMPTON:  Does Hydro One have any plans to involve Biigtigong Nishnaabeg or Pic Mobert in the design of any future studies for the park?

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MS. KEMPTON:  Why did Hydro One undertake a caribou study without the involvement of Biigtigong Nishnaabeg or Pic Mobert First Nations?

MS. CROLL:  The communities were notified of the studies.  Those studies in particular need to be completed under winter conditions when snow is still on the ground.  Those studies were completed in early March.  Between March 6 and 8th the fieldwork was completed in order to take advantage of snow cover.  We did notify those communities, but unfortunately the timing of our duty to consult designation didn't allow us to fully engage and plan those studies.  However, we will be getting input on to those studies and any additional information that's available from those communities.

MS. KEMPTON:  When did you notify those two First Nations of the study?

MS. CROLL:  I'm not aware of the exact date.

MS. KEMPTON:  If I put to you that it was mere days or weeks prior to the commencement of them, would you concur with that?

MS. CROLL:  That's certainly possible.


MS. KEMPTON:  I'm wondering -- that leads me to a larger thought.  Is Hydro One essentially taking the position on consultation, and the timing of consultation and accommodation in regard to your Lake Superior link, that since you've left only a few months before you expect leave to construct to be granted, that you are expecting the Bamkushwada First Nations to, if you will, treat these consultations as urgent, prioritize them, drop other things and participate in the schedule that you set?


MS. CROLL:  No.  I would say that to some extent, our schedule has been imposed by our ability to start the project.  As we've mentioned, we haven't been able to start the project earlier than the project planning which occurred last fall.  We don't expect anyone to rush to meet our schedule, but we hope that the communities will keep an open mind to the benefits of the project and the reduced environmental impact.


Specifically, we understand the concerns about the land uses and traditional uses, and our project has significantly less environmental impacts, including a much smaller footprint through the proposed route; it is actually a quarter of the footprint of the other proposal.


So we hope to have that opportunity to consult and to share what we feel are the benefits to that.


MS. KEMPTON:  How would you know if your project has a, quote, "much lower impact" in the part through the park, when that has not been studied or assessed yet in regard to impacts on First Nations and their use of and value of that land?  How would you know that?


MS. CROLL:  So we certainly can't presuppose the position of Indigenous communities.  What we do know in general during environmental assessments is that a shorter route and smaller footprint of a project generally results in less impact.


And keep in mind that our area through the park, we are not proposing any widening or cutting of the corridor.  We are actually using the existing footprint.  So that's much different from 131-kilometre bypass around the park, which is cutting a new corridor which is much wider even than we would have to cut, should we follow the same route.


MS. KEMPTON:  You, as of today, have no particular knowledge of whether there have been archaeological impacts, or whether there was an assessment?


MS. CROLL:  We will be doing archaeological studies as part of our work through the park.


MS. KEMPTON:  You have no knowledge today of whether there have been any land use and occupancy studies, or impacts on occupation and uses of the First Nations already from your line, based on what you've said already today.  Is that correct?


MS. CROLL:  Could you repeat the question?


MS. KEMPTON:  Your current line that is there, you have no knowledge of whether there's been identified studies undertaken that identify impacts on First Nations already, traditional land use and occupancy studies?


MS. CROLL:  I personally don't.


MS. KEMPTON:  You've been informed that both of these First Nations have title claims.  Are you -- you were told -- we were all told, I guess, by the evidence yesterday that these are ongoing, actively being pursued claims.


Is Hydro One prepared to -- is Hydro One accepting of the fact that those title claims may cause consultation on the park, which is a key part of what's being claimed for title, to be put on hold for some period of time, while issues around the title claims resolve themselves?


MS. GOULAIS:  I wouldn't be comfortable commenting an the land claim process that either of those communities are currently going through.  But we do appreciate that there could be some time constraints as a result of those negotiations with the federal and provincial governments. .


MS. KEMPTON:  Time delays; you've heard of time delays being caused by ongoing title claim litigation before on projects like this, have you not?


MS. GOULAIS:  That's correct, yes.


MS. KEMPTON:  Is Hydro One aware that consultation and accommodation, that duty, is supposed to be completed prior to the approval of the project being issued?


MS. CROLL:  Are you referring to the EA approval?


MS. KEMPTON:  The leave to construct approval.


MS. GOULAIS:  The consultation, as well as the accommodation piece, we -- there are examples of other projects, particularly that Hydro One has undertaken, where the consultation continues as well as the accommodation throughout, once approvals have been received.


We do have examples of projects where that particularly accommodation measures have continued on after project approval, and well into construction and post construction.


MS. KEMPTON:  How can a First Nations' concerns about the design and location of a project be addressed through accommodation measures, if you're consulting after construction starts and after the approval to construct is issued?


MS. CROLL:  I think what we're saying is you are correct with respect to the design and location.  That needs to be done obviously before construction starts. But there are many other forms of accommodation, economic agreements, employment opportunities.  Those can and do continue past the EA stage, well through construction and overt into operating and maintenance.


MS. GOULAIS:  Sorry, just to add to Ms. Croll's answer, you know, from a consultation perspective, as I've mentioned before, we have made several attempts to reach communities, to have -- to begin the consultation process.


If we were to begin that consultation process today, you know, that leaves us about 14 months before construction.


So the consultation is not something that we anticipate, or that we would think would take a couple of months.  We have a year to 14 months to undertake that consultation.  And as Ms. Croll mentioned, the accommodation piece, the discussion around those accommodation measures could also begin now and also continue on well into the pre and post construction phase.


What we are faced with here are exclusivity agreements that the Bamkushwada First Nations particularly mentioned yesterday they have with NextBridge which are preventing us from having those discussions, and that's the situation that we're in.


MS. KEMPTON:  So is it Hydro One's position that a group of First Nations like Bamkushwada should essentially be willing and able to compete with itself in regard to a process like this?


MS. GOULAIS:  I don't know what -- as we heard yesterday -- and we're unsure if we'll be able to see them -- I don't know what those exclusivity agreements say.  So I can't comment on whether or not -- what the First Nations, particularly the Bamkushwada First Nations, would be -- what they would be doing if they do undertake any sort of discussions with Hydro One from an accommodations perspective.


MS. KEMPTON:  Again, that is not an answer to my question, and I had indicated yesterday -- and in correspondence several times to Hydro One, which is on the record here -- that we are precluded from negotiating economic accommodations/participation with the equity portion business contracting.  That was set out in a letter from Bamkushwada a couple of months ago.


So, the equity portion is ownership, is it not?


MS. GOULAIS:  Correct.


MS. KEMPTON:  And you are aware that we hold 20 percent in the NextBridge line, correct?  That's public.


MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.


MS. KEMPTON:  Right.  And your evidence is that your company is prepared to offer 34 percent to Bamkushwada, correct?


MS. GOULAIS:  That's correct.


MS. KEMPTON:  So again my question is: Is it Hydro One's position that Bamkushwada First Nations should essentially compete with themselves in this process?


MR. WARREN:  Counsel, I have no idea what that concept means, "compete with themselves".


MS. KEMPTON:  They are an owner in one project and you are asking them to be an owner in another.  That per force is competition with themselves.  Is it Hydro One's position that that is something that the First Nations should do?


MR. WARREN:  We don't accept the starting premise that they will be an owner on both.


MS. KEMPTON:  So is Hydro One's purported offer of 34 percent equity something other than ownership?


MR. SPENCER:  The clarification that we are trying to allude to here is that the aforementioned 20 percent, our understanding is that would be a 20 percent ownership position post-construction.  So the clarification that we are looking to provide is that our understanding, at least, is that Bamkushwada LP does not have a 20 percent ownership in the project.  However, they've been offered that opportunity post-construction of the project.


MS. KEMPTON:  Hydro One has not seen the agreements entered into between Bamkushwada and NextBridge; is that correct?


MS. GOULAIS:  That's correct.


MS. KEMPTON:  All right.  So I will confirm for the record that we have agreements, and no matter when they kick in we are legally committed in a relationship to own 20 percent of the project.  So given that, is it your position that the Bamkushwada First Nations should compete with themselves by accepting ownership in a competing bid?  I'm asking this because Hydro One seems intent on blaming an exclusivity clause that is very much like the one we entered into with Hydro One at an earlier stage on the predicament that you find yourselves in.


You seem intent on blaming a clause in a contract, and I'm putting to you that the facts of the matter are:  We have ownership in one project.  You are offering ownership in a competing bid.  Is it your position that we should be doing that, competing with ourselves?


MR. SPENCER:  If I may, Ms. Kempton, our intention is not to ask Bamkushwada to compete with themselves.  However, we do -- did want to make sure that there was clarity around Hydro One's proud history of working with Indigenous partners on a number of projects and sharing some of the specifics that we had envisioned, although without full consultation, granted.  Some of the things Hydro One had envisioned, potentially could be part of consultation and accommodation, conversations if and when we're able to have those conversations.


We feel as though some of the parties to these conversations are, granted, in fairness, a little bit unclear around the boundaries of the conversations they're allowed to undertake with us, so again, we seek to submit this evidence in our testimony to help provide that clarity and get an understanding of what we are allowed and, by rights of these exclusivity agreements, potentially not allowed to discuss.


MS. CROLL:  Could I add that from an EA perspective we consider the environment, not just the natural environment but social and economic, and not having these agreements, I can't comment on what's in them, but knowing the reaction when we reach out to communities and they feel that they are not able to discuss and consult with us, specifically around economic matters, impedes our ability to productively consult during the EA process.


MS. KEMPTON:  I am -- continue to be curious as to why this appears to surprise Hydro One when we had the same exclusivity provision with Hydro One and GLPT at the designation phase.  Why is this a surprise?


MS. GOULAIS:  I wouldn't say it's a surprise.  We see it as a hindrance to trying to undertake our consultation and accommodation discussions.


You are absolutely right.  We did have a similar agreement in place throughout the designation process.  The difference was ours did not preclude any of the First Nations who were signatories to that partnership to not be able to talk to anybody else.


MS. KEMPTON:  And is it not in evidence in the letter from Bamkushwada to Hydro One that is attached to Chief Collins' affidavit to which I referred yesterday, and my statements from yesterday, that we are not precluded from consulting with Hydro One, in fact, know that we must, and met on April 6th to commence that process?


Are you disputing that we are able to and have agreed to consult with Hydro One?


MS. GOULAIS:  No, I'm not disputing that.


MS. KEMPTON:  We are, you know, as I tried to clarify yesterday, we are not able, though, to participate in all forms of discussions around all forms of accommodation measures that overlap with economic participation, so...


I want to clarify something on page 13 of Hydro One's additional evidence.  It is the one, two, three, four, fifth paragraph down.  It starts with Hydro One's approach to accommodation.  Second sentence:

"In the spirit of cooperation and shared responsibility, Hydro One is committed to offering BLP a more beneficial commercial partnership opportunity as described above."

And you describe the 34 percent above.


You've acknowledged here today that you have not seen the agreements between BLP and NextBridge, so I am wondering why you praise this as more beneficial when you didn't have the facts and still don't available to make that assertion of "more beneficial".  You don't know if your offer is more beneficial or less beneficial than what we have with NextBridge, correct?


MS. GOULAIS:  You are correct that we don't know what those agreements say.  However, we do know that 20 percent was offered, and that's available publicly.


MS. KEMPTON:  And that's all you know.


MS. GOULAIS:  That's all we know about those agreements, correct.


MS. KEMPTON:  Would you agree with the statements made by Métis Nation of Ontario president and the Chief of -- and I'm sorry, I can't -- I don't have the full name of the First Nation in front of me, so I will apologize and use the acronym BZA -- that it is important to establish trust with a First Nation as a key aspect of consultation?  Would you agree with those statements?


MS. GOULAIS:  Yes, I would.


MS. KEMPTON:  And you were pointed to the evidence that you had given as part of the designation process that it is critical to Hydro One to obtain a social licence.


You mean by that the approval of First Nations; is that right?  Affected First Nations?


MS. GOULAIS:  Amongst other things, yes.


MS. KEMPTON:  I'm wondering, given the position of the Bamkushwada First Nations in opposing -- let me reframe that -- supporting NextBridge's motion to dismiss, I mean, seeking to dismiss HONI's leave to construct, and given the evidence of the Chiefs yesterday about what they framed as a significant financial and human cost to the at least one-year delay that HONI's line would impose, how do you expect, in the short time frame that you have left, to build trust and then conclude another agreement with the Bamkushwada First Nations?


MS. GOULAIS:  So I'll answer your question in two parts.  The first -- what I'd like to say first is that we do have established trust with a number of these communities, not only the Bamkushwada communities, but some of the other communities that are impacted by this project.


As you -- as I'm sure you are aware we do have assets throughout this entire province running through a number of communities' reserves and their traditional territories, and we take -- we take relationship building with those communities very seriously.


As I've mentioned, we have assets in their communities and we work with a lot of these communities very closely.  So the trust in some communities has been built, and we are working towards building that in other communities.


The second -- the second part to your question is, you know, we heard and are sympathetic to what all the three chiefs raised yesterday around what's going to happen to those people currently in training, what are they going to do, how are those commitments going to be maintained.


Hydro One, along with our construction partner SNC, we will continue to support those individuals who in that training.  We will utilize and maximize contracting opportunities for those Indigenous businesses on this project, if we are awarded and if we are the successful proponent to proceed.


You know, there is a -- all although the construction timelines aren't that different, there is a gap and we appreciate that and understand that.


Hydro One is in a unique position given that we have a network of assets and work not only in this -- across the province and specifically in the north, in this part of the province.


We do have the ability to bring on 40 to 45 construction jobs to help fill that gap for those who are leaving training.  We'd also be -- look at continuing some of that skills development training for those individuals, so that they could have advanced opportunities.


So I think -- you know, we heard the chiefs loud and clear yesterday, and those are ways in which Hydro One is not only willing, but -- not only willing to work with these communities to make sure that those social impacts are not felt as a result of who is, at the end of the day, successful at being able to construct this project.


MS. KEMPTON:  Those are aspirational statements and in point of fact, you do not know whether any of those can be met at this point in time, because you have not begun any process of consultation or accommodation with the Bamkushwada First Nations, correct?


You have no idea whether any of those statements you just said are viably correct or not?


MS. GOULAIS:  Well, I can say that Hydro One is committed to those statements that I've just made.


MR. SPENCER:  And many of the statements -- sorry, if I may?  Many of the statements that Ms. Goulais alludes to are not just a function of this one project.  They are a function of our ongoing operations.


Part of my other duties is leading an organization of approximately 3,000 individuals in this province who construct and maintain our transmission system.  We have building and maturing relationships with our union partners, be that our Power Workers' Union or construction trade unions across the province.


And in fact I have a lunch coming up later this week to talk with one of them regarding further advancing the inclusive hiring practices for our overall workforce and our portfolio of projects of over 200 across the province.


So what Ms. Goulais alludes to is well within reach and has already been envisioned by Hydro One in not just this one particular project, but our entire portfolio of transmission work across the province.


MS. KEMPTON:  I guess I must live on a different planet than you, because  I am also aware of a bunch of adversarial relations between Hydro One and First Nations across Ontario.


You are painting a rosy picture; I don't think it's necessarily that simple.  But it does bring me to a question.  I am going to posit something for you and ask if this is correct.


Based on what you've just said there, and based an just the whole series of events that have happened to date and the position that Hydro One is taking in the face of the First Nations' objections, I'm putting to that you Hydro One assumed that the First Nations would be quite willing to partner up again with Hydro One, jump ship from the current agreement with NextBridge and be quite happy to become best friends again, and that you made a big mistake.  Is that a fair statement?


MS. GOULAIS:  I'm sorry, I don't understand your question.


MS. KEMPTON:  The First Nations that I represent feel that Hydro One was banking on a past relationship, the designation stage, and that despite what had happened in the years since, you were banking on Bamkushwada's -- for us it just jump ship and be quite happy to join -- partner with Hydro One again.


It seems to me that was a key assumption of Hydro One that has turned out to be incorrect.  Is that a fair statement?


MS. GOULAIS:  No, I don't think that's a fair statement.  Of course the relationships that were developed before the designation process -- as I mentioned earlier, those relationships continued regardless of what happened to that project and we have maintained those relationships in a number of those communities.


We are not assuming that any of those communities, either individually or collectively, would jump ship and come and work with us for whatever reason.


What we were seeking was an opportunity to sit and meet with each of those communities, either individually or collectively, to have conversations about how we can work together, not only to reinforce and establish relationship and trust for this project, but for any future work that's going to be happening in that area.


This isn't the only, you know, opportunity for Hydro One, and it hasn't been the only opportunity for Hydro One to work with the Bamkushwada communities as well as other communities in that particular part of the province.


So I would say no, we weren't working under an assumption that the communities would simply say yes and work with us.


What we were hoping for was an opportunity to meet with their -- not only the elected officials in these communities, but the communities themselves, and be able to share information about what our proposal was, how we can work with the communities, understand what their consultation protocols were, and be able to sit down and have those conversations in a meaningful way.


MS. KEMPTON:  The relationship with Hydro One, whether it might exist with any of the Bamkushwada First Nations about other things, ceased to exist when the designated transmitter status was lost from that partnership, is that not correct?


MS. GOULAIS:  I wouldn't agree.


MS. KEMPTON:  How did it continue in respect of this project after...

MS. GOULAIS:  In respect of the project.  I apologize; I misunderstood the question.


In respect of the project, that relationship from a project perspective ended when we weren't designated as the transmitter to proceed in the development phase.


But as I mentioned earlier and several times today, that relationship has continued for other projects and initiatives, and other Hydro One-related programs with all of those communities.


MS. KEMPTON:  You have nothing in evidence, am I not correct, to establish the nature -- positive or negative or otherwise -- of Hydro One's relationship with any of those First Nations.  You have nothing in evidence to that effect here, correct?


MS. GOULAIS:  Outside of the evidence we've included to support the project?  We did not include evidence about any other initiatives or programs undertaken with these communities.


MS. KEMPTON:  The evidence from the Bamkushwada First Nations that we have put in is in fact that the relationship with Hydro One about this project, for which the duty to consult and accommodate is owed them, is bad. Is that not correct?


MS. GOULAIS:  That's what the affidavits say, yes.


MS. LEA:  Ms. Kempton, it will be necessary to take a lunch break soon.  Do you have a time estimate for the remainder of your questions?


MS. KEMPTON:  I'm considering whether I have anything further to ask.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


MS. KEMPTON:  I do have one last question.  The Bamkushwada First Nations are asking Hydro One to discontinue this application for all the reasons that we've set out in the affidavits and the testimony.  Is Hydro One prepared to do that?


MR. SPENCER:  No.


MS. KEMPTON:  So Hydro One is intending it to carry on over the objections of the Bamkushwada First Nations?


MR. GOULAIS:  I mean, I think the motion that we have in front of us is a decision that will be made by the appropriate decision-makers.


You know, I would like to reiterate that Hydro One does intend to -- if we're given the opportunity to continue moving forward with this project and would -- and absolutely understand the need, the necessity, as well as the benefits that could flow from that to have those conversations with not only the communities that you represent but all communities on this project.


MS. KEMPTON:  Those are my questions, thank you.


MS. LEA:  Thank you very much.


Just a couple of things before we break for lunch.  Mr. Stevenson, did you have a problem with being here this afternoon?  I recall an e-mail of yours, and I do not know whether you are available after lunch?


MR. STEPHENSON:  I am available.


MS. LEA:  You are available after lunch.  Thank you.


Secondly, I did communicate with the Board Panel members earlier today about Mr. Warren's question, and they have indicated that the evidence in the NextBridge proceeding can be referenced on the record because it is on the public record, and I don't think that the idea is to transfer all of that material on to this record unless required by some contingency that we hope will not occur, but to, you know, to ignore that would be a bit disingenuous, I think was the idea, so that was the guidance that I received so far.


Mr. Stevens, I don't know whether you had anything further to add, but is there any problem with people being able to reference that material during the argument of the motion?


MR. STEVENS:  Given the position of the Board Panel members, I don't think so.  I just would repeat that we're certainly not stipulating to the relevance of --


MS. LEA:  Yes.


MR. STEVENS:  -- most, if not all, of that information.


MS. LEA:  All right.  Thank you.  And certainly the caveat with respect to confidentiality that we spoke of earlier still applies.


Thank you very much.  We will break for lunch and return -- well, we better make it just an hour.  1:40, please.  Thank you.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:40 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:41 p.m.

MS. LEA:  Good afternoon.  Welcome back.  Mr. Henderson, are you on the line with us?


MR. HENDERSON:  I am, yes.

MS. LEA:  All right.  I think the Hydro One witnesses have had an opportunity to review the documents you sent this morning.  So if you would like to ask your questions, that would be great.  Thank you.
Questions by Mr. Henderson:


MR. HENDERSON:  Yes, thank you and good afternoon, everyone.

My first question I am going to ask if the Hydro One witnesses can turn to the first package of documents that I sent in.  The first document there is an April 30th letter from Hydro One Networks to Chief Sayers.

MS. CROLL:  We have it.

MR. HENDERSON:  Thank you.  The third page of that package is a March 5th letter from Hydro One Networks to Chief Sayers.

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes, we have it.

MR. HENDERSON:  And the last two pages are a letter from the Ministry of Energy to Chief Sayers, and it's dated March the 2nd, 2018.

MS. GOULAIS:  We have that one as well.

MR. HENDERSON:  Okay.  Was Hydro One Networks copied on that letter?

MS. GOULAIS:  The March 2nd letter from the Ministry of Energy to Chief Dean Sayers, Hydro One was not copied on.

MR. HENDERSON:  Okay, we can set that one aside, then.

The March 5th letter to Chief Sayers relates to completion of the draft environmental study at the Marathon transformers station; is that correct?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.

MR. HENDERSON:  Would you agree with me that it does not represent an invitation to the Batchewana First Nation to engage a process of consultation?

MS. GOULAIS:  That particular letter does not.

MR. HENDERSON:  Thank you.  So the April 30th letter, is that the first invitation extended it the Batchewana First Nation to engage in consultation?

MS. GOULAIS:  Mr. Henderson, it is Christine Goulais, one of the witnesses with Hydro One.  Maybe I'll just take this opportunity to clarify.

The March 5th letter you are referring to is with regards to a Marathon transformer station expansion.

MR. HENDERSON:  Yes.

MS. GOULAIS:  An initial letter was sent to Chief Sayers on March 15th, 2017, by email, and then registered mail the following day on March 16th.

That particular letter -- so there would have been a  notice of commencement letter on March 15th to Chief Sayers regarding a notice of commencement of the Marathon transformer station expansion.

MR. HENDERSON:  Yes.

MS. GOULAIS:  The purpose of that projects is to undertake a class environmental assessment for the expansion of our existing Marathon transformer station in support of the proposed east-west tie transmission line.

MR. HENDERSON:  Yes.

MS. GOULAIS:  And so that -- I just wanted to be clear that that particular letter, there would have been a letter ahead of the March 5th letter, as I mentioned, dated March 15th, 2017, and that letter would have been said we are notifying Chief Sayers that Hydro One is undertaking a class environmental assessment.

MR. HENDERSON:  Yes.

MS. GOULAIS:  There was a follow-up by phone on March 23rd.  So that letter, as well as the follow-up phone call, would have been given an opportunity to meet on the Marathon transformer station expansion project.

MR. HENDERSON:  All right.  And with respect to the east-west tie transmission line as a whole, the April 30th letter is the first invitation to consult on that project and on Hydro One's application?

MS. GOULAIS:  Correct, the April 30th letter to Chief Sayers would have been the first letter sent with regards to a proposed Lake Superior link project.

MR. HENDERSON:  Thank you.  I wonder if you could turn to the second package of documents, which is in fact only three pages, and the first one is a message sent by email from Hydro One to Chief Mushquash of Pays Plat First Nation, is that correct?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes, we have it.

MR. HENDERSON:  It was part of the additional evidence that you filed on May the 7th?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. HENDERSON:  Okay.  And the third paragraph refers to the offer to Pays Plat First Nation and four other First Nations to own 34 percent in a limited partnership that will own the Lake Superior link assets, is that correct?

MS. GOULAIS:  That's correct.

MR. HENDERSON:  Thank you.  Ms. Kempton went through that aspect in some detail this morning, so I won't cover that ground again.

The next letter was put on the registry website yesterday.  It's dated May 15th, and it as addressed to Margaret Froh, president of Métis Nation of Ontario.

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes, we have that.

MR. HENDERSON:  And again it's an explanation and an invitation to consult.  On the second page, the first paragraph, the first sentence says:
"In keeping with its past practices and with its legal obligations, HONI has intended to consult with First Nations and Métis communities about all aspects about of its proposal to build the LSL, including economic participation."

Is that correct?

MS. GOULAIS:  That's correct.

MR. HENDERSON:  And the last sentence, or last paragraph says:
"Notwithstanding the delay in its ability to embark upon consultations, HONI intends to consult fully with First Nations and Métis communities about all aspects of its proposal, including economic participation."

Is that correct?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. HENDERSON:  If we turn back to the April 30th letter to Chief Sayers, I wonder if you could look at the second page of that letter.

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes, I have it.

MR. HENDERSON:  And the third sentence in the first -- or the paragraph at the top of the page says, "We are very excited about our proposal," and talks about delivering tangible benefits to Indigenous communities, et cetera.

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.

MR. HENDERSON:  Could I ask you to look over the balance of that sentence, and the next paragraph in its entirety?

MS. GOULAIS:  Sorry, you are referring to the paragraph that starts "Hydro One together with..."?

MR. HENDERSON:  Yes.

MS. GOULAIS:  So you want me to take a look at it?

MR. HENDERSON:  Please.

MS. GOULAIS:  So I have reviewed it.

MR. HENDERSON:  Okay, thank you for that.  Would you agree with me that unlike the letter to the Métis Nation of Ontario that we just looked at, there's nothing in the letter to Chief Sayers that refers to economic participation?

MS. GOULAIS:  The April 30th letter.

MR. HENDERSON:  Yes, the passages you just read.

MS. GOULAIS:  There's nothing in that passage that says economic participation specifically.

MR. HENDERSON:  Okay, so we have -- we've looked at three documents, one to the Chief at Pays Plat, that talks about equity participation very specifically.  And we have one to Métis Nation of Ontario that talks about economic participation.  And we have the letter to Chief Sayers, which does not refer to economic participation.  Is that correct?

MS. GOULAIS:  So just to answer your question, Mr. Henderson, I am referring to the April 30th letter, the last -- or the second page, the last sentence of the first paragraph.  We talk about tangible benefits including but not limited to what we've outlined there.

MR. HENDERSON:  Yes.

MS. GOULAIS:  So I would say economic participation would be one of those things that could be included in that sentence when we said "not limited to."

MR. HENDERSON:  Yes.  And my question was there is no specific reference to economic participation, is that correct?

MS. GOULAIS:  You're correct.

MR. HENDERSON:  Thank you.  I see that the transcript from yesterday has been put up on the website.  I wonder if I could ask for the cooperation of the staff to put up undertaking number JT1.21.

MS. LEA:  Sir, do you mean the reference in that transcript where that undertaking is first given?

MR. HENDERSON:  I have the undertaking and a list of undertakings, which is fine for me.

MS. LEA:  Okay.

MR. HENDERSON:  Is that up on a screen where people can see it?

MS. LEA:  We're getting there.  It was 21, yes?

MR. HENDERSON:  1.21, yes.

MS. LEA:  Yes.  1.21, please.  We have it.

MR. HENDERSON:  Thank you.  My question to the witnesses is this:  Do you recognize this undertaking as one given by NextBridge to BZA First Nation in the course of testimony yesterday?

MS. GOULAIS:  I can see it, yes.

MR. HENDERSON:  Okay, I'm asking if you're prepared to give an undertaking to the Batchewana First Nation, and parenthetically, in the interests of parity, that would, A, provide Batchewana First Nation with information about economic opportunities that would be in the suite of accommodation considerations in any consultation with them, and B, to advise the Batchewana First Nation whether equity, participation, and/or revenue sharing would be part of the opportunities Hydro One is prepared to discuss with Batchewana First Nation?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes, we can do that as an undertaking, Mr. Henderson.

MR. HENDERSON:  Thank you very much --


MS. CRNOJACKI:  That will be -- thank you.  That would be Undertaking JT2.14.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.15:  (A) TO PROVIDE BATCHEWANA FIRST NATION WITH INFORMATION ABOUT ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITIES THAT WOULD BE IN THE SUITE OF ACCOMMODATION CONSIDERATIONS IN ANY CONSULTATION WITH THEM; (B), ADVISE THE BATCHEWANA FIRST NATION WHETHER EQUITY, PARTICIPATION, AND/OR REVENUE SHARING WOULD BE PART OF THE OPPORTUNITIES HYDRO ONE IS PREPARED TO DISCUSS WITH BATCHEWANA FIRST NATION.

MR. HENDERSON:  Thank you.  I'm just jotting down the number with a pen that doesn't work.  Okay.

Like many others, I want to ask you some questions about timing.  Now, my understanding is that the NextBridge application for the licence to construct, their target date to receive that licence is July of 2018; is that your understanding as well?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.

MR. HENDERSON:  And Hydro One has also applied for a licence to construct.  Could you remind me of the date you would expect that to issue?

MS. GOULAIS:  Our anticipated date is October 2018.

MR. HENDERSON:  And does that date include the permission or a new licence from Parks Canada to route through the Pukaskwa National Park?

MS. CROLL:  That does not require a licence to be in place by that time.

MR. HENDERSON:  You were saying that the licence to construct could be granted without --


MS. CROLL:  I'm sorry, I thought you meant the licence agreement with Parks Canada.  Sorry, could you just clarify the question?

MR. HENDERSON:  Yes, do you expect that you would have Parks Canada's consent to the new routing and upgrading, et cetera, through the park before you get the licence to construct?

MS. LEA:  The leave to construct to the Ontario Energy Board, sir?

MR. HENDERSON:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.

MS. CROLL:  Not given that schedule, so we wouldn't expect to have our approval from Parks Canada until -- until Q4, so late in Q4, possibly December, so that would be after the OEB leave to construct was provided, based on the schedule we anticipate.

MR. HENDERSON:  Thank you.

And I believe I heard -- I heard evidence this morning that said if Parks Canada refused the corridor arrangements of the new diversion in the alternate route in Hydro One's application, you would still expect a leave to construct in the fourth quarter of 2018?

MS. CROLL:  We would expect a leave to construct based on the anticipated schedule in October of 2018, and that would be conditional upon other requirements such as EA approvals.

MR. HENDERSON:  Okay, thank you for that.

I am trying to parse timelines here a bit for the benefit of certainly the Batchewana First Nation and perhaps others.

There's a motion before the Board now for the Hydro One application to be dismissed.  And that's to be heard commencing May 24th of 2018; is that correct?

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MR. HENDERSON:  Would it be reasonable, knowing that none of us control this, to expect a decision within three or four weeks of the hearing?

MS. CROLL:  I couldn't presuppose the timing of OEB.

MR. HENDERSON:  All right.  Thank you.

So I'm looking at it from the point of view of the First Nations.  Until the decision is rendered, there would be -- on the motion, there would be no practical advantage to the First Nation to engage with Hydro One at all, would there?

MS. GOULAIS:  Mr. Henderson, I would disagree with that.  I think undertaking any discussion with Hydro One and Batchewana First Nation would be welcomed.  And I think it would be to the benefit of your client, the Chief and his community, to understand what it is that Hydro One's proposing in its -- for the Lake Superior link project.

MR. HENDERSON:  Yes, I understand your perspective.  Do you understand the First Nation's perspective that those discussions would be wasted if Hydro One's application is dismissed?

MS. GOULAIS:  If the application is dismissed the discussion around the project maybe could be seen as a bit of a waste of time.  However, the longer-term benefits of sitting down and meeting and discussing, we could also spend the time talking about other Hydro One-related initiatives, programs, matters.  I think that would be an opportunity that would not be wasted.

MR. HENDERSON:  Fine, but those other matters, of course, are unrelated to a Lake Superior link?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.

MR. HENDERSON:  Okay.  So if the decision, as we've already discussed, goes against Hydro One, then all the First Nation Indigenous communities or Indigenous group consultation becomes moot, in other words, there is no Hydro One application, so consultation and engagement with Hydro One would, in that circumstance, be dead.  Is that fair?

MS. GOULAIS:  Specifically related to this project?  Yes.

MR. HENDERSON:  Thank you.  And if the motion is not successful, then after the date of that decision and up to the point of someone being granted a leave to construct, there are, in fact, two tracks there; is that correct?  One would be consultation with NextBridge and the other would be consultation and engagement with Hydro One.

MS. GOULAIS:  So Mr. Henderson, you are correct that if the motion to dismiss Hydro One's application is not accepted and we are given the opportunity to continue to proceed to the section 92, which we have submitted, then it would -- the First Nation could engage in consultation with both Hydro One and NextBridge.

MR. HENDERSON:  Okay, and I think it's recognized in the evidence yesterday and this morning that many First Nations see hindrances and obstacles to proceeding with Hydro One during a period when there are two tracks because of the engagement and commitments they may have made with NextBridge already; is that correct?

MS. GOULAIS:  That's what we have heard, yes.

MR. HENDERSON:  So is it your expectation -- and forgive my characterization -- that First Nations who see themselves as having a bird in the hand may not devote a lot of time and energy over the summer this year to engage with Hydro One?

MS. GOULAIS:  Mr. Henderson, I would be uncomfortable speaking on behalf of any First Nation community, but we have heard, particularly, you know, the Bamkushwada communities are -- they do have an exclusivity agreement with NextBridge that is preventing them from undertaking any discussions with regards to economic benefit or accommodation, but I, you know, it's -- it was unclear yesterday as to whether any other exclusivity agreements exist and what the content of those agreements are, so I am not comfortable -- I wouldn't be comfortable speaking on behalf of a First Nation and how they would choose to undertake consultation with Hydro One.

What I can say is that Hydro One is committed and -- to undertake consultation with all impacted communities immediately and throughout the process.

MR. HENDERSON:  Okay.  Now, without asking you to divine what the attitude might be on the part of the First Nations or Métis communities, in terms of your planning and estimates, have you factored in that difficult period when there are two applications on the table?

MS. GOULAIS:  So if any particular First Nation or Métis community would choose not to meet or begin consultation with Hydro One until after a decision was made -- has been made with regards to the section 92, we are anticipating, as our schedule states, section 92 approval in October of this year.  Looking at the construction timeline, for example, that leaves us about nine to ten months to -- for the communities to work with us and consult with us.

And again, that's leading up to construction.  That doesn't mean that consultation wouldn't continue following construction.

MR. HENDERSON:  Just so I understand that response correctly, are you saying there would be a gap of nine or 10 months between leave to construct and actual construction?

MS. GOULAIS:  That's the way our current schedule is laid out, yes.

MR. HENDERSON:  Thank you.  And if I understand you correctly -- and I certainly don't want to read anything into your response that you didn't say -- but Hydro One in it's estimation recognizes that a First Nation who waits, or a Métis community who waits to see if Hydro One gets leave to construct would be making a rational decision -- sorry, leave to construct before engaging in consultation would be making a rationale decision.

MS. GOULAIS:  No, I didn't say that.

MR. HENDERSON:  No, I'm making sure that you didn't say that.  I'm putting in new words now and asking a new question.

In your estimation, in Hydro One's estimation, do you recognize that a First Nation that waits and sees, given that many of them already have a bird in the hand, would be making a rational decision if they did not engage unless and until Hydro One is granted leave to construct?

MS. GOULAIS:  Again, given that I'm not privy to understanding the agreements that any of the Indigenous communities have in place with NextBridge, I wouldn't be comfortable answering a question as to whether or not it would be a rational decision for them to hold off consultation with Hydro One or not.

MR. HENDERSON:  All right.  Thank you, I won't press that.  I just want to ask a few questions to make sure I understand the arrangement of the corridor through Pukaskwa National Park.

Is it correct that that corridor is 35 kilometres long?

MS. CROLL:  The section through the park is 35 kilometres long, that's correct.

MR. HENDERSON:  Thank you.  And how wide is it?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  150 feet.

MR. HENDERSON:  And the proposal is not to alter the width, is that correct?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.

MR. HENDERSON:  Okay.  Now, along that 35 kilometre length through the park, what is Hydro One's access to that corridor?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  The access through to the corridor for construction will be done by the air.

MR. HENDERSON:  By air?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  By air, by helicopter.

MR. HENDERSON:  By helicopter.  And that includes transportation of crew and...

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  It is includes transportation of crew, with construction plant equipment, et cetera.

MR. HENDERSON:  Thank you.  So there is no proposal for additional access by land as part of your proposal?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct, there would be no additional access roads.  We are not proposing to use road access for the work.

MR. HENDERSON:  Thank you.  And the number of towers in the park now is 87?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Correct.

MR. HENDERSON:  And the 87 towers, I understand, were put up in the late 1960s, so their average age is 50 years.  Is that approximately correct?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  That would be correct.

MR. HENDERSON:  And is there a proposal to build any new towers?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Sir, the work that's going to be done to go through the park is to effectively replace those existing 87 towers with 87 new towers, with the full refurbishment on the foundations.

MR. HENDERSON:  So actually the proposal is 87 new Towers, is that correct?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Well, yes.  The towers that are coming in are quad circuit towers.  The existing towers are double circuit towers.  So it will be the a replacement of the 87 double circuit towers with new quad circuit towers.

MR. HENDERSON:  Thank you for that clarification.
When you referred to upgrading of the towers this morning, is that what you meant by upgrading?  There will be new towers with new guides, et cetera?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  That's correct.  They'll be the towers that were referred to this morning.

MR. HENDERSON:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Just before you leave us, Mr. Henderson, it might be wise to mark as an exhibit the two packages that you filed with us today, just so we know what people were referring to.

Can I have exhibit numbers for those, please?

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Do we need one exhibit?

MS. LEA:  Yes, why don't we do one exhibit number for the two pieces, that's fine.  Thank you.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That's KT2.4.
EXHIBIT NO. KT2.4:  MR. HENDERSON'S DOCUMENTS

MS. LEA:  Thank you very much.  Thank you, Mr. Henderson.

MR. HENDERSON:  Yes, thank you.  Ms. Strachan, I think you're next.
Questions by Ms. Strachan:


MS. STRACHAN:  Good afternoon, counsel.  Megan Strachan, counsel for the Métis Nation of Ontario, or the MNO.

MS. LEA:  Sorry, Megan, it's hard to hear you.

MS. STRACHAN:  I can try and scoot a little closer to the microphone.  They should make these a little bit longer, I think.

So most of my questions relate to consultation and environmental assessment, so I'll be directing them towards Ms. Croll and Ms. Goulais, as appropriate.

I apologize with my first few questions.  I'm not really breaking any new ground, but we can move through them pretty quickly.

So I understand that it was in November of 2017 that Hydro One contacted Ontario to seek to have the procedural aspects of consultation with Indigenous communities for this project delegated to Hydro One, is that correct?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. STRACHAN:  And it is my understanding when Hydro One sought this delegation, it requested two things.  First, that Ontario identify Indigenous communities with whom Hydro One needed to consult, and second, to also provide guidance on the depth of consultation that was required.  Is that correct?

MS. GOULAIS:  Correct.

MS. STRACHAN:  So I believe earlier, Ms. Goulais, you that you confirmed that this delegation was received from Ontario in a letter from the Ministry of Energy dated March the 2nd, 2018, and this is the letter that's included in your written evidence as attachment 9.  Is that right?

MS. GOULAIS:  That's correct.

MS. STRACHAN:  This letters states:
"Based on the Crown's assessment of First Nation and Métis community rights and project impacts, the following Aboriginal communities should be consulted on the basis that they have or may have constitutionally protected Aboriginal or treaty rights that may be adversely effected by the project."

The letter goes on to list 18 Indigenous communities and identifies three MNO community councils.  Is that right?

MS. GOULAIS:  That's correct.

MS. STRACHAN:  And does this March 2nd letter contain any guidance on the depth of consultation that Ontario believes is required for any of these communities?

MS. GOULAIS:  No, it identifies all communities as rights-based communities, but it doesn't indicate specific depth for either -- for any of them.

MS. STRACHAN:  And has Hydro One received any other correspondence or information from the Crown about their strength of claims analysis, or any other guidance about the Crown's perspective on the depth of consultation that might be required for any it of the Indigenous communities listed in that letter?

MS. GOULAIS:  No, this is the only letter I have.

MS. STRACHAN:  In the evidence that Hydro One filed for this motion at attachment 10, there are letters there to six First Nations, and those are the First Nations that are the BLP partners.  That is dated February 16th, 2018, and this letter introduces the project, and requests meetings between Hydro One and these six First Nations.

Were these letters the first letters that you sent out to Indigenous communities about the project?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.

MS. STRACHAN:  Am I correct that no letters were sent to the Métis Nation of Ontario at this time?

MS. GOULAIS:  The February 16th letter?  No.  You are correct -- sorry, you are correct that no letters were sent.

MS. STRACHAN:  Thank you.  In Hydro One's evidence at attachment 12, it references a meeting between Hydro One and the six BLP communities on April the 2nd, and so is it correct that a meeting was held between Hydro One and these six First Nations on April the 2nd, 2018?

MS. GOULAIS:  The meeting was held on April 6th.

MS. STRACHAN:  Oh, sorry, April 6th, my mistake.  And just to clarify something that I think was said earlier, and I think this was inadvertent by Ms. Goulais, she alluded to Métis being present at this meeting, and that was in response to a question from Mr. Stevens about consulting with Métis and First Nations regarding Pukaskwa Park, and I just wanted you to confirm for the record that there were no Métis Nation of Ontario representatives at this April 6th meeting.

MS. GOULAIS:  There were no Métis representatives at this meeting.

MS. STRACHAN:  Thank you, and am I correct that the first letter you sent to the MNO about this project was on April the 30th, 2018?

MS. GOULAIS:  That's correct.

MS. STRACHAN:  And no meetings have occurred to date between the MNO and Hydro One about this project.

MS. GOULAIS:  That's correct.

MS. STRACHAN:  Are you aware of the framework agreement that the MNO signed with Ontario and Canada on December the 11th, 2017?

MS. GOULAIS:  I am aware, as it was shared with us as an attachment to a recent letter.

MS. STRACHAN:  And were you aware of it prior to that?

MS. GOULAIS:  I was aware of it, yes.

MS. STRACHAN:  And were you aware of the announcement made by the MNO and Ontario identifying six historic Métis communities in the province that was made in August of 2017?

MS. GOULAIS:  I'm not aware of the specifics.

MS. STRACHAN:  Okay.  And that is -- some information on that is contained in the MNO's written evidence at Appendix L, so before the MNO filed its written evidence did you have any awareness of that announcement?

MS. GOULAIS:  I was aware of the announcement, but again, not the details of what's in the document.

MS. STRACHAN:  And were you aware that the MNO has had a harvesting agreement with Ontario since 2004 that accommodates Métis harvesting rights in the area that will be traversed by the Lake Superior link project?

MS. GOULAIS:  Again, not aware -- aware of the document, but not an expert on the details of it.

MS. STRACHAN:  I just want to summarize a couple things that I have heard from you about consultation with the MNO.  So first, I understand that Hydro One has received no information directly from Ontario regarding Métis rights, claims, and interests in the project area; that's right?

MS. GOULAIS:  No, that's not correct.  We received a letter on March 2nd from the Ministry of Energy indicating that consultation was required with the list of Métis councils -- the Métis councils listed.

MS. STRACHAN:  But other than that list you've been provided with no information on the content of their rights, the depth of consultation, Ontario's perspective on --


MS. GOULAIS:  Specifically related to this project, no.

MS. STRACHAN:  And I also understand that prior to the MNO's written evidence being filed, Hydro One was not really aware of sort of many of the specifics of publicly available documents related to recent developments, specific to the recognition of Métis rights in the project area; that a fair summary?

MR. WARREN:  Counsel, can you tell us what document you are referring to?

MS. STRACHAN:  I'm referring specifically to the documents that I asked about, so that would be the framework agreement that the MNO signed with Ontario and Canada, the announcement on the six historic Métis communities, and the harvesting agreement that the MNO has had in place with Ontario since 2004, which was recently replaced with a new agreement on April the 30th of this year.

MS. GOULAIS:  So I believe I've already answered the question.  We are aware.  However, I'm not -- I -- I'm not familiar with every detail about those reports.

MS. STRACHAN:  I want to turn now to talk about economic participation, and are you familiar with Hydro One's -- well, which was made with two other partners as East-West Tie LP -- are you familiar with that bid to be designated as the transmitter for the East-West Tie project a few years ago?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes, I'm familiar with it.

MS. STRACHAN:  And in that designation process I understand that the OEB evaluated bids, including East-West Tie LP's bid against nine main criteria; that's correct?

MS. GOULAIS:  I'm sorry, can you repeat the question?

MS. STRACHAN:  So in the designation process when the OEB was making its decision it looked mostly at nine specific criteria; is that right?

MS. GOULAIS:  I don't know.

MS. STRACHAN:  Well, one of these criteria related to First Nations and Métis participation; do you recall that criteria?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.

MS. STRACHAN:  And I understand that the East-West Tie LP's bid included the equity participation of six First Nations through BLP?

MS. GOULAIS:  That's correct.

MS. STRACHAN:  And there was no Métis equity consultation in East-West Tie LP's initial bid.

MS. GOULAIS:  That's correct.

MS. STRACHAN:  In 2014, as you know, the OEB issued its Phase 2 decision and order, and in this decision it picked NextBridge as the designated transmitter for the East-West Tie, and so would you agree that one of the contributing factors to the East-West Tie LP's lack of success in the designation process was the exclusion of the Métis from economic participation in the project?

MS. GOULAIS:  I wasn't the decision-making body on that, so I wouldn't be able to say yes or no.

MS. STRACHAN:  So I'm just going to read you a passage from the Board's Phase 2 decision, which I recognize isn't -- hasn't been put in as evidence, but it is publicly available.  And I can give you the exact reference if you'd like.  It is at pages 16 and 17 of that decision.  And it says -- it is specifically in regards to the Board's comments on EWT LP's plan for economic participation.  And it says:
"While EWT LP's plan is good for the six First Nation partners comprising BLP, there are more limited opportunities for other affected First Nations and Métis communities to participate in the various aspects of this project and no opportunity for equity participation."

I mean, do you think it's fair that in reading that statement, one reason why EWT LP did not receive top marks in the economic participation category was because there were more limited opportunities for Métis communities and no opportunity for equity participation; do you think that's a fair statement?

MS. GOULAIS:  Based on what you've read, what you've just read, I can't see it.  It's not up in front of us.  It sounds like that's why -- that was a part of the decision-making.

MS. STRACHAN:  And you confirmed in answers to Ms. Kempton earlier today that Hydro One has offered 34 percent equity to BLP but as of right now no equity participation deal has been finalized with those communities; is that right?

MS. GOULAIS:  That's correct.

MS. STRACHAN:  And are you able to confirm that this 34 percent inequity is the only equity that is available to Indigenous communities?

MS. GOULAIS:  Not at this time.  Sorry, I can't confirm that for you.

MS. STRACHAN:  So it's possible that beyond this 34 percent there is additional equity available for Indigenous communities?

MS. GOULAIS:  We don't -- I don't know.  That's what's been offered, that's what's been included in our evidence.  Whether there is anything beyond that, I can't answer today.

MS. STRACHAN:  Are you able to undertake to let us know if there is other -- other equity that might be offered to Indigenous communities?  I'm just -- I'm not wondering specifically who you might offer to, I'm just wondering is sort of 34 percent equity, is that the cap on equity that could be offered to Indigenous communities?

MS. GOULAIS:  As -- to take it back as an undertaking?

MS. STRACHAN:  Mm-hmm.

MS. GOULAIS:  We can provide a response on that.

MS. STRACHAN:  Thank you.

MS. LEA:  Sorry, that was a yes --


MS. CRNOJACKI:  That will be JT2.15.  Hydro One to provide if there is additional equity beyond 34 percent to be offered to Indigenous communities, including Métis Nation of Ontario.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.16:  HYDRO ONE TO PROVIDE IF THERE IS ADDITIONAL EQUITY BEYOND 34 PER CENT TO BE OFFERED TO INDIGENOUS COMMUNITIES, INCLUDING MÉTIS NATION OF ONTARIO.

MS. STRACHAN:  So just earlier in my questions, Ms. Goulais, you confirmed that the MNO was first notified about the project on April the 30th of 2018.  And you also confirmed that Hydro One met with the BLP communities almost a month before that on April the 6th to discuss a potential 34 percent equity participation.  So from this, is it correct then that Hydro One made its decision to offer equity to BLP, which may or may not be the only equity available for Indigenous communities, prior to even notifying the MNO about the project?

MS. GOULAIS:  So just to be clear, the April 6th meeting that took place with the Bamkushwada First Nations in Thunder Bay, there was no discussion of equity participation in that meeting.  We were advised by their lawyer to not disclose because they were under exclusivity agreements with NextBridge.

The purpose of that meeting, and the objective that we met at that meeting, was we provided a presentation on our proposed project, and we attempted to have conversations with regards to forms of economic participation, and we were asked not to do that because of the exclusivity agreements that Bamkushwada specifically had with NextBridge.

So just to clarify, the purpose of that meeting was not to discuss an equity participation.  The purpose of that meeting was to discuss our proposed project, which we did.

MS. STRACHAN:  I'm just trying to figure out when it was that that offer was put on the table to BLP.

So is it fair to say that at some point before the April 12th letter, which is at attachment 12 in your written evidence, the April 12th letter from Derrick Chum to Ms. Kempton, which says on page 2 that Hydro One is committed to offering BLP an opportunity to own 34 per cent, that at some point before this April 12th letter, the decision had been made to offer 34 per cent equity to the LBP communities.

MS. GOULAIS:  So the letter that you just referred to that was sent to Ms. Kempton, we were advised that that information was in fact not shared with the First Nations because of the exclusivity agreements that we keep being told are preventing this from moving forward from an accommodation perspective.

So I don't know if we were told that that was not shared with her clients; whether it was or not, I can't speak to.

So when the First Nations were made aware of this opportunity, the earliest that I can confirm they were made aware was we had -- there an email, and I'll have to go back and look at the date, where we had notified the six First Nations in advance of our May 7th filing of additional evidence that there would be, within that evidence, disclosure of a 34 per cent equity opportunity.

So I -- May 2nd, thank you.  We had shared that information with the six First Nations that make up Bamkushwada, making them aware that there would be information in our May 7th evidence that potentially impacts them.

Whether or not this letter was shared with the First Nations, I don't know.

MS. STRACHAN:  Sure, and I think -- I'm sorry, I think maybe I wasn't clear in the thrust of my questioning.

I think what I'm trying to do is clarify that Hydro One had made the decision to offer a 34 per cent equity to BPL prior to even notifying the MNO about the project.

That's the timeline that I was trying to understand, not necessarily when BPL was made aware of that offer, but when Hydro One had made its decision that was going to make this offer to BLP.

So I'm asking if you can confirm that Hydro One had made the decision to extend 34 per cent equity, which may or may not be the totality of equity that is available to Indigenous communities, but that Hydro One had made the decision to extend that equity to BLP prior to even sending its first notice about the project to the MNO.

MS. GOULAIS:  That's correct.

MS. STRACHAN:  Thank you.  I want to ask a couple of clarifying questions about a statement that is found at page 13 of Hydro One's additional evidence, and it is in the second last paragraph on that page.

In that paragraph, in the last sentence, Hydro One is talking about the potential benefits if the BLP First Nations do agree to the proposed equity ownership of 34 per cent.  It states that:
"This solution will result in high tax benefits to all Ontario ratepayers, in addition to the significant capital and OM&A savings previously mentioned."

MS. GOULAIS:  Sorry, let's -- I'm trying to follow.  That's not...

MS. STRACHAN:  Sorry, it is just in the second last paragraph, the last sentence.

MS. GOULAIS:  Sorry, I wasn't following.  Thank you.

MS. STRACHAN:  No problem.  I'm just wondering can you explain to me how this equity deal results in high tax benefits for Ontario ratepayers?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes, I can.  So the savings is with reference to net income impacts.  So the portion of the net income that relates to the percentage of the First Nations ownership, and the new partnership is exempt from federal and provincial tax.

So in the example that we've provided, 34 per cent -- 34 per cent of the revenue that Hydro One's proposal would be tax-exempt, thereby lowering its transmission revenue requirement.

MS. STRACHAN:  If I understand that correctly, the higher the Indigenous ownership of a project, the more of this kind of tax savings you could potentially have?

MS. GOULAIS:  The higher the percentage of First Nation ownership, yes.

MS. STRACHAN:  So for instance, if you did end up offering equity beyond that 34 per cent to another Indigenous community, this could result in greater savings to the ratepayers?

MS. GOULAIS:  Well, it would depend on which Indigenous community.  First Nations are tax-exempt.  My understanding is that the Métis are not.  So it would depend on what community we're talking about.

MS. STRACHAN:  I'd like now to jump to the April 12th letter that was sent to Ms. Kempton, which is at attachment 12 to Hydro One's evidence, and it's just on the second page of that letter in response to issue 3, so it's down closer to the bottom of the page.

And issue 3 in Hydro One's response talks about Hydro One's approach to accommodation.  And when I read this, I don't -- I'm not going to read it out to you, because I'm sure you're familiar with what it says there.

But I read those two paragraphs in the response as saying that Hydro One views economic participation as a mechanism to accommodate Aboriginal rights.  Is that correct?

MS. GOULAIS:  I'm sorry, I'm trying to follow what paragraphs you are referring to of the letter.

MS. STRACHAN:  I'm looking at -- so issue 3, if you can scroll up a little bit more.

Issue 3 has asked Hydro One to describe their approach to accommodation.  And so reading the two paragraphs below that, which is Hydro One's response and which talk pretty much exclusively about economic participation opportunities.  I read that to say that Hydro One understands that economic participation is a mechanism for the accommodation of Aboriginal rights.  Is that correct?

MS. GOULAIS:  It's one form of accommodation, one of many that Hydro One would be willing to offer.

MS. STRACHAN:  Thank you.  Well, we've heard a lot today and yesterday that it's been difficult for Hydro One to engage in economic participation discussions with BLP because of exclusivity arrangements with NextBridge.

And Ms. Kempton provided some clarification that this doesn't prevent consultation, but prevents discussions about, you know, these particular kinds of accommodation measures.

Then on that same vein -- and this is in a letter from -- and I don't remember the exhibit number, I'm sorry, but this is from the letter that Mr. Henderson was just talking about from Derrick Chum to President Froh, dated May 15th, 2015.  I don't know if we can pull that back up, because it deals with this same issue.  It would be on the second page of that letter, the second page of that letter in the second last paragraph.

And in particular, the last sentence of that paragraph says that Hydro One -- it's ability to consult has been limited by a variety of exclusivity and nondisclosure agreements NextBridge has entered into with certain First Nation and Métis communities.

Is Hydro One aware of any exclusivity agreements that have been signed by the MNO and NextBridge that could prevent consultation or economic participation discussions?

MS. GOULAIS:  No, we're not aware.

MS. STRACHAN:  Has Hydro One inquired with the MNO as to whether they have any arrangements that would preclude them from discussing economic participation?

MS. GOULAIS:  We haven't asked that specific question, although we've had a sent a letter to the MNO, as well as the councils identified in the Ministry of Energy's letter, and followed up with phone calls to meet.  We haven't been given that opportunity.

MS. STRACHAN:  I just have a few questions about environmental assessment and timelines, and some of these dovetail off a few questions that you got from Mr. Stevens earlier.

Ms. Croll, I think you stated that one reason why Hydro One's EA isn't going to require the typical three to five years that might be expected is because extensive consultation has already taken place; is that correct?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct, with reference to the portions of the route that are common to NextBridge.

MS. STRACHAN:  And are you referring to consultation that Hydro One has already undertaken or consultation that NextBridge has already undertaken?

MS. CROLL:  Predominantly a consultation that NextBridge has already undertaken as part of the individual EA.  However, Hydro One has undertaken some consultation of its own with certain parties as early as August/September of 2017.

MS. STRACHAN:  And what parties -- well, we just heard that the first notification that the MNO had was on April the 30th, so -- of this year, so I'm curious which parties were being consulted back in August and September of last year?

MS. CROLL:  So one of the first parties we consulted was Parks Canada, because it was very important to our proposal that we understand whether we could actually get the approval of Parks Canada to go through the national park.  So that was one of the first parties we contacted because, although there's cost savings that we can realize even following NextBridge's route, there is significantly more cost savings and significantly less environmental impact if we can follow the park route, so that was, in fact, one of the first parties we contacted.

We also had discussions with MOECC, as we've already stipulated.  We also discussed the project with Ministry of Energy, Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry, and obviously Ministry of Energy to understand our obligations with respect to duty to consult and to have that delegated.

MS. STRACHAN:  So while you were considering whether or not to try and utilize your existing right-of-way and route the project through the park, as Hydro One was considering that option, you didn't engage with any Indigenous communities?

MS. CROLL:  No, we did not.

MS. STRACHAN:  And so I thought I heard from you earlier, and I might have been wrong, that Hydro One couldn't rely on Indigenous consultation that had already been carried out by NextBridge.  Did I hear that wrong?

MS. CROLL:  So we can't rely specifically on the consultation record, so the specifics that may be provided by Indigenous communities with respect to traditional knowledge and related items.  However, we feel that we can rely at our own risk on the public document, which summarizes the consultations that have been undertaken with Indigenous communities and also with other interested parties throughout the project.

MS. STRACHAN:  Thank you for that clarification.

And I also believe this was in a response to a question from Mr. Stevens.  You indicated that Indigenous communities were notified about studies that had occurred in Pukaskwa Park and in particular, I think the caribou study was mentioned; is that correct?

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MS. STRACHAN:  Was the Métis Nation of Ontario notified about these studies?

MS. CROLL:  They were not.

MS. STRACHAN:  During the designation process for the East-West Tie project, the MNO sent a letter to Parks Canada, and this is included in the MNO's written evidence in this motion at Appendix V, that's about Métis rights and interests in Pukaskwa Park.  Are you familiar with this letter?

MS. CROLL:  Could you provide the reference again?

MS. STRACHAN:  Sure, it is in Appendix V to the MNO's written evidence.

MS. STRACHAN:  It was a letter that was sent to Parks Canada when NextBridge was considering routing through the park.

MS. CROLL:  No, I'm not familiar with that letter.

MS. STRACHAN:  So you wouldn't have seen it prior to it being filed as evidence in this motion?

MS. CROLL:  No.

MS. STRACHAN:  And I haven't seen any specific plans in your materials to include the Métis in your consultation efforts regarding the park, although your evidence does state that there are more studies to be done that will be happening throughout the summer.

And is it Hydro One's plan to consult with the Métis before it undertakes these studies?

MS. CROLL:  Yes, it is.

MS. STRACHAN:  And will Hydro One be seeking to conduct Métis-specific studies in the park?

MS. CROLL:  I can't comment on what we would be planning to do until we have some consultation with the Métis.

MS. STRACHAN:  And your expectation is that all of the studies about the park will be finalized by September or October; is that the correct timeline?

MS. CROLL:  We would expect that the studies will be completed by that time and the results available.

MS. STRACHAN:  And if there is a need to undertake Métis-specific studies with regards to the park, are you confident that those studies will be undertaken by October 2018?

MS. CROLL:  That would depend, I suppose, on when the Métis communities engage in consultation with us.  But assuming that happens quickly we would hope to have their input on any additional studies for this summer.

MS. STRACHAN:  And that would include the conducting of traditional knowledge studies that were specific to the Métis communities themselves?

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MS. STRACHAN:  And outside of the park does Hydro One plan to conduct any new studies with the MNO about Métis traditional knowledge and land use?

MS. CROLL:  Based on consultation that would happen, we would then determine whether we would conduct those studies.

MS. STRACHAN:  And I've almost come to the end of my questions.  I just have a couple questions about filing requirements.

In Hydro One's additional evidence on page 17 -- and you don't need to go to it.  I think it's a pretty -- maybe you will, but I don't think that you do -- it states that Hydro One's application for leave to construct is complete, and I'm assuming that that conclusion about completeness is based on the OEB's filing requirements for electricity transmission applications; is that correct?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes, we believe that's the understanding.

MS. STRACHAN:  And were those the only requirements that Hydro One used when assessing the completeness of its application?

MS. CROLL:  I'm not aware of any other requirements that were considered.  We would have to -- I'm not personally aware of what other requirements were considered.

MS. STRACHAN:  Thank you, that's all my questions.

MS. LEA:  Thank you very much.

Mr. Stephenson.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Good afternoon, panel.  My questions have all been asked.  I have nothing further.

MS. LEA:  Thank you very much.

That brings us to Mr. Rubenstein.
Questions By Mr. Rubenstein:

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much, panel.  I have a number of questions.

I want to start -- I'm going to apologize in advance.  It's going to be a little scattered, since a number of the questions have been asked, and I have some follow-ups on some others.

MS. GOULAIS:  Sorry, we can't really hear you.  Thank you.  Are you going to try too?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Can you hear me better now?

MS. LEA:  Yes, thank you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm going to apologize in advance.  They are going to be a bit scattered in the areas that I would like to cover with you.

I want to follow up firstly on some discussion that was had earlier on with Mr. Stevens about the schedule, and he brought you to your application, Exhibit B, tab 11, schedule 1.  It's -- yeah, the schedule.  And as I understood it, you gave an Undertaking JT2.9 to provide an updated schedule?

MR. SPENCER:  That's correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is there a more detailed schedule, like, a -- I assume there is a Gantt chart, project schedule, sitting somewhere at Hydro One?

MR. SPENCER:  So we do have additional detail.  We would be willing and able to provide additional details as part of the earlier undertaking if that's helpful.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure, that's probably the best way to do it.

MS. LEA:  As part of the earlier undertaking, sir.  Thank you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So there was a lot of discussion about obtaining the line that says "obtaining EA approval from the MOECC", and as I understood the discussion from this morning, the June 2019 finish date is based on getting an, I guess, an exemption order, and it would be July 2019 if you had to do the class environmental assessment; did I understand that correctly?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And is that environmental -- the class environmental assessment, the individual environmental assessment, that timeline based on utilizing certain reports or studies that were undertaken by NextBridge?

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I would like to know what is your -- what would be the revised timeline if you were told by the MOECC that you could not do that and you had to essentially do all the studies and all the work yourself, what would be the -- how would the schedule look in that case?

MS. CROLL:  I don't think I could comment on that.  We haven't looked at that scenario.  It's our position that those -- the NextBridge EA is a public document and can be used.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I understand that's your position and you may be -- hopefully are correct.

But I'm just trying to understand what the worst case scenario, I guess, is and how that would adjust the schedule.

So you don't know -- you don't have a view of what the revised end date of the environmental assessment would be?

MS. CROLL:  No, I really don't.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Let me ask you -- I want to understand what type of work is contingent on that approval on the environmental assessment as we go down the list.

So imagine that you get the approval, instead of June 2019, you get it in December 2019.  What gets shifted?  Would everything be shifted the same duration?  So could I -- essentially you get the -- instead of June 2019, it is six months later and it is December 2019.  Would the new in-service date be the end of June, 2021?  Is that a fair assumption to make?

MR. SPENCER:  I might take the first attempt, Mr. Rubenstein, and then my colleague, Ms. Croll, can elaborate on further specifics.

So sitting in on the technical conference last week on the other proceeding, it was evident that the members of this proceeding are interested in different scenarios around what ifs.

So we of course undertook that analysis to prepare for today for those types of questions.  Honestly, I think it's prudent that anybody on a project of this size would have previously done that for the hearing.

So to your specific question around what about the impact of environmental assessment delays, if we talked about a three-month delay, just as a hypothetical, the -- there would be no impact on schedule.  We would still be able to hit our year-end 2019 in advance -- sorry, a year-end 2021 project completion date.  And just for interest, the cost would add about an extra $1.4 million, which is funded within our contingency already.  So our total construction cost would not change.

On the six-month situation, the six-month scenario of receiving EA delay, there would be an incremental cost impact of approximately $5 million, again funded within our established contingencies.

To be able to hit and maintain a year-end 2021, we would have to look acceleration of some of the construction activities.  We have clear line of site as to what those are and when we would have to mobilize on those particular decisions, which would come in at a little bit of an incremental cost that between Hydro One and SNC-Lavalin we feel can be manages within our established contingencies.

So in summary, we are confident in our ability to meet our completion date both with a three-month delay of EA approval, as well as a six-month delay, although the six month delay would eat into some of our funded contingency a little bit more than we had -- we'd have to manage other risks in the project even tighter.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And what point in -- what amount of delay causes the project to move off the December 2021 in-service date?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Effectively, it would require us to actually commence the work such that we lost the first season of clearing, right?

Our project, as far as the clearing activities, no different.  I mean, the constraints as far as the clearing activities are no different whether you are looking at the NextBridge project or our project.  There are certain environmental constraints where you have to clear the right of way in the winter, right?

There's -- if we were to actually be delayed beyond the point where you lost that first winter of clearing, whilst we would look at all means of acceleration, it would be extremely challenging for anybody, you know, to actually recover back on that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So what would be the date?

MS. CROLL:  So I think in terms of the EA approval to not miss that season, we would be looking at October.  So we're anticipating a June-July type of approval date for the EA, so that gives us roughly three months of float in our schedule where we could still meet that clearing season.

Because our plan in the current schedule was to start September-October, if we had to delay into November-December, we would still be able to complete the clearing during that winter period.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  If you missed that full first season, so lets say the approval comes from -- I don't know, pick a date.

MS. CROLL:  December.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Pick a date beyond that even.  So it would be like the end of the winter in 2020.  Is that right?  Yes, the end of the winter of 2020, right?

If that was when the EA approval came, then no, we wouldn't be able to still maintain the in-service date.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm getting two different answers, because I thought if we do it a six-month delay, we can accelerate and we'll get the same in-service...

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just heard three months and now it was, I think, some other timeline so.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Okay, maybe I can clarify -- and  dive in here if I'm...

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm looking for a month.  What is the month and year that you will not meet your December -- reasonably meet your December 2021 date?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  If we had EA approval after the winter, as in if you come in in March, February-March of 2020, we would lose that first season, and we would not be able to, at that point, reasonably meet the 2021 date.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So March what is what?  Nine, ten months from your schedule, and you can still meet the in-service addition with a ten-month delay in the environmental assessment?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  There would be additional costs associated with doing so -- no no, hang on.  I said if we actually got the EA, right, by the March of 2020, that means we've lost that winter clearing of 19/20, then we would not be able to make in-service date.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But in February, you still would be able to?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  No, no.  What -- no.  I mean, one month of clearing is effectively losing the season.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So what month and year, if you get EA, it is now -- there's a delay of some amount.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Mm hmm.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What is that date and year, month and year?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  I'd say December, subject to verification.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you.

Mr. Spencer, you said a six-month delay would cost about $5 million more, but we could sort of speed up the process.

Is that -- would a three month be two and a half million?  Is that sort of a linear calculation?

MR. SPENCER:  No, let me clarify, if I may.  So we're talking the same dimension here in time, so approximately the six months.

What the -- the six-month delay would have a approximately $5 million impact on largely interest during construction in that CWIP, up to that point, is carried for a longer period of time.

And I didn't speak to it specifically, but there is an acceleration payment, an acceleration cost of approximately $15 million that would be managed between Hydro One and SNC-Lavalin as our fixed-price contractor.

So the sum of those two together, if I may clarify, it's closer to a $20 million incremental cost that would be absorbed within our existing contingency and terms within our fixed-price EPC contract.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you have a contingency amount built into the cost.  Do you have a scheduled contingency amount in the overall project schedule?

MR. SPENCER:  So I'm not -- maybe if you can restate the question so I understand it, please.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand you have a contingency amount in the budget; that's pretty standard.

MR. SPENCER:  Dollar wise.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You also have a contingency amount in the project schedule.  That also -- I've seen many times.  What is the contingency in the schedule?

MR. SPENCER:  Without any alteration to -- substantial alteration to construction plans, which is different than the situation that Mr. Karunakaran was talking to, we have a total of four months scheduled float, approximately two months relative to our planned EA approval date and construction start and approximately two months within our overall planned construction timeline.

Now, if we're getting into all these other typical scenarios, what if this and what if that, we acknowledge that we would have to undertake changes to our construction plan in terms of sequencing and, you know, manoeuvring of our crews appropriately, and that's where some of those incremental costs are in fact coming from.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In respect to your evidence, you provide some correspondence between Hydro One and various entities.

I'm going to ask you the same undertaking I asked NextBridge yesterday, if you can provide all copies of correspondence between Hydro One, MOECC, the Ministry of Energy, Ministry of Natural Resources, Parks Canada, the IESO, the OEB, or any other government entities that are not included in your evidence or not contained in the other undertakings that you've already given today with respect to your Lake Superior project, would you undertake to do that?

MR. WARREN:  Well, Mr. Rubenstein, we'll undertake to look to see if there are any additional ones, and if they are, we'll provide them.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's fine, thank you.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That would be JT2.17, copies of correspondence between Hydro One, MOECC, MNRF, IESO, and other government agencies regarding the proposed LSL project.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.17:  HONI TO PROVIDE COPIES OF CORRESPONDENCE BETWEEN HYDRO ONE, MOECC, MNRF, IESO, AND OTHER GOVERNMENT AGENCIES REGARDING THE PROPOSED LSL PROJECT.

MS. LEA:  What was the number again?

MS. CRNOJACKI:  This is JT2.17.

MS. LEA:  17.  Thank you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, I understand you've also -- you filed an application docketed EB-2017-194, and that's regarding supporting station work needed for NextBridge's project; do I have that correct?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my understanding is the cost for that project is about $157 million?  Do I have that right?

MR. SPENCER:  That is correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If your proposal is approved and not NextBridge's, will there will be any changes to that application?  Does any work need to be done differently?

MR. SPENCER:  No.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if your project is approved, would the timeline with respect to that application change?

MR. SPENCER:  There is no envisioned change to the project.  The planned completion date within that application is December 2020.  We are -- to your next question, we are, in fact, on track to maintain that schedule as of today.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, but would you maintain it if, you know, your project isn't forecast to go in-service for another year?  Would you maintain that same schedule?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes, we are treating that project independently from the transmission line portion.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right, let me sort of start from the top here about your project here.  Can you help me understand:  When did you first determine that you were going to bring or you would consider bringing your own leave to construct project --


MR. SPENCER:  Just to clarify, we are back on 0364?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yeah, with respect to the East-West Tie line.

MR. SPENCER:  So the chronology is important, so thank you for raising it.  We've been, of course, since the designation process interested in this project, no doubt.  And early in 2017 we were originally planning to file our station section 92 application in the proceeding you referenced.  For reasons that weren't immediately clear to us at the time, there were delays requested from NextBridge to allow additional time.  We always agreed that we would submit our section 92 an applications on the same day, which ultimately we did on July 31st, but early in the year we were asked to slow, and hold, I should say.

So around that time we didn't take any active pursuit of this project, but as time lapsed, we certainly became attuned to the fact that there was potential that there could be a substantial change that was causing the delay, so in and around the end of March we, in fact, informed NextBridge that -- not to share any potentially sensitive or confidential information with us, as it pertained to the transmission line application either on schedule or cost or anything of the like, and the fact that we might be a competitor.  And we informed them by e-mail, and Ms. Tidmarsh, who is of course very involved in the project, was a recipient to that as well.

You know, months proceed.  On July 31st, once the leave to construct application was submitted to the Board for the, you know, the sum total of development construction of 777 million, we knew that any of the feasibility studies we had conducted up to that point, we knew we certainly had an application that we felt compelled to bring forward to the Board for consideration.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.

MR. SPENCER:  September 14th we in fact submitted a letter to the IESO, who by that point had already been under the Minister's direction to revisit the need of the project, just to make sure it was, in fact, the right investment for Ontario.  Ultimately, we filed our leave to construct application in February 2015 -- sorry, February 2018, consistent with the work we had done over the preceding months to be in a position of readiness to offer substantial value both in capital savings and in ongoing maintenance cost for ratepayers of Ontario.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Let me break that down.  So as I take it, something triggered your view in, I believe it was -- maybe I misread this -- March of 2018, and that you may want to bring a competing application --


MR. KARUNAKARAN:  2017.  2017

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Oh, 2017, that you may bring a competing application unless you informed NextBridge to not share any confidential information.

MR. SPENCER:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you provide the correspondence that you provided to NextBridge?

MR. SPENCER:  We can do that via undertaking, yes.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Okay, that is JT2.18, Hydro One to provide correspondence with NextBridge where they informed them about planning to file the application for LSL.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.18:  HYDRO ONE TO PROVIDE CORRESPONDENCE WITH NEXTBRIDGE WHERE THEY INFORMED THEM ABOUT PLANNING TO FILE THE APPLICATION FOR LSL.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What triggered -- can you help me understand what triggered that view at that time?

MR. SPENCER:  As I previously mentioned, there was a delay that we just honestly didn't understand what the causal factors were, and I think through last week's technical conference and testimony of -- from the NextBridge panel, I think all participants now have a more clear understanding of their time, but we did of course undertake some preliminary feasibility studies, revisiting our assumptions previously made in the designation process, putting on a new hat and looking at things through new lenses, and this was around the same time that we formed a conversation with SNC-Lavalin to understand what could potentially be possible here.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm not entirely clear what -- you mentioned there was a delay and you thought because there was a delay something must be up?  Is...

MR. SPENCER:  Essentially, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And then you did some additional feasibility work updating, I guess, other work that you had previously done?  I mean, did I get that correct?

MR. SPENCER:  A combination of work previously done in years gone by, as well as bringing the joint expertise of our two organizations of Hydro One and SNC-Lavalin, to see if there are any new potential solutions to this transmission project.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you help me understand -- I'm not an engineer and I don't work for Hydro One -- when you are talking about feasibility studies, what are we actually talking about?  What type of work were you undertaking?

MR. SPENCER:  I mean, we both have a strong engineering character as part of our organizational culture, and so bringing a combination of the engineering perspective from SNC-Lavalin and Hydro One together, it is everything from whiteboard activities, to brainstorming of alternative technical solutions, some of which of course found their way into our ultimate application, and looking at things primarily, I'd say, from an engineering lens to understand what the possibilities might be for ultimately the quad-circuit tower, as well as a potential more optimized and more efficient transmission line, design, and construction.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And then you sent a letter to the IESO in September -- on September 14th, correct, informing them that you're planning to bring your own application?

MR. SPENCER:  That is correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What was the point of that?  Was that to initiate the SIA or...

MR. SPENCER:  No, it was largely a courtesy e-mail to the IESO.  Keep in mind at that point they had, in fact, already begun work on the revised needs assessment, so just making sure that they knew we had an expressed interest in this project.

I believe in the same letter we did request an opportunity to sit down with the IESO and explain our preliminary findings, to which they graciously declined because they were in the midst of taking their own studies and I suspect wanted to remain unbiased.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  I'm not going to ask for that because I assume that would be covered under JT2-point -- I can't read my own writing here, but the previous undertaking that was given.

MR. SPENCER:  We'll certainly incorporate that letter into that undertaking response.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What was the points where the -- maybe you could tell me two things.  When and what is the -- who makes the final decision on Hydro One to go forward?  Is that a board decision?  Is that a senior management decision?  Who's the sort of red light, green light on the leave to construct?

MR. SPENCER:  So we did seek the approval of our board of directors to -- for the strategic content of the LTC application.  We don't normally submit to our board a request to file a leave to construct.  This project, however, was not part of our business plan, which the board had previously reviewed and approved, so we treated this as an exceptional circumstance and shared with them our intent to put a section 92 application together as well as ultimately seeking their approval for the content within, which they did provide.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  When was that?  What's the timeline on that?  When did you seek their strategic direction?

MR. SPENCER:  So we first informed them of our intent in a November board meeting.  We sought approval in a December board meeting -- December 8th, to be specific -- and ultimately their approval was received on February 13th of 2018.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  So not until November -- so after you had sent the letter to the IESO and after you had sent a letter to the board is when you got the board approval, your board approval?  I mean -- sorry, let me rephrase this.

After you had sent the letter to the IESO and you had sent the letter to this Board telling them that you were going to file a leave to construct application --


MS. LEA:  You are fading out a little bit.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I believe that date is September 22nd, it was not until November that you got -- you asked for strategic direction from your board of directors?

MR. SPENCER:  And to be clear, I was answering your question earlier on, who is the ultimate approval authority.

Long before we took materials to our board for approval, we had our executive engaged, including members of our leadership team.  So we certainly had governance and oversight throughout the process to ensure that we were approaching this appropriately.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are you able to provide -- I'm not sure -- well, let me back you have here.

Was there a business case developed for your senior management team, or a similar type of analysis and documentation when you were -- that at least they're signing off on?

MR. SPENCER:  We do have a signed approved business case for the development phase of this project.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you please provide that?

MR. SPENCER:  We can do that in an undertaking, yes.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  JT2.19, Hydro One to provide a copy of a business case on the LSL project that they presented to the management team.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.19:  HYDRO ONE TO PROVIDE A COPY OF A BUSINESS CASE ON THE LSL PROJECT THAT THEY PRESENTED TO THE MANAGEMENT TEAM

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then I'd also ask you to provide the materials that you provided to the board of directors with respect to this project.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That would be the same undertaking?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right. Thank you very much.

MR. WARREN:  Sorry, is that included in the same undertaking?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, I think we can include that in the same undertaking, please.

If I can you to turn to NextBridge's evidence, appendix 1 -- attachment 1, appendix 1.

This is that letter that you provided to this Board on September 22nd and in this letter, in the third paragraph, it says:
"Dependent upon the IESO's updated need assessment, Hydro One is prepared to submit a leave to construct application, which will include a not-to-exceed price by December of this year."

Do you see that?

MR. SPENCER:  I do see that, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Does your application include a not-to-exceed price?

MR. SPENCER:  No, it does not.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Why the change?

MR. SPENCER:  So if I may, our section 92 submission, as is, does in fact contain 85 percent of the cost as part of a fixed-price contract with SNC-Lavalin.

But just to digress for a second, ultimately, when we looked at our -- I will generally call it a value proposition around what we brought to the board for consideration, we felt strongly confident in our abilities, both on the savings on the capital construction and development costs, as well as the ongoing savings from an operations, maintenance, and administration perspective.

No doubt I think we could all say this entire proceeding has some ambiguity around it, everything from environmental approvals to the OEB approval itself, and we didn't feel it was in fact helpful or necessary to include that fixed-price commitment.

Now, what we've done instead is we've ensured that our fixed-price contract with SNC-Lavalin is as robust and complete as possible from a risk mitigation to customers perspective.

So if I may, we're approximately 85 percent...

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm going to have lots of questions on that, so it's probably best to -- don't worry.

MS. LEA:  Mr. Rubenstein, we will need a break at some point, but I don't want to interrupt you at an inopportune moment.

If you can choose a time in the next 15 minutes to have a break, that would be great.  Thank you.

MR. SPENCER:  There is a key point that I wouldn't mind elaborating on in my last question.

So your question was essentially why did we not the come forward with a fixed price.  One of the key considerations was the fact that we had not undertaken full consultation with First Nation and Métis communities and one of the members of our board, who provided us guidance throughout this process, she felt that was an unclear risk, given that we had not yet had those conversations.

So she encouraged us to continue to follow our normal practices, and ensure that we have appropriate time to engage and consult.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, I read your application and most of your motion evidence, and this is my -- what I'm taking away from it.

Essentially the rationale for why Hydro One -- one of the big reasons for why Hydro One should be selected to ultimately build the line instead of NextBridge is ultimately you can do it more cost effectively.

I think, based on your calculations at least, you find the difference of, I believe, 140 million if you go through the park, and I believe your evidence is if it's the same route, it's about $100 million difference.

D do I have that -- am I correct?

MR. SPENCER:  order of magnitude, yes, you're correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand your calculation of the $140 million as essentially you've taken your construction and your development costs and you're comparing it to their construction costs.  Do I have that correct?

MR. SPENCER:  That is correct.  The piece that sometimes causes the delta to go between 120 and 140 million, just for clarification, is the piece of the NextBridge development costs beyond the original approved amount in the designation application, so that's approximately $17 million.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  I would like to compare, just for our discussion, the apples and apples, which is just construction cost.  Let's sort of leave the development; I understand that part.

And I get from get from your evidence -- and I as I read your evidence, there is a proposal based on your preferred route, which is through the park as we've discussed, is $624,000,000; do I have that right?

MR. SPENCER:  That's correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What I don't find in the evidence is essentially a similar calculation for the -- what I would call the NextBridge route that you use for the -- as part of your $100 million calculation, and I'm trying to match those two numbers up.

MR. SPENCER:  So I believe we provided summary level information in our -- subject to check, I believe it's page 5 of our May 7th evidence talking to the 40 million.  But we did not provide specific detail in our written evidence.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm going to ask you to undertake a few things.

The first is -- and I will just draw you to what I want specifically.  First, I will take you to your evidence at Exhibit B, table 7 -- sorry, tab 7, schedule 1.

MR. SPENCER:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me pull up this.  One second here.

So there is a table at table 3, so I think it's on page 5.  I'm going to ask you to undertake to replicate this table using what I will call the NextBridge route.  Are you able to do that?

MR. SPENCER:  The NextBridge route?  Yes, we can do that.

MS. LEA:  I'm sorry, what table?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Table 3, page 5.  Are you able to do that?

MS. CRNOJACKI:  So would that be one undertaking?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  JT2.20; Hydro One to replicate the table 3.  It's in the additional evidence filed?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It's in their application.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  In the application on construction cost for the route proposed by the NextBridge in their application.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.20:  HYDRO ONE TO REPLICATE TABLE 3 IN THE ADDITIONAL EVIDENCE TO THE APPLICATION ON CONSTRUCTION COST FOR THE ROUTE PROPOSED BY NEXTBRIDGE

MR. SPENCER:  We can do that, and I think you can understand, Mr. Rubenstein, we're obviously that we are going have to make certain assumptions in our cost estimation, because we haven't fully engineered that solution to the same level of detail that we have here.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Please outlined those assumptions you're making.

MR. SPENCER:  We will do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  On table 2, which is two pages earlier, there is a development budget.  Does that development budget change depending on the route in a material way?  You know, every dollar I assume is...

MR. SPENCER:  Not in a material way, but some minor changes, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I can ask you -- and I've asked you to pull up from NextBridge's application interrogatory CCC 8.

So this is a table using different categorizations as yours.  What I'd ask you to do and just for sort of background there is further explanation of what those categories are in the -- NextBridge's updated evidence that they filed, I believe, in March of this year.

I was wondering if you could provide, on the same basis as NextBridge so we can look at them apples to apples here, same categories, both your current proposal, the current proposal route, and the, what I would call the NextBridge route, using Hydro One's assumptions and numbers?  Are you able to do that?

MR. SPENCER:  We can certainly undertake to provide that, yes.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That would be Undertaking JT2.21, Hydro One to provide construction cost estimates for the route provided -- proposed by NextBridge in EB-2017-0182 using the same cost categories as in table 2 in Hydro One's response to CCC 8 in the updated --


MS. LEA:  I think it was the NextBridge route and the preferred route from Hydro One.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Both NextBridge route and preferred route --
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.21:  HYDRO ONE TO PROVIDE CONSTRUCTION COST ESTIMATES FOR THE ROUTE PROPOSED BY NEXTBRIDGE IN EB-2017-0182 USING THE SAME COST CATEGORIES AS IN TABLE 2 IN HYDRO ONE'S RESPONSE TO CCC 8, BOTH NEXTBRIDGE ROUTE AND PREFERRED ROUTE.  ALSO, TO PROVIDE VARIANCE EXPLANATIONS FOR SUBSTANTIAL DIFFERENCES.

MR. SPENCER:  Just to elaborate on the undertaking slightly.  We will also provide variance explanations for substantial differences.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Including variance explanations.

MR. SPENCER:  I am prepared to speak to a few of them now if you're interested, or we can take --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let's take a break.

[Laughter]

MS. LEA:  That is fine then.  We'll return in 15 minutes, please.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 3:13 p.m.

--- Upon resuming at 3:37 p.m.

MS. LEA:  Thank you, we're back.  I think, Mr. Rubenstein, you still have some questions.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, I just want to clarify undertaking JT17.  This is the one that was given with respect to correspondence, just so we're not -- 10,000 documents aren't being declared.

I'm seeking what I will call material substantive correspondence, not scheduling emails, you know, the type that we see throughout the application where people are providing formal correspondence, and it doesn't need to be formal.

I mean, sometimes I write correspondence and emails that are substantive.  It's that sort of information I am looking for, so we have a complete record.  And as well, recognizing the date of the hearing that's proportionate to what can be done within the time limitations that we have, just to clarify.

MS. LEA:  Fair enough.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  I want to ask you -- back to the main show here, I want to ask you with respect to the cost estimate that you have.

And maybe the best thing, just so we have the it in front of us, the evidence we were looking at earlier at -- I don't recall where I was -- in your applications, I believe, at Exhibit B -- I apologize, B, tab 11, schedule 1 -- no, that's the schedule.  I'm sorry, B7.

MR. SPENCER:  Tab 7?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Schedule 1, page 5.  Maybe we can just sort of have that in the background for this discussion.

I want to understand how you derived this budget.  Can you help me understand what -- how you came up with the construction cost budget?

MR. SPENCER:  Sure.  I'll discuss from a general sense, and ask Mr. Karunakaran to speak to the specifics.

But 85 percent of these costs are in fact part of our fixed price contract with SNC-Lavalin.  So, you know, construction, site clearing and prep, material, project management, engineering, most of those items are in fact all within the scope of the SNC-Lavalin.

So we worked together with them to define the requirements for the project, and then SNC-Lavalin developed the specific detail of these underlying line items, and specifically the ones I mentioned around construction, site clearing, remediation material and others.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the contract with -- well, let me back up.

How did you -- how did the partnership with SNC-Lavalin begin?  Was there an RFP, RFQ, some sort of competitive process, or through some other basis?

MR. SPENCER:  So SNC-Lavalin is one of our pre-qualified engineering partners and EPC partners.  Specifically on EPC, we have two.  The other firm was conflicted on this particular case because they've worked previously with NextBridge, so they did not -- were unable to participate with us, but we worked directly with SNC-Lavalin on this project.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I understand from the schedule that you don't actually have a -- or you weren't scheduled to have a signed contract at this point.  What is the status of the contract with SNC-Lavalin?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  So we do have a memorandum of understanding between the two parties, and through the development of the works that we've been doing and the development of the estimate and the offer, we've negotiated an EPC contract as well and that's in an executable version.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you signed -- I missed that last Part.  So you actually have an executed EPC contract?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  It is not executed.  It is an executable version.

MR. SPENCER:  We would only execute if we were successful in the section 92 proceeding.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm trying to avoid asking for the full contract; it's very detailed.

Is the memorandum of agreement substantially similar in terms of the terms as the executable version, or is it actually -- was there some...

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  The memorandum of understanding sets out the works and so forth that we would be doing and have done as part of the development of the offer and the development of the section 92 application.

The EPC contract would actually cover what it is we would be doing if our section 92 application is successful in moving forward with the project.

I mean we -- if you are looking for a copy of that, I mean, subject to the commercial sensitivities that are in there that we would need to protect, we would give you the -- an undertaking to provide that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I guess I'm going to have to ask for the contract.  Can you undertake that, subject to whatever confidentiality provisions you seek are necessary?

MR. WARREN:  Sorry, the undertaking is with respect it the memorandum of understanding or the EPC contract?

MS. LEA:  I'm having trouble hearing all of you.

MS. CROLL:  So are we.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Late in the afternoon.

MS. LEA:  Late in the afternoon, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The blinds are closed.  I don't know where I am.

MR. WARREN:  Feel free to leave, Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. LAVAEE:  That would be JT2.22, Hydro One to provide the EPC contract between Hydro One and SNC-Lavalin.

MR. WARREN:  I just want to make it clear that what we provide will be redacted to remove any commercially sensitive information.

MR. LAVAEE:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.22:  HYDRO ONE TO PROVIDE THE EPC CONTRACT BETWEEN HYDRO ONE AND SNC-LAVALIN, REDACTED TO REMOVE ANY COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE INFORMATION

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I am trying to think if there is a better way of doing this.

Is there some way to have sort of a summary of the significant -- these contracts are voluminous and a lot of it is sort of boilerplate, not necessarily of interest to the Board or the parties.

I am trying to understand if there is sort of a summary of the contract, or if one can be created in a timely fashion that sets out the price, essentially the cost, what is fixed, what is not, when can things change, when can they not -- those terms that are obviously of interest to the Board instead of the full contract.

And if not, I guess not.

MR. WARREN:  I think, Mr. Rubenstein, we will provide you with the redacted version of the contract and then you can decide what it is you think is important, rather than putting us to the work of deciding that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.

MR. LAVAEE:  Is that the same undertaking?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, that's the same undertaking.

MR. SPENCER:  If it is helpful, there are a few elements we can speak to today.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are you able to provide the price, like the overall cost of the contract?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What is that?

MR. SPENCER:  Approximately $546 million.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that's fixed price?  Is the entire contract fixed price, or is it only certain components?

MR. SPENCER:  The entire amount is a fixed price.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, with respect to -- we were talking earlier on with respect to when you made -- you have taken the position that if you have done -- if Hydro One undertook the NextBridge route, you would be able to do it at a cheaper amount, essentially.

And I'm I assuming that you didn't have a correct with SNC to use the NextBridge route as an alternative -- or do you?

MR. SPENCER:  Just for clarification, page 5 of our May 7th evidence was there to indicate that it is not just the shorter route that brings substantial value with the Hydro One proposal.  So we do not have that same level of detail that we've presented within our evidence, or within our EPC contract around the so-called NextBridge route.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I take it -- is the NextBridge route contained within that EPC contract at all?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Well, there is a substantial portion of the Lake Superior link route that would be the same as what the NextBridge route is.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Fair enough.  The difference, I guess.  Is there sort of an option that says, well, if we have to use this route, the total cost will be this?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  It's being provided as an indicatory position, but not as part of the fixed price.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are you -- so is Hydro One able to provide what they believe the -- recognizing that there is no actual contract for that amount, what the value of that contract would be if you were using the NextBridge route?

So, in terms of your providing as an earlier undertaking the budget breakdown based on making a number of assumptions with respect to the NextBridge route, are you able to do a similar thing to tell us what the value of the contract would be?

MR. SPENCER:  I mean, functionally the scope of the EPC contract -- this is a little bit different than NextBridge, but it is in fact all engineering, procurement and construction activities.

So I would suggest that we have the ability to project what that contract could look like.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you do that?

MR. SPENCER:  We can, yes.

MR. LAVAEE:  That would be JT2.23.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.23  TO ESTIMATE THE VALUE OF contract FOLLOWING THE NEXTBRIDGE ROUTE


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, with respect to where you are currently in the design process, what AACE -- I believe that's the acronym -- class are you with respect to the design?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  It's -- subject to check, it will be an AACE Class 3 estimate.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And based on your current schedule, when would you expect to be a Class 2?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Around October of this year.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.

So you've obviously had an opportunity to look at the NextBridge application, and you participated in their technical conference, you've reviewed their application.  I believe at a high level I understand the position -- you will be providing a variance analysis, but can you help us understand why are you guys able to do it so much more cost-effectively?

MR. SPENCER:  Sure, we can speak to it, and some of the details will follow in the undertaking we spoke of earlier.

A portion of the savings are no doubt a function of our optimized route through Pukaskwa, taking approximately 50 kilometres off the overall line length, but actually, the largest differences -- I'll bucket them as follows, and just to have an understanding of the NextBridge costs, these are as reflected in CCC 8.  But the largest portion of the difference is about $40 million of contingency, and the way the Lake Superior link project is built, most of our contingency is, in fact, managed within the fixed-price EPC contract where, in the NextBridge case, they've moved that up.

Now, there may as well be some contingency that is embedded within the construction, the clearing, and other elements, but we can't see the details.  Perhaps those who have access to the confidential information would be able to, but we have a total of -- they have a total of $50 million contingency within their leave to construct and Hydro One has 10 that's managed at the same level of detail and about 55 which is managed within the EPC contract with fixed-price terms.

The other substantial difference is in material cost.  And so this is where the route optimization through Pukaskwa delivers significant benefit, and we've done the approximation. It is approximately $17 million worth of reduced material costs, steel, conductor, shield, wire, those types of materials.

The route length, just in terms of -- sorry, the optimized tower design -- sorry, we'll retrace.  The optimized tower design that SNC-Lavalin and Hydro One have designed here is substantially more efficient from an engineering perspective, and that reduced steel weight, without compromising reliability in any way, is effectively a $17 million savings.  The shorter route length through Pukaskwa is approximately $10 million of savings, and our approach to procurement of materials, specifically steel, for the lattice towers, we will be procuring this on a global purchasing basis, where our understanding is NextBridge is most likely, although we're not certain, most likely sourcing within North American markets, which are potentially subject to other costs and tariffs and the like, so that global purchasing power that we have with overseas suppliers adds about another $7 million of value.

So just to summarize, the contingency in the material differences I just spoke to together are about 70- to $75 million of the cost savings, using the same structure as in CCC 8.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Did SNC bid into the NextBridge RFP?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  No, we did not.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, there was a discussion earlier today, you were asked about the amount of towers that would need to be -- that you would be replacing with towers that would now be -- that would support a quad circuit through the park; do you remember that discussion?  I think there was 87 towers was the number?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my understanding is the original towers have been there since, I think, the 1960s since they were first installed; do I have that correct?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Approximately, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  When would those towers have had to have been replaced in the normal course, if there was no new project, but, you know, they had reached their end of life and you needed to replace them; when would that have roughly occurred?

MR. SPENCER:  I don't have the exact figure, but on average our towers -- it's not uncommon for them to be in-service for 70, 80, 90, 100 years.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you very much.

Now, with respect to the development budget, correct that you are estimating -- and we can see this on the left table, I guess, on the screen, if you go up on -- in that Adobe, go up two pages.

You're forecasting to correct $12,215,000, correct?

MR. SPENCER:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that's based on being able to utilize the NextBridge -- certain NextBridge EA information, correct?

MR. SPENCER:  So the costs associated for environmental consultations with -- assume that we have to do additional studies for the portion of the LSL route which do not follow NextBridge, so largely Pukaskwa and the approaches to Pukaskwa.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, if you were -- if the -- as I asked earlier in another -- with regards to another issue, if the MOECC said, no, you need to start from scratch, what would be the increase in the development cost to do all those studies that NextBridge had done that you now wouldn't be able to rely on?

MR. SPENCER:  We haven't contemplated that scenario.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you give me just a ballpark?  What are we talking about here?

MS. CROLL:  I don't think we can say right now.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Would you undertake to do sort of a general -- to give me a ballpark view of what the additional costs would be?

MR. WARREN:  You know, the answer would be speculative, as I understand it.  We would simply have no way of estimating that at this point.

MS. CROLL:  Yeah.

MR. WARREN:  Any number that you would get from us would be a speculative number and therefore a diminished value.  Do you still want to come up with a speculative number?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I mean, they are all forecast numbers.  We are utilizing a lot of forecast numbers.  I am just trying to get a sense of if we're talking about an extra -- is that going to double, is that going to triple, is it only -- you have the experience doing these
studies --


MS. CROLL:  Right.  So our forecast number right now is for a scoped-out project and studies on an 89-kilometre new section of line, not a 400-kilometre corridor.  We just simply haven't done that prep work.  I couldn't give you a very accurate estimate of that.  I don't think it would be meaningful.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And with respect to the development costs, are you currently recording those in your East-West Tie deferral account?

MR. SPENCER:  Sorry, are you referring for the deferral account associated with the station project?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, my understanding -- and I don't know the exact scope of this -- my understanding, you were previously deferred in East-West Tie deferral account which was -- under the assumption you also had to do work.  Are you recording the development costs in that --


MR. YOUNG:  The development cost for the Lake Superior link is not being recorded in the deferral account.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  And if ultimately the Board dismisses -- sorry, approves the NextBridge motion and dismisses your application, would you seek recovery -- I assume not, if you are not recording the amount of the --


MR. SPENCER:  We would not.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And would you seek to -- and as I understand, inside the account is not just -- and maybe I'm incorrect about this.  You can correct me -- in the current deferral account is costs not just with respect to the station work that you are doing, but other work you may need to do with respect to NextBridge in the preparation of their project; am I correct about that?  Coordination and other sorts of things?

MR. YOUNG:  Well, the intent of the deferral account is to perform all the work, including part of the station work and I assumed some of the coordination work with NextBridge, but it is intended for the -- for the East-West Tie project.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if ultimately your project is approved, NextBridge's project is dismissed, would you seek to recover the portion of that account that relates to coordination costs?

So essentially costs that you would not otherwise have incurred if it was not Hydro One building the line?


[Witness panel confers]

MR. SPENCER:  Admittedly, Mr. Rubenstein, members of this panel are not exactly sure of the correct regulatory treatment of those costs, so we have to answer that via...

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's, fine if you would.  And I would also ask if that amount that may be in that account that relates no those costs, if you could provide that in that same undertaking if they can could be broken out.

MR. SPENCER:  I can assure you we're collecting the costs separately below the deferral account between support to the NextBridge line application and the Hydro One station application.

MR. LAVAEE:  So that will be JT2.24.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.24:  TO SHOW AND BREAK OUT THE COSTS IN THE DEFERRAL ACCOUNT SOUGHT TO BE RECOVERED SHOULD THE NEXTBRIDGE PROJECT BE DISMISSED

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me clarify.  Then I'd ask not just to respond, but to just provide those two numbers that you have as of now, that you've recorded, broken out in those two ways that you say you are recording it.

MR. SPENCER:  We don't have them.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, by way of undertaking, as part of that undertaking.

MR. SPENCER:  Fair enough.

MR. LAVAEE:  So that will be JT2.24.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I want to turn to a couple of last questions returning to some of the discussion that happened yesterday with some of the NextBridge experts.

I want to discuss first the discussion that was had with Mr. Pietrewicz -- and I apologize if he's listening in for how I just pronounced that.

I understood from him -- I brought him to his report and asked him questions, and there was some discussion earlier about this today about essentially the capacity shortfall.  And I put to him that it appears only that the difference between the in-service dates was about an additional 20 megawatts of capacity shortfall.

And his response, in part, was there's also a risk that also exists that there's -- that the system needs to be able to deal with for another year.

And I was wondering if you could provide your response, did you have any thoughts with respect to what he was talking about yesterday in that regard?

MR. YOUNG:  Well, I think what he was saying is that when you are in a capacity shortfall, the system could be at risk.  But our perspective on that is that you have to take a look at how significant is that risk.  And when you look at the previous studies done by the IESO, it seems to indicate that with a capacity shortfall of the order of 300 megawatts, that the system was quite manageable to the point of recommending a deferral of the in-service date for two years to pursue more cost effective alternatives.

So from that perspective, yes, it may be a year, but the risk level between 240 megawatts -- and actually 2021, if you do the eyeball thing, is actually 250 megawatts.  For all intents and purposes, it is almost similar in terms of the potential risk level.

We believe that overall, it's probably low risk because the capacity shortfall, as we understand it, is computed with a number of very conservative planning assumptions, which is entirely appropriate from a planning perspective when you are looking at a project for 40, 50, 60 years.

But when you're looking at a much shorter timeframe of three to four years, the likelihood of all those conservative factors actually showing up in that period is a lot lower.  And if they do show up, it's debatable as to potentially what that shortfall might be in that period.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So he seemed to -- and I accept this that either one year or if it's two years, whatever the gap between the two projects projected in-service dates will be, that there will be a cost because the IESO will have to procure other resources or manage...

MR. YOUNG:  Only if the shortfall actually shows up.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let's just assume that the numbers are correct and the shortfall does, there would be some other costs to the system.

Can you help us ballpark?  What are we talking about in terms of the additional cost to the system in those years?  What is the magnitude we are talking about here?

MR. YOUNG:  Unfortunately, I can only talk in generalities.  I don't have line of site to the forecasts and resources, and what their cost might be.

What I would say is that the cost difference would be the difference in the cost for the replacement generation. So if you didn't have the east-west tie available at that level, and you couldn't -- in order to supply the northwest, and you needed it, so in lieu of the generation that might have been elsewhere in the province of Ontario to supply the northwest, you may -- just as an example, let's say you needed to procure it from Manitoba, then it would be the price difference in that resource, whatever that is for the amount of time for which you might be deficient.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are we talking about a few million dollars, tens of millions of dollars, a hundred million dollars?

MR. YOUNG:  It would all depend on the energy, right, and Hydro One doesn't have the information or the models to provide that kind of forecasting.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I turn to your evidence at page 20 -- sorry, this is the motion evidence, page 20, and you were brought to this.  This is a table showing the incremental capacity requirements.

So is it fair if I read this table, in your view, to say 2024 is the real drop-dead period.  Something needs to be in place by that at the latest, because we see this big jump in the capacity price based on the forecast here at that point.

Is that a fair assumption for me to make, in your view?

MR. YOUNG:  Well, certainly it is a more significant increase in the capacity shortfall, and that coincides with the retirement of the Atikokan biomass facility.

But in terms of the relative impact on the system, I think I'd have to leave this to the IESO.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Lastly, yesterday, in the same conversation I had with Mr. Pietrewicz, I had asked him how long he thought a needs assessment would take if the Board had ordered one, or asked them to review the situation.  And he said to me -- and this is in the transcript.  He said to me, "Well, in the order of months, not days or weeks."

In your experience, does that sound correct, to take months, not days or weeks?

MR. YOUNG:  I think months might seem a little on the high end.  Exactly what is hard for me to say.  I think generally speaking, most of the information is there.  The models have been established.  The difference here is the difference in the cost of the transmission project and then, I suppose, rerunning their simulations with that information.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So say the Board in its motion decides it wants to -- it doesn't dismiss your application, because it wants to hear from the IESO.  It wants them to essentially rerun your proposed scenario or something similar, and understand the risk.

And so it takes a couple of months, and so then we're back here having a proceeding to look at both of the applications.

How does that affect your in-service dates and affect your project timeline?  Is there a time for your project for the IESO to do another run at the needs assessment to take into account your projects proposed -- your proposed project?

MR. SPENCER:  Independent of the potentially requested IESO needs assessment, our forecasted leave to construct approval date is in October of 2018.  So if there was no substantial change to that, we could still target a year end 2021 date, and just remind you earlier of the four months' float we had spoke to in our schedule.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you can move four months with respect to the leave to construct -- well, let's -- we talked earlier about the environmental assessment delays and how that pushed off the project, what the implications in regard to -- depending on delays.

With respect to leave to construct, when is essentially the latest leave to construct date that you can have without the project -- with the project coming in-service as proposed?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SPENCER:  Just consulted with my colleague here, and subject to verification, but we think approximately a three-month timeline would still be manageable, so that would -- just to be clear, November, December -- so that would be approximately -- yes, that would be an approval in December 2018.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And lastly, I mean, there is a lot of discussion about the December 2021.  That's your forecast in-service date.  But is it your view that the system requires that as an in-service date, or can that -- can it be pushed off?  Ultimately you actually can only bring the line in-service in, say, a year later or two years later; is that -- do you think that's still a reasonable in-service date?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  So just to be clear, we're still forecasting a completion date of December 2021 for our project, right?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand that, but for a whole host of reasons that say -- that doesn't occur, is it -- or the Board believes that it is just not -- they don't believe that that's possible, if the in-service today gets pushed out by, say, a year or two years, is it Hydro One's view that the project is still a good idea over the NextBridge project?

MR. SPENCER:  I don't think it's our place to say in this proceeding, in all honesty.  That's the function of the IESO.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MS. LEA:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.

Mr. Buonaguro.
Questions by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Good afternoon, panel.  I just have a couple of areas of questions, and mostly to reconcile my confusion on a couple things.

First, and following up on some of what Mr. Rubenstein was asking about, he asked you what class of estimate that the project would attract, and I believe the answer was Class 3?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that's in relation to the AACE standard, I guess is what you would call that?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I looked it up, and perhaps you can confirm, subject to check, that that would normally attract a variance inaccuracy of between -- at the very, very low end negative 20 percent and at the high end plus 30 percent?

MR. SPENCER:  So those are the defined bounds within the AACE framework for a Class 3 product.  Now, just to clarify, the classification system is a function of the underlying deliverables and their associated maturity.

So what is unique about our application, just to elaborate on that, is we've completed enough of the underlying work and simplified terms, let's call that engineering and cost estimation and risk assessment and the like, scheduled development, to feel confident about locking in at a fixed-price contract.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that's why I was asking, because everything up to that, in terms of your discussion with Mr. Rubenstein, suggested something tighter than that bound because of the fixed-price contract and such.

So if you were to translate what you were talking about with him into that accuracy range, what are we talking about?

MR. SPENCER:  We feel comfortable that our cost estimate is total development and construction cost together, $636 million, plus or minus approximately 6 percent.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That seems pretty specific.  Is that a calculation that you've already done with all the different factors?

MR. SPENCER:  So we looked at the analysis, considering how much of our construction contract is, in fact, bound by the fixed-price terms of the EPC contract, which is why -- the primary reason why that's so fixed, so we have done a preliminary calculation to inform that tolerance.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is that a calculation you can provide by way of undertaking?

MR. SPENCER:  We could provide that analysis, yes.

MR. LAVAEE:  That would be Undertaking JT2.25, that you want to provide analysis.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.25:  hydro one TO PROVIDE THE ANALYSIS THAT LED TO THE PRELIMINARY CALCULATION


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

And this is my secondary questions, and I think it should be relatively brief.  And I'm sorry, I don't have the exhibit number, but Mr. Stevens handed out a couple of documents, and the one I'm looking at has Interrogatory No. 6 from EB-2011-0140 on it, page 12 of 74.  And perhaps somebody can spit out the exhibit number for me --


MS. LEA:  Yeah, I think that was given an exhibit number earlier today because it wasn't on the record at this proceeding.

MR. BUONAGURO:  K2.1.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  KT2.1, I think.  Thank --


MS. LEA:  KT2.1.  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And so you have that handy?  I don't know who -- I guess it depends who has to read it.

I reference it because it -- this is obviously in the context of the designation proceeding, correct?

MR. SPENCER:  Understood, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And these interrogatory responses are discussing the relationship between East-West Tie LP and specifically BLP, right, in the context of the designation proceeding?

MR. SPENCER:  That's the correct context, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I won't get into the details of it.  What I'm interested in asking you about is what happened when -- and this is part of the answer we got this morning in terms of, BLP was partnered with East-West Tie LP -- I think that's the correct way of describing it -- in the designation proceeding, and this talks about three years of consultation leading up to that, and then obviously East-West Tie LP was not chosen as the designated transmitter for the purpose of the development cycle.

And I think the word that was used by the panel was "that was unfortunate".  Presumably that was the end of the relationship with BLP?

MS. GOULAIS:  I wouldn't say that was the end of the relationship with BLP.  The Hydro One's relationship with those communities outside of that -- outside of that partnership continued from a relationship's perspective and working with those communities on any other Hydro One-related projects.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Fair enough.  I didn't mean to be that broad when I said "end of the relationship".  I meant end of the relationship specific to this proposed project.

MS. GOULAIS:  The EWT LP?

MR. BUONAGURO:  With respect to the East-West Tie project or whatever else you want to call it depending on which applicant you are.

MS. GOULAIS:  Sorry, if you can ask the question again?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure --


MS. GOULAIS:  I just want to make sure I understand before I answer it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That's fine.  So what I'm trying to get at is, I'm curious, I'm interested to know what Hydro One communicated to BLP upon finding out that Hydro One was not -- through EWT LP was not going to be the designated transmitter; what was communicated to BLT with respect to the partnership that they had and Hydro One's involvement or non-involvement in the project going forward.

MS. GOULAIS:  I don't know what communication would have come from Hydro One, if any, to the Bamkushwada communities.  They would have been informed of the decision.  I don't know if there's a formal communication from Hydro One explaining what happens from there specifically in relation to that proceeding.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That's specifically what I'm interested in.  Could you take an undertaking to look into what was communicated to BLP upon Hydro One finding out that it was going not going to be the designated transmitter?

MR. WARREN:  Mr. Buonaguro, you are going to have to help at least me with what was communicated to them.  Are you looking to see whether or not there was some kind of formal "with regrets, we're now divorced" letter?  Are you looking for the informal communications back and forth in which both sides must have -- would have expressed their profound regrets?  I don't know what you are looking for.  I have to presume that there would have been many informal discussions between the parties about what happened, discussions about how bad the decision was, that sort of thing.  So can you just help me, Mr. Buonaguro, in particular help the panel, what is it you are looking for?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Any -- thank you.  I'm looking for how Hydro One characterized its role with respect to the East-West Tie, if any, going forward, as a result of the designation decision, because what we do know is that subsequent to the designation decision, BLP presumably ended up consulting with NextBridge and entered into a relationship which there's been a lot of evidence with respect to in this particular proceeding.

I want to know what their understanding from Hydro One was with respect to Hydro One's participation or non-participation in becoming a potential proponent of the transmission project, from the time that Hydro One found out it was not going to be the designated transmitter pursuant to the phase 2 decision.

MR. WARREN:  I'm sorry, at this late hour, to be this difficult, Mr. Buonaguro.  But again, I come back to the point. Are you looking for some letter that they sent?  Are you looking for -- I just -- I have no idea what it is you are looking for, both in terms of the substantive -- the medium of the communication and what was communicated.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, if there was a letter, then the undertaking was for a letter.  But I don't know what was communicated, if anything.

The answer might be we didn't talk about it at all and parties acted accordingly.  I suspect that's not the case.  I suspect there was  something a little more substantial than that, but that might be the case.

MR. WARREN:  The best we can do, Mr. Buonaguro, is we can undertake to see if there was a letter written by Hydro One Networks to BLP at the end of the designation proceeding, explaining what their future relationship would be, something like that.

We can undertake to look to see if that letter exists.  If so, we'll produce it, but that's as far as we can go.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That's exactly what I was asking for.  Thank you very much.  And those are my questions.

MR. LAVAEE:  That will be JT2.26.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.26:  HYDRO ONE TO SEE IF THERE WAS A LETTER WRITTEN BY HYDRO ONE NETWORKS TO BLP AT THE END OF THE DESIGNATION PROCEEDING, EXPLAINING WHAT THEIR FUTURE RELATIONSHIP WOULD BE

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  I Think, Mr. Adamson, you are up next.
Questions by Mr. Adamson:


MR. ADAMSON:  I have a few questions, I think likely for Ms. Croll.  But if anybody else wants to chime in, whether or not you can see me around the column.

Ms. Croll, this morning you mentioned that you had been reviewing what I believe is the page on the Ontario government's website that lists all the declaration orders that have been issued.

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MR. ADAMSON:  You are familiar with that page?

MS. CROLL:  I'm familiar with the page.

MR. ADAMSON:  And you had mentioned that you had found one recent declaration order that you said had been issued roughly one month after it was requested.

Do you recall what that order was, what the project Was?

MS. CROLL:  I believe it was the York Region sewer project.

MR. ADAMSON:  Okay.  So it was the York-Durham sewage system modification project?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.

MR. ADAMSON:  Did you have an opportunity to sort of drill down on the links in that page to see some of the background about that declaration order?

MS. CROLL:  No, I didn't review the full project.  I do know that that was one of the examples that MOECC staff gave us to look at, in terms of the type of documentation that may be required to submit a declaration order.

MR. ADAMSON:  Okay, so you're not -- maybe this much you can confirm.  What the document on the website says is that the request was submitted January 30th, 2018, and the decision -- the order was issued March 7th, 2018; does that sound about right?

MS. CROLL:  I don't have it in front of me.  I couldn't say.

MR. ADAMSON:  Okay, but you aren't aware of the background of this, where there was actually an ongoing environmental assessment and this declaration order was with respect to just one part of that ongoing environmental assessment?

MS. CROLL:  So to be clear, I'm not suggesting that our project could be approved in the same type of timeframe.  I'm merely making the observation that in the declaration order website, there are a number of examples of ranges of approvals, some of which are less than the range that MOECC staff suggested yesterday.

MR. ADAMSON:  Okay.  You weren't aware that the environmental assessment, of which this project that got a declaration order was one part, the terms of reference for it were submitted back in 2019?

MS. CROLL:  I haven't yet reviewed the details of that project.

MR. ADAMSON:  You also weren't aware that the terms of reference were approved in 2010?

MS. CROLL:  Again, I haven't reviewed the details of that project.

MR. ADAMSON:  So you weren't aware that the environmental assessment itself had actually been submitted and reviewed by the -- submitted in 2014?

MS. CROLL:  My answer would be the same.  I don't have the details of that approval in front of me at the moment.

MR. ADAMSON:  Okay.  So you'd agree, though, that in a scenario where there had been an environmental assessment approval process ongoing for, say, nine years, starting back in 2019 as background for a declaration order being issued for a part of that project, that's very different -- that puts a bit of a different spin on the one-month turnaround on getting that declaration order, doesn't it?

MS. CROLL:  I would suggest that this project has also had extensive environmental assessment activities for, as we've heard, approximately five years.

MR. ADAMSON:  By a different proponent?

MS. CROLL:  I think that what we're suggesting is that we would -- it's our position that we could use that information in the publicly available EA to help us complete our own individual EA, or to seek some sort of declaration order for an exemption to a certain portion of that.

I would suggest that although perhaps not in the electricity sector, there are other examples of projects being undertaken by third parties and -- sorry, EAs being undertaken by third parties and projects carried out by another party.

MR. ADAMSON:  Let's just come back to the basic point, though.

You are certainly not suggesting that a declaration order would be forthcoming in one month on this project?

MS. CROLL:  No, I'm not, thank you.

MS. COOPER:  I would like to clarify, Mr. Adamson, that what Ms. Croll said at the beginning was that she brought up that because the Ministry had referred her to that particular declaration order to access that on the website.

MR. ADAMSON:  You were referred to that very particular declaration order?  Is that your evidence?  Or were you referred to the website?

MS. CROLL:  We were referred verbally to that particular order.

MR. ADAMSON:  Okay.

MS. CROLL:  I would have to check my notes to see if there was anything in writing with regard to that.

MR. ADAMSON:  I believe what you said in your evidence was an example of the kind of information that would be required to get a declaration order, right.

MS. CROLL:  We were also referred to that as a recent example of a declaration order that had been issued.

MR. ADAMSON:  But you were also referred to it as an example of the kind of information that would be required to provide the basis for a declaration order, right?

I think that's what you said in your evidence just earlier.

MS. CROLL:  So in part, yes, to the type of process that would be followed in a declaration order, yes.

MR. ADAMSON:  Okay.  And have you looked at the kind of information that is public available that was provided by York Region in order to get that declaration order?

MS. CROLL:  No, I personally haven't reviewed all the information.  I know some of our staff have been reviewing that, and also other declaration orders.

MR. ADAMSON:  Do you have any sense of how extensive the information was that York Region provided in order to get that declaration order?

MS. CROLL:  As I said, I haven't personally reviewed all the information.

MR. ADAMSON:  Okay.  I want to ask you some questions about the evidence you gave this morning about the timing of submission of a request for declaration order.

You indicated -- and correct me if I'm mischaracterizing your evidence, but I think you said that you had changed your view as a result of the evidence you heard from the Ministry of the Environment yesterday about when Hydro One could submit for a declaration order, and that what you heard yesterday was that Hydro One could submit it before the NextBridge environmental assessment receives approval, and that that was new information for you.

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.

MR. ADAMSON:  So you would agree that what the Ministry of the Environment had previously advised Hydro One that in order to get a declaration order, there has to be some basis submitted to show that the proposal satisfies the statutory requirements, right?

MS. CROLL:  There are four criteria that are relevant, in my understanding, to whether or not a do would be considered, yes.

MR. ADAMSON:  And it was made clear to you that Hydro One can't sort of show up and say we satisfied the criteria.  There actually has to be some evidence submitted to demonstrate that, right?

MS. CROLL:  Yes, that's right.

MR. ADAMSON:  And you agree that Hydro One's position has been that it would rely on NextBridge's environmental assessment work as part of that basis?

MS. CROLL:  Are you referring to a declaration order?

MR. ADAMSON:  Yes, we're talking just about a declaration order right now.

MS. CROLL:  Right.  So part of the basis for our position that we could not submit a request for a declaration order was because we were verbally told in a meeting with MOECC that they wouldn't accept a request for a declaration order until the NextBridge EA was finalized, but I believe the testimony yesterday was different than that, if I'm not mistaken.

MR. ADAMSON:  Okay, let me -- I don't think that answers my question, though.

The reason MOECC was telling you that was because Hydro One had said we want to rely on the work NextBridge has done for its environmental assessment as part of the basis for getting a declaration order.

MS. CROLL:  It's possible, but we were also -- it is my understanding that declaration orders could also be issued with conditions, for example, conditional on an approval, perhaps, of NextBridge's EA.

MR. ADAMSON:  All right, so it's your position that Hydro One had not said our intention is to rely on NextBridge's environmental assessment work as part of the basis for getting a declaration order; that was not a position that Hydro One took with the Ministry of the Environment.

MS. CROLL:  We stated that we would intend to rely on NextBridge's information for either a declaration order or an individual EA.

MR. ADAMSON:  Okay.  So as I understand it, because of that position the Ministry of the Environment -- and correct me if I'm wrong, but the Ministry of the Environment and Climate Change's consistent position has been that reliance on NextBridge's environmental assessment would be premature until that environmental assessment is actually approved.  That's what the Ministry of the Environment has been telling Hydro One, right?

MS. CROLL:  I believe their specific instruction was that they would not accept a request for a declaration order until it was approved.  I suppose you could imply that that was the reason for that statement.

MR. ADAMSON:  All right.  Well, have you had an opportunity to read the transcript of what Mr. Evers said in his testimony yesterday?

MS. CROLL:  I haven't had a chance to reread it since yesterday.

MR. ADAMSON:  I'm going to suggest to you, and I'll read it to you in a moment, but I'm going to suggest to you that what he said yesterday is in no way different from what the Ministry of the Environment and Climate Change has consistently been communicated, so let me just -- and for the benefit of those people that have the transcript, we are starting at page 181, line 18, and this is where Mr. Murray was asking questions on behalf of OEB Staff -- OEB Staff of Mr. Evers, starting at line 18:
"And am I understanding from in your evidence is that be it the declaratory order, an exempting regulation, in either case Hydro One can't really apply for it until the NextBridge EA is complete.  Is that a correct understanding?"

And then Mr. Evers answers:
"No, they can he apply a requested declaration order or an exemption regulation, but from our understanding in the meetings that we participated in with Hydro One is that their request would be on the basis of using NextBridge's EA."

Mr. Murray asks a follow-up question:
"And so assuming that's the case, you wouldn't -- the ministry wouldn't likely be in a position to kind of consider the declaratory order exempting regulation until the NextBridge EA is completed.
"That's correct.  We'd have to wait for a decision on the minister's or minister's decision on the undertaking."

Does that differ from your understanding of what the Ministry of Environment and Climate Change had been -- previously been saying?

MS. CROLL:  I think the difference is that they were more specific yesterday, in that you could submit a declaration order based on -- you could submit one before NextBridge's EA was final, but the inference is it wouldn't have possibly merit until that EA was final.

Now, again, I'm not presupposing what MOECC might do, but the statement yesterday suggested that you could still at least submit a declaration order and potentially there could be some conditions placed on finalization of an EA.

I'm not suggesting we're planning to do that.  I'm just suggesting it seemed to be more available as an option compared to previous conversations we've had with MOECC.

MR. ADAMSON:  Okay, so maybe -- let's make sure we both understand Mr. Ever's evidence yesterday the same way, reading from the transcript here.  As I read what he's saying there, he's saying, "Yeah, Hydro One can submit it before the NextBridge environmental assessment is approved, but because Hydro One wants to rely on NextBridge's environmental assessment, it's not going to be of any assistance until that is approved."  That's what he's saying, right?

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MR. ADAMSON:  And am I right that that is what MOECC had been saying previously?

MS. CROLL:  From my previous answer, what they said was they wouldn't accept a request for a declaration order until the NextBridge EA was final.  They were not explicit in the reasoning for that.

MR. ADAMSON:  Okay.  So I guess the bottom line here, though, is, as long as we're all understanding what Mr. Evers said yesterday the same way, this is unlikely to have any impact on timing of a declaration order, is it, because either way Hydro One can't use NextBridge's environmental assessment work until it's actually approved, whether the application for the declaration order is submitted before or after, if the basis for that application is NextBridge's environmental assessment work, it's -- it can't be used until it's approved.  Either way.  Do you disagree with that?

MS. CROLL:  I agree it can't be used until it's approved.  What my suggestion was is that perhaps there's an option for a conditional type of measure, conditional upon that approval.  I'm not suggesting that's what would happen; I'm just suggesting that based on the information yesterday it appeared to be a possibility.

If I'm mistaken, I'm sure MOECC will let me know.

MR. ADAMSON:  Okay, well, I think MOECC's evidence is clear from the transcript.

Okay, just a couple more questions.

You were asked some questions this morning about the
-- Hydro One's sort of projected timetables for either completing an individual assessment or obtaining a declaration order, and the dates July 2019 and June 2019 were discussed; do you recall that?

MS. CROLL:  Yes, I do.

MR. ADAMSON:  And there was some discussion of whether those timelines had been -- and I believe undertakings were given about whether those timelines had been discussed with the Ministry of Environment and Climate Change.

I'm not too concerned about that, but the one thing I just want to make sure we're clear on is that in discussions at least that you've participated in with the Ministry of Environment and Climate Change, the Ministry of Environment and Climate Change's position about timing or likely timetable to completing an individual environmental assessment has remained consistent, hasn't it, that it's -- typically it's three to five years.

MS. CROLL:  That discussion that we had with MOECC did not include a timeline of three to five years, because this is not a typical project.  We did discuss the possibility of an expedited EA, given the amount of work that's been done.

I would also suggest that we discussed other projects completed by Hydro One, such as Bruce to Milton, where I can tell you this was a 180-kilometre, 500 kV line, where the timeline was much shorter than three to five years, and in that case no previous study had been done.

So as an example, in that case, just for the EA submission until Minister approval was actually less than one year.  That's the EA document submitted.  So that is --


MR. ADAMSON:  I heard -- sorry, the evidence I thought we heard was it was two years and four months.

MS. CROLL:  I was speaking about the EA submission compared to the Minister approval, not the entire process, so there was a terms of reference portion as well, which began with a submission in August of 2007.

MR. ADAMSON:  Okay.

MS. CROLL:  So my suggestion is that it is not always three to five years for an individual EA.  That may be typical, but often those projects stop and start, there are other delays.

In the case of this project there is a five-year history, and there is an exceptional amount of work already completed.  Even in our consideration of completing our own terms of reference, without even considering the possibility of using the existing terms of reference, which actually includes a preferred route as our own reference route and not that of NextBridge, we feel that we can submit a terms of reference fairly quickly because there has been such considerable consultation on the study area, on the routes that are in question.  There would be no merit to repeating all of that consultation.  So we feel that there are numerous opportunities in this very unique case to expedite such a process.

MR. ADAMSON:  Do you recall what my question was?

MS. CROLL:  You asked me about timelines of EAs and you asked me if I agreed that a three- to five-year schedule --


MR. ADAMSON:  That's not what my question was.

MS. CROLL:  Can you repeat the question?

MR. ADAMSON:  My question was about not what was discussed, but what the Ministry of the Environment and Climate Change's position in those discussions was.

So what I asked you was has the Ministry of the Environment and Climate Change in those discussions ever said anything different from its typically three to five years?

Let me put it another way that's clearer.  The Ministry of the Environment and Climate Change in those discussions has never suggested that July 2019 is a realistic deadline for completing an individual environmental assessment of Hydro One's proposed project?

MS. CROLL:  We didn't discuss the specifics of a timeline for an individual EA.  In fact, we've recently submitted a proposed schedule for discussion.

However, I can tell that you in the discussions of an option for an individual EA, we never discussed a three- to five-year timeline.  A three- to five-year timeline is for a typical EA project beginning with no work done and no consultation started.

So to my recollection, we never discussed a three to five years timeline for this particular project.

MR. ADAMSON:  I'm going to suggest to you that it was put to you in meetings of the Ministry of the Environment and Climate Change, putting aside this project, that that information with that that is a typical timeline for a typical EA was provided to Hydro One by the Ministry of the Environment and Climate Change.  Do you disagree with that.

MS. CROLL:  Potentially on other projects it was provided, but -- I could be mistaken, but I do not recall any conversations with respect to this the specific project of a three to five-year timeline for an individual EA.

MR. ADAMSON:  I'm not saying this specific project, but as sort of this is our typical experience, that information being provided.

MS. CROLL:  I don't recall having any discussions to that nature.  I'm not disputing that that is a typical timeline.

MS. DOMOKOS:  We do agree that the Ministry of the Environment and Climate Change has never indicated to Hydro One that July 2019 is a realistic timeline?

MS. CROLL:  No, we didn't discuss specific schedule details of an individual EA.

MR. ADAMSON:  So the Ministry of the Environment and Climate Change has never suggested that that's a realistic timeline.  You said it's never even been discussed.

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.  So to be clear, they've never suggested it wasn't realistic.  We just provided them with our schedule recently.

MR. ADAMSON:  And similarly, June 2019 has never been discussed with the Ministry of the Environment and Climate Change as a timeframe for a declaration order?

MS. CROLL:  We talked about typical timing of declaration orders and at a meeting, we suggested that six months might be a reasonable timeline.  It was difficult at that point for ministry staff to presuppose how long the minister might take to make that decision.

They did not suggest that it was unreasonable.  But to your point, they didn't agree that it was appropriate.  It as very difficult to determine.

MR. ADAMSON:  So the consistent message -- and correct me if I'm wrong -- has been what I took Mr. Evers to say and Ms. Cross to say yesterday, that in a non-emergency situation, if an adequate basis for issuing a declaration order is provided to the ministry, a typical timeline would be six to nine months.  Does that sound right?

MS. CROLL:  Yes.  And we're suggesting six months.

MR. ADAMSON:  Those are all my questions, thank you.

MS. LEA:  Thank you, Mr. Adamson.  Mr. Garner?

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Ms. Lea.  It is getting late in the day.  I'm trying to go quickly, so please don't take it is rudeness.

I want to start with the timelines we talked about earlier and, Mr. Spencer, you were talking about this.

As I understood what you said was in March of 2017, you came to a point to re-evaluate how you might proceed or not proceed with respect to what became this project.

Do I have that date right?

MR. SPENCER:  In and around March, yes.

MR. GARNER:  And then you sent some correspondence to NextBridge indicating that in fact you may become active in this, and therefore they should take the appropriate precautions, correct?

MR. SPENCER:  Correct.

MR. GARNER:  As I understand also, in August of 2017, the Ministry of Energy sent an -- and the Minister sent to the IESO a request for evaluation of this -- of this whole east-west tie link; do you recall that?

MR. SPENCER:  That is correct.

MR. GARNER:  Did Hydro One have any discussions with the Ministry or the Ministers, the government of Ontario, with respect to it becoming active, or seeking to potentially become active between March and August of that year?

MR. SPENCER:  Not to my knowledge, no.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  Now, the next thing that I understood happening -- or I see happening is NextBridge filed an application in July of 2017, and you sought to intervene in that application and you did.  And then I understand as part of that application, you submitted interrogatories.

And in those interrogatories, you requested information, among other things, with respect to the assessment.  Is that correct?

MR. SPENCER:  Please clarify what you mean by...

MR. GARNER:  Well, did you submit any interrogatories?  Let's cut to that.

MR. SPENCER:  We did submit interrogatories.

MR. GARNER:  What was the purpose of you submitting interrogatories into their application?

I mean, I'm not looking for specifics.  What I'm really trying to get to is this.  You certainly don't represent a public interest; you represent your own interest.

It is not clear to me why you would want to be in that application if you were -- if you yourself were thinking about getting an application.  Was it your purpose to get information from NextBridge for the purpose of your application?

MR. SPENCER:  No.

MR. GARNER:  What was your purpose?

MR. SPENCER:  As members of this room are familiar with, all transmission costs are in fact recovered through uniform transmission rates.  And so we need to ensure that the information that is being put forward, as it impacts both the Hydro One projects and other projects.

MR. GARNER:  So if I were to suggest to you there was information requested with respect to the environmental assessments, how does that fit into your response?

MS. CROLL:  Sorry, could you repeat that question?

MR. GARNER:  I said if I were to suggest to you that you asked interrogatories with respect to the environmental assessment, how does that fit into the response of Mr. Spencer, which seemed to indicate he was concerned with financial issues with respect to the UTR?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. CROLL:  I was getting some clarification on which document.  So our interrogatories around environmental assessments, I believe, were related to schedule, and the schedule of the completion of the EA.

MR. GARNER:  And why did you need to know that?

MR. SPENCER:  For potential on the impacts on the schedule to the Hydro One station work.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  Now, the other thing is in your September letter to the Board, your first letter where you filed your intervention -- and Mr. Rubenstein asked you about this -- you had this concept of a not-to-exceed price.

And you told Mr. Rubenstein, I believe, this afternoon that that's not part of the current application anymore.  Is that correct?

MR. SPENCER:  That is correct.

MR. GARNER:  Did you explicitly -- I couldn't find it -- did you explicitly inform the Board when you filed that application, or any time before that application, that you were resiling from the idea of the not-to-exceed price?

MR. SPENCER:  It would have been clear to the Board when we filed our application for leave to construct.

MR. GARNER:  How would it be clear in there?  Did you explicitly state that that was no longer part of that proposal?

MR. SPENCER:  The Board would have been able to review the materials to before them to arrive at that understanding.

MR. GARNER:  I see.  Now, I just wanted to talk a little bit about the designation process, and I wasn't part of it, so you'll excuse me if I demonstrate my ignorance in parts of it.

But as I understand the designation process, the Board went through a number of criteria and it indicated in there it was -- the designation process wasn't the forum in which it would actually provide what became the leave to construct, and it did -- and it selected a person to go forward and begin the development work.

Was it your understanding from that process that the Board would have a -- what I might call phase 3, where once that development work was done, it would then call the parties forward and take a look at that work, and decide whether it should move forward with a different party?

MR. SPENCER:  My understanding of the Board always intended to have a leave-to-construct process associated with this project.

MR. GARNER:  Well, that's pedantic, though, right, because it has to by law, but that's not the point I'm making.

What I'm saying is was it your -- was it Hydro One's view that that process would include a supplementary part of the process where once the designator had done a certain amount of development work, that development work would then be presented and the Board would review its decision and allow parties to now come forward before the leave to construct in any manner to have a review now?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SPENCER:  So I'm just honestly going to read from our evidence filed on May 7th, page 25.

MR. GARNER:  Mm-hmm.

MR. SPENCER:  And so the paragraph starting:

"Finally, the OEB 2013 order designating NextBridge for the development phase made it clear that it was possible that another proponent would be constructing and building that line.  Specifically, under the heading 'implications of designation', the OEB explained the order made it clear that the designation and exclusive rights enjoyed thereunder were limited to the development phase of the project and designation does not carry with it an exclusive right to build the line or an exclusive right to apply for leave to construct the line.  A transmitter may apply for leave to construct the East-West Tie designated or not."

MR. GARNER:  That's your evidence, isn't it, you are reading from?  Is that your evidence or the Board's decision --


MR. SPENCER:  It is our evidence referenced against --


MR. GARNER:  Right.  Yeah --


MR. SPENCER:  -- the 2013 --


MR. GARNER:  -- I understand.  I've seen that, and I think where -- this is not a place for argument.  I think one can draw different conclusions from the Board's decision itself also.

All I was trying to understand was:  Did Hydro One believe that the process, notwithstanding, that would have an opportunity to, in a sense, take the development work done by one party and transfer that development work to another party in order to, let's say, proceed with a leave to construct.  I don't see anything in the Board's process or discussion or anything that contemplates that type of a process.  Did you have that expectation anywhere?

MS. CROLL:  I think when it comes to development costs such as environmental assessment, the reasonable assumption would be that ratepayers wouldn't be paying for that development work twice.

MR. GARNER:  Mm-hmm.

MS. CROLL:  And I don't think there is anything specific in there that states that that work couldn't be used by another party.

I think it is clear in that statement that the development work would be meant for the use of the line constructor, whoever that may be.

MR. GARNER:  Well, perhaps you can tell me, is there a reference in the Board's decision on the designation that actually warns or tells the successful party that the work you've done or you do will be -- should be made available subsequent to your finishing of the development work for another party to look at prior to you filing a leave to construct if you intend to proceed with this project?  Do you find anything in the Board's decision that gives you that comfort that that work will be transferable to you?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. CROLL:  I think in terms of EA work, certainly the Environmental Assessment Act suggests that and actually states that environmental assessment work is public.  I can't --


MR. GARNER:  That's not what I'm asking.  I'm asking where in the Board's decision did you find the comfort that would indicate that the Board would facilitate or wanted the party -- successful party to facilitate transfer of information should another party decide that it wished to attempt a leave to construct on this application?  Do you find that in the decision, and if you do so could you point it out to me?

MR. WARREN:  Are you asking the witnesses whether there are words in this decision which say that the development cost -- the development work that -- that the developer will facilitate the transfer of that to somebody else?  Is that the question you are asking?

MR. GARNER:  Yes, I'm looking to see where Hydro -- if Hydro One found comfort someplace in the Board's decision that it would be able to utilize work done in what is being called the development phase.

MR. WARREN:  The witness has already answered the question, Mr. Garner.  Time to move on.

MR. GARNER:  Let me ask you something about the costs that have been discussed earlier today.  When I look at the application -- I'm just going to try to pull up the letter.  It is just the numbers you have in here.

I'm looking at the application right now:

"Hydro One is proposing to build the Lake Superior link for 636.2 million with ongoing OM&A costs of 1.5 million."

Is that 636.2 million still a relevant number?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes, it is.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  So when you were going through the costs savings of your proposal earlier with Mr. Rubenstein, you ended up with a number that was in the 70- to $75 million range, and I was trying to put that together with the other numbers I've heard of 100 and $120 million.

What number am I supposed to use when I'm looking at this and trying to develop our position or VECC's position with regard to -- help VECC develop a position with respect to this in the savings?  What's the savings number you think I'm best -- should refer myself to?

MR. SPENCER:  So we will be providing that detail in variance explanation via undertaking, and the items I spoke to you earlier in the 70-, $75 million range, clearly just a subset of the largest differences in the value --


MR. GARNER:  Okay, now, let's go back to development costs again.  The development costs that NextBridge is going to put forward, I call them the sunk costs it has to date, will it be Hydro One's position that those costs should or should not be recoverable?  I'm not talking about the quantum for now, just the general principle that what costs they put forward should be recoverable or not?

MR. SPENCER:  I think that decision is best made by the Ontario Energy Board.

MR. GARNER:  I'm sure they will make the decision.  What I'm wondering is, do you believe those costs should be recoverable or that they are to be sunk costs by NextBridge if they don't get their leave to construct, whether they are a dollar or a hundred dollars or a million dollars, it's not the dollars I'm concerned about.  And you certainly may pick at the dollars, I can imagine.  I am just asking on a principled basis are those recoverable costs in your mind?

MR. SPENCER:  I might suggest that NextBridge had approval for a certain amount from the designation application, and costs beyond that are certainly subject to OEB review, both from need and prudence.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, I'm not sure I understand if that's a yes or a no.  You believe those costs are subject to prudence, which wouldn't -- would imply to me that you believe they are recoverable, at least in some amount, but from NextBridge, and therefore would find their way somewhere into the UTR rate?

MR. SPENCER:  Appropriate development costs for this project I would view as recoverable through rates, yes.

MR. GARNER:  Sure, I take your proviso, appropriate as may be perhaps deemed by Hydro One when it saw them, et cetera.

So if I were to take your savings on this project, I guess would it be logical then that I would have to deduct those costs from that savings in order to find out what the net savings to customers are; is that correct?  That seems math to me, but...

MR. SPENCER:  That's actually incorrect, I would suggest.

MR. GARNER:  It's bad math then, apparently.

MR. SPENCER:  So our total cost of $636 million, approximately, is the sum of both our development costs as well as our construction costs, and you've alluded to the ongoing O&M savings as well.

MR. GARNER:  Mm-hmm, but I was saying is what about NextBridge's costs?  Don't they have to be computed into this formula if, as you say, on a principled basis they are recoverable of some matter?  Don't I have to add those as a recoverable cost to be recovered through the UTR also?  How do they get recovered otherwise, is what I would say to you?

MR. SPENCER:  I would suggest that a portion of the costs that the OEB ultimately deems appropriate would, in fact, be recovered through the UTR.

MR. GARNER:  Mm-hmm.

MR. SPENCER:  Our position is that some of those costs are subject to further review.

MR. GARNER:  Absolutely.  I'm not -- and I don't wish to debate that with you.

Would you have any idea -- and I hate to give you another undertaking, so I -- just first let's just talk about -- 70 -- 70 hundred-million-dollar capital costs on -- into the pool for the UTR, does Hydro One have any idea as to whether that actually -- how big of an impact that would have on the UTR?

MR. SPENCER:  I believe that economic modelling is part of the application, yes.

MR. GARNER:  Oh, is it in the -- you've actually put that into your application?  If so, then I'll just refer to it.

MR. SPENCER:  For the specific amount you referenced has not been modeled on a rate impact.

MR. GARNER:  Sorry, but has your amount, like the amount for you for this -- the full project amount, is that what you've computed, what your full project amount is on the UTR?

MR. SPENCER:  I believe this is referenced in Exhibit B, tab 9, schedule 1 of our February 15th submission.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, thank you.  Finally, I'd like to turn again back to the designation process and your -- at the timing of your looking at this application.

And after the designation process, as I understand it, NextBridge was required to do -- I believe it's monthly reporting to the Ontario Energy Board.

Is anybody on this panel aware of those monthly reports that were done by NextBridge?

MR. SPENCER:  We're aware of the need --


MR. GARNER:  Right.

MR. SPENCER:  -- not necessarily the specifics of them.  I believe that was to be provided by undertaking.

MR. GARNER:  And I'm not trying to be tricky here.  What I'm really trying to get to is there was -- in June of 2015, there was a report made to the Board and at that -- at that report, NextBridge basically said that they would not be able to get into Pukaskwa Park.  They would not only be not be able to get a road in, they weren't even getting an ability to study at that time.

Were you aware in 2015 of that report, where NextBridge found out that they had that difficulty?

MR. SPENCER:  We are aware of the 2015 report, yes.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  At that time, why would it not have been of interest to Hydro One to re-evaluate whether it wanted to do a leave to construct, given that it had -- now is demonstrating it wants to use the existing corridor.

Why at that time was it not -- I'm not sure rejected is the right word.  Why at that time did you not come to the Board and say we're ready to do a leave to construct based on what we're seeing right now?

MR. SPENCER:  At that point in approximately mid 2015, we had no reason, nor did anybody, to believe that the forecast construction costs and development costs would change the amount that they ultimately did, once NextBridge filed in July of 2017.

MR. GARNER:  Can I say it back to you this way:  It wasn't considered -- the routing through the park versus around the park wasn't considered to be a material difference to the application, at that time at least, you're saying?

MR. SPENCER:  The cost differential on the construction cost between the envisioned EWT LP solution and the NextBridge solution, at that particular point in time was not as great as it ended up being.  The differential was much smaller.

MR. GARNER:  The reason I ask is a little less to do with Hydro One and more to do with how we ended up here.

Ms. Goulais, you have a lot of experience with the First Nations community, and Ms. Croll a lot of experience with environmental assessment.  What I never understood about the designation process is -- I notice the Board does defer to MOECC for the environmental impact stuff.  But it seems for routing quite clear that getting through a national park and cutting a new corridor might pose some very difficult problems.

And I don't see that -- I didn't see that really discussed at the time.

Am I right that based on both of your experience and, especially the First Nations and Métis concerns all around those parks, that trying to get into those parks to cut new corridors would be extremely difficult?

MS. CROLL:  I think, subject to checking and verification, it is my understanding that -- and again, this is in 2013, I believe, the applications for the project at the time, I think all proponents thought that the park route would be the viable route.  Are you aware of that?  I think that's accurate.

So I don't think until specific inquiries were made with Pukaskwa NationalPark, the proponents were aware that the widening of the corridor would actually be considered a new development and not be allowed under the Parks Act.

So I don't think NextBridge found that out until -- I think it was 2015, and so other proponents wouldn't know that either at the time.

MR. GARNER:  I see.  Okay, thank you.  I only have one other question, a final question, and again it's to do with costs.

In your costs, your ongoing OM&A costs are something like 1.5 million and NextBridge's are significantly higher, 4.3.  In order for the Board, though -- if you were successful, in order for the Board to validate that proposition, how would you demonstrate that?

You are not going to have a separate company to do this, as I understand it.  You are going to do it -- if you'll get it, you will do it within the Hydro One company.

So how would one later in life, so to speak, be able to understand whether your 1.5 million is correct or whether in fact you are, in a sense, cross subsidizing?

I mean, are you going to have the helicopter tell people when they are right over the new part and not over the old part?  I mean, how do you expect to demonstrate that efficiency of 1.5 versus 4.3?

MR. SPENCER:  So a slight clarification to your assumption.  We would, in fact, prior to energerization of the line, form a new company that would be subject to its own -- we would file a cost of service application associated with that ongoing operation, maintenance and administration work.

We would establish appropriate service level agreements between the newco and Hydro One Networks in accordance with the Affiliate Relationship Code, and our forecast is certainly that the $1.5 million is achievable.

We would also consider the revenues into the Hydro One Network side from that SLA to be an offset to otherwise potentially necessary revenue requirements.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  That actually makes it much clearer.  I wasn't aware of that.  Thank you, panel.  Those are my questions.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Is Mr. Esquega or Ms. MacDonald on the line?

MR. ESQUEGA:  Hello, Mr. Esquega here.

MS. LEA:  I think you are up next for questioning this panel, if you have any questions.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Yes, I do have questions.

MS. LEA:  You will need to speak up, because it is very difficult to hear you at this point.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Can you hear me now?

MS. LEA:  Sort of.  The louder you can make it and if you cannot use a speaker-phone, these two things seem to help.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Unfortunately, I don't have a regular handset handy here, so I am on a speaker phone.

MS. LEA:  You are a bit louder now, sir, so keep that up, please.
Questions by Mr. Esquega:


MR. ESQUEGA:  Okay.  So I'll continue on with -- just to remind you I, represent Biinjitiwaabik Zaaging Anishinaabek, one of the intervenors in this proceeding.

And just to follow-up on the budgetary discussions that we've been having here for a while now today, I want to follow-up specifically with respect to with respect to the consultation budget that you set out in your materials, in your application evidence, Exhibit B, tab 7, schedule 1, pages 3 and 5.

Actually, if we start at page 1 of that schedule, schedule 1, it talks about the total project costs for this project is going to be $636 million; is that right, referring to table number 1.1?

MS. GOULAIS:  That's correct.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And that's still the number that's being used today.

And if we turn over to page 3, we have table 2, and this is the development cost table, right?

MS. GOULAIS:  Correct.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And there is a line item there specifically for First Nation and Métis consultations; do you see that?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  My understanding is that that line item is 1.1 million, approximately.

MS. GOULAIS:  Correct.

MR. ESQUEGA:  On the next page, we go over to page 5,  we have another line item about halfway through table 3, and this includes construction costs.  And again for First Nation and Métis, it is 1.1 million again.

MS. GOULAIS:  Correct.

MR. ESQUEGA:  So if we add those two numbers up, then we get to about 2.2 million that has been earmarked for First Nation and Métis for this project, is that right?

MS. GOULAIS:  That's correct.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Okay.  And out of that amount, is there -- has there been any other funds set aside for participation specifically?

MS. GOULAIS:  Mr. Esquega, it is Christine Goulais.  I'm going to answer your question, but I just want to make sure I am being respectful.

Is the Chief on the phone?

MR. ESQUEGA:  No, he is not present any longer.

MS. GOULAIS:  Okay.  Thank you.  So your question was about the cost, the 2.23 -- 2.2 million that you've identified, which is the correct math.  There are also other embedded costs in our construction costs that would be dedicated to First Nations and Métis participation as well.  They are just not identified as such when you look at these two tables.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Okay.  So perhaps, could I get an undertaking from you to identify exactly all costs that have been allocated towards First Nation consultation and participation specifically?

MS. GOULAIS:  So Mr. Esquega, that would be difficult to do, only because there's not -- I was just -- the pause was because I was having a bit of a discussion with our construction partner, SNC-Lavalin.

When I said that there are some embedded costs in the -- in the construction -- on the construction side from the First Nations and Métis participation perspective, you know, there -- we are intending and dedicated to looking at maximizing Indigenous opportunities from a contracting and procurement perspective, and so there isn't a particular amount that we would allocate to that, because we would want to maximize what those opportunities could look like, so it would be difficult for us to put an amount around what that would look like, given we haven't really had an opportunity to fully understand who, for example, those Indigenous businesses and contractors are that we could work with and what they could provide on this particular project, but what we can say is that we have every intention of maximizing the participation of those Indigenous businesses on this project.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Okay, I just asked this question because yesterday I spent some time with the witness from NextBridge, and in their materials, as you are likely aware, they have been able to specifically earmark a consultation budget of $13 million in total for their project, and for your project I see 1.1 million.

Can you explain why there would be such a disparity -- there's a difference between those two budgets --


MS. GOULAIS:  So in --


MR. ESQUEGA:  -- consultation specifically?

MS. GOULAIS:  Sure, on the consultation piece, as we've talked -- or discussed -- took quite some length over the last couple of days, Hydro One's time frame is much shorter, and the consultation aspect of our project we budgeted within those time frames that we've identified in our evidence.

Again, you know, as Ms. Croll and I have shared over the last couple days, we are intending to utilize information that is available to us both on the environmental assessment as well as on the consultation.  We are not looking to duplicate efforts, resources, costs, or people's time.  We really do want to make sure that we are utilizing, of course in a respectful way, all of the information available to us.

And again, I just want to reiterate that the First Nation and Métis participation costs that are embedded in our construction costs, although we don't have a specific number to share, we can -- we can say that those -- we -- our construction partner, SNC, as well as Hydro One, is looking to maximize those opportunities, which could go above -- could go above what we -- what we would ever imagine them to be, so it would be really hard to put some parameters around what that would look like.

MS. CROLL:  If I could add to that, I think we have to understand too that of the 400-kilometre route that Hydro One is proposing, 80 percent of that -- almost 80 percent of that is shared with the NextBridge route, and there has been significant consultation completed.

Now, we're not suggesting we rely on all of that.  We do plan to undertake our own consultation even on the shared portions of the route, but when it comes to impacts and accommodation, we would expect that because our impacts are considerably less, whether it is the footprint area or the tower design, that what we're really looking for is anything different than what's identified as a mitigation or accommodation in the existing EA, so we would be, through using that EA, committing to follow any mitigation measures or agreements that are made and then really looking for differences in the scope where we may have more of an impact.

And in fact, we expect to have significantly less, especially in the footprint area which we've heard from our Indigenous communities, the land that they value, and we hope that there would be a value proposition in showing that we could reduce the footprint we are using for our project.

MR. ESQUEGA:  We've heard in this proceeding from several witnesses, including my client, Chief Hardy, who is here, and also the other Chiefs and the other representatives for the Métis Nation, that consultation is going to require a big effort from Hydro One, and they don't expect you to not show up and simply review documents and say that you've -- that's for a job you usually consult, so how can you reconcile that position from the First Nations from your proposed approach of relying upon information that may be available on the public record?

MS. CROLL:  So to be clear, we would be fully consulting on the portions of the route that are new, and that would be the park and approaches, keeping in mind that our impacts in the park are quite minimal because we are not widening the corridor or undertaking any cutting.

That said, we'll certainly be doing the same study that we would in approaches to the park, and we're not suggesting that we just -- all we have to do is review a few documents, but what we would expect is that we wouldn't want to create an unnecessary resource strain on regulators, interested parties, Indigenous communities, redoing from scratch everything that has already been discussed before.  That is not to say we won't still consult on the entire line.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And we've also heard from many of the representatives that there has been some negotiations that have gone on and some of this is strictly confidential, so how do you propose to get around the confidentiality issue to get access to the information in order to fulfill your duty to consult?

MS. GOULAIS:  So again, we are, you know, we are not privy to what those confidentiality agreements look like.  What we can say and can commit to is sharing information on our project, offering to meet, and undertaking that consultation and having those discussions around what the accommodation measures may look like.

You know, there -- we fully appreciate that it's not a matter of reviewing existing information and taking what's available to us.  We fully appreciate that we need to be not only working with the elected officials such as the Chiefs in the communities, but spending time in communities, understanding what their questions and concerns are.  You know, looking at supporting community consultation coordinators in each of the communities to help with the burden that we know many First Nations experience from a capacity perspective.

We know that communities like yours or like Chief Hardy's community gets 100 letters a month from various proponents and just really doesn't have the resources or capacity to sift through those.

You know, opportunities of having a consultation coordinator in each community to help not only Hydro One but the community to be able to fully engage and consult on this project is something that we would really like to initiate with each and every community.

We understand that communities are under-resourced from a capacity perspective when it comes to having the appropriate legal or other advisory services, and, you know, we would be looking to support communities in that nature, so I just want to expand on Ms. Croll's comment around, we -- although there are -- should be information available to us, we don't -- we fully appreciate that there's additional ongoing consultation that has to happen with each and every community, and we do have every intention of -- and have offered that, and would really welcome the opportunity to sit down and have a conversation with leadership as well as community members about how we can work together going forward and what resources and capacity the community would require that Hydro One can offer.

MR. ESQUEGA:  I believe in this proceeding you've been directed to consult with 18 First Nation communities; is that right?

MS. GOULAIS:  That's correct.

MS. ESQUEDA:  Plus the Métis Nation of Ontario?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes, so we've been directed by the Crown to consult with 18 communities and to keep the Métis Nation of Ontario informed on what we're doing with the Métis.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And when we add up those numbers and divide that by the 2.2 million we only get to 115,000 per community and you are talking about wanting higher capacity for each First Nation.  You are going to need to attend meetings, you are going to need to spend money to get people together.

I don't see how you can make $115,000 work with 19 communities, with all due respect, and I'd like to hear how you plan on doing that in such a short timeframe as well.

MS. GOULAIS:  So again I think what I -- my answer to that is understanding what each community's needs are, how they want to be consulted and how we can move forward together, I think is probably the best place for us to start.  And what we'd hoped to have initiated by sending notification letters -- we understand that the timelines are shorter and those are concerns that the communities have, and we do want to work with communities.  I think making assumptions about what each community needs is probably not the best thing.  But based on my experience, I can share that I think the capacity funding that we've considered for communities allows us some flexibility to have those conversations around what their needs are, and to be able to fully understand those.

MR. ESQUEGA:  It appears that just from what we see here, that the ratepayers' interests are taking priority over the duty to consult and accommodate First Nations and Métis people.  Wouldn't you agree that that's the appearance we get here from this type of budget?

MS. GOULAIS:  I would not agree with that.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And the whole package is being sold as a ratepayers savings, but yet you are not even coming close to what NextBridge has spent and has committed to spend here.

MS. CROLL:  I would just add that it is not just about the economic savings.  Again, I would emphasize the much lower environmental footprint and across the entire project, a reduction of 50 percent in the land area affected, which we think is significant, and especially the ability to twin our existing corridor on the approaches to the park and to not have to widen that corridor is a significantly less environmental impact, which is also a consideration when evaluating a project and we hope is of value to Indigenous peoples as well.

MR. ESQUEGA:  But the Indigenous peoples' rights extend beyond the park.  Their traditional lands are all the way along that corridor.

MS. CROLL:  That's correct, I'm speaking about the entire corridor.  So for the entire area of the project, again, when I talk about a 50 percent reduction in the footprint, I'm talking about the entire route comparison.

Within the park itself, it's 100 percent reduction because we are not widening the corridor at all.  So that's what I was referring to.

And we're not just suggesting that the interest is within the park area; we realize the interest is along the entire project route.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Would you agree that your budget is perhaps a little bit short in terms of the consultation budget?

MS. GOULAIS:  Again, as I said, there are some embedded costs in our construction cost analysis that makes it a little bit difficult, I think, to do an apples to apples comparison.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Now, with respect to consultation with BZA specifically, we know that there's at least -- the chief makes reference to one letter in his affidavit.  And earlier today in his testimony, he said that's the only letter that he's received with respect to consultations; is that right?

MS. GOULAIS:  The April 30th letter addressed to Chief Hardy is the only letter that's been sent to date, correct.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Today we heard some testimony and some questions with respect to a letter of April 18th to Ms. Kate Kempton.  Do you recall those discussions?

MS. GOULAIS:  I do.

MR. ESQUEGA:  In her letter, on the second page, there is reference to communities that are you are going to engage with that are less directly affected.

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes, I'm aware of the letter.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Have you defined BZA as a community that is less directly affected?

MS. GOULAIS:  Well, I would say that we are undertaking our consultation based on direction from the Crown, which indicates all 18 communities as rights-based communities.

And so we are undertaking consultation with those communities as such.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Has the Crown defined my client as being less directly affected by this line?

MS. GOULAIS:  No.

MR. ESQUEGA:  In fact, you would never be able to determine that without consulting with them, right?

MS. GOULAIS:  Determination of impacts of a project are made through the consultation process, and that's the purpose of the consultation process, you are absolutely right, is understanding what the impacts are of a particular project.

MR. ESQUEGA:  That's right.  And even though BZA is not directly beside the power line or adjacent to it, we know from Chief Hardy's evidence that they are quite close.  In fact, they're 50 or 60 kilometres away, and that would certainly suggest that this is perhaps in their traditional territories.  Would you agree?

MS. GOULAIS:  I'm not -- I'm somewhat familiar with the traditional territory of Chief Hardy's community, but I'm not exactly sure what those boundaries are.

But I would say that, you know, Hydro One does intend to undertake consultation with your community, based on the delegation of Crown consultation -- sorry, the Crown's delegation of consultation.

MR. ESQUEGA:  But you have nothing to dispute the evidence of Chief Hardy that this is within his traditional territory?

MS. GOULAIS:  That's correct.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Now, you've mentioned in the package here and the evidence that this economic incentive can be superior or better for the First Nations if they go with you as opposed to NextBridge, right?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes, we did file that as part of our evidence, yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  At least for the BLP First Nations, we see that they have a better deal from your perspective; is that right?

MS. GOULAIS:  The equity offer to the Bamkushwada First Nation are identified in our evidence, yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And Mr. Henderson asked you a number of questions earlier today about a letter that his client received, which didn't talk about economic benefits per se.  Do you remember that?

MS. GOULAIS:  I do.

MR. ESQUEGA:  When we look at the letter to Chief Hardy, Chief Hardy's letter is very, very similar to what Mr. Henderson's client received.  It doesn't talk about economic benefits either; is that right?

MS. GOULAIS:  It doesn't explicitly say "economic benefits."

MR. ESQUEGA:  Not like the other communities who did receive those types of comments in their letters?

MS. GOULAIS:  So I think I'd answer your question the same way I answered Mr. Henderson's questions around our letter that you are referring to of April 30th, I
believe -- I'm just going to check here.  Yes, April 30th.

You know, we talk about benefits to our project that include, but are not limited to things like capacity funding, contracting and employment opportunities, which I've sort of talked a little bit about, you know.

Economic participation from Hydro One's perspective, and based on my experience, can take many, many forms.  We talked a little bit about training employment earlier today, and I'm not sure if you were on the phone yesterday when the Bamkushwada chiefs were talking about the current and ongoing training for over 250 members of various Indigenous communities.  I'm assuming some of them are from your community, you know.

So economic benefits can be in the form of continuing those training opportunities, hiring those folks to do some work, if not only on this project, but other Hydro One-related projects.  Contracting, of course, I talked a little bit about today, maximizing opportunities for those Indigenous businesses that have supplies, resources, and opportunities -- and ways in which they can support this project.

So, those are various forms of economic participation that we would be -- that Hydro One is prepared to offer and have conversations with First Nations like your community on this particular project.

MR. ESQUEGA:  I guess my question gets back to you very specifically, as Mr. Henderson put it to you, that in the other letters, they talk about these specific economic benefits and when you refer to the letter to Chief Hardy, it doesn't get into that type of language.

And I'm just wondering, and perhaps you could undertake to let me know, whether or not those other economic benefits you are talking about right now would be available to BZA.  And specifically, we want to know whether or not equity and revenue sharing economic benefits will be available to BZA, as they have been presented to the BLT communities, for example.

MR. GOULDEN:  I'll answer your question in two parts. The first answer with relation to training, employment, procurement opportunities, capacity funding, those opportunities will be made available to all impacted communities on this project.

In terms of the equity participation, that is an undertaking that we will have to take in terms of understanding whether or not that is an opportunity that would be available to communities outside of the Bamkushwada communities.

MR. ESQUEGA:  I am just curious, why wouldn't it be if it is in -- the project's in BZA's traditional territory?

MS. GOULAIS:  So the -- in the initial 2013 designation proceeding, the Bamkushwada communities were identified as the mostly-impacted communities and being in the most close proximity to the project, which was the rationale for including them as -- or having an equity participation opportunity for them, given that they are in such close proximity to the project.  So that was the initial rationale for that -- for that distinction.

Again, we had understanding that those communities -- those six communities are in the most close proximity to the project, also influenced our decision to reach out to them in -- in -- sorry, the day after we filed our section 92 to make them aware of that.

So as I mentioned, I think we had committed to an undertaking earlier today.  It sounds like the same undertaking as we had committed to for the Métis Nation of Ontario as to whether or not equity participation would be made available to any other community impacted by this project.

MR. ESQUEGA:  What made that determination in 2013?

MS. GOULAIS:  I'm sorry, I didn't hear the question.

MR. ESQUEGA:  You said in 2013 a determination was made as to what communities were most adversely affected and who should be offered equity.  Who made that determination?

MS. GOULAIS:  I would have to go and look for that information.  I don't know.  I wasn't -- I mean, I'd have to take it as an undertaking to understand how that determination was made.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Was it Hydro One who made that determination?

MS. GOULAIS:  I don't know.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Yes, I would like that undertaking, please.  Let me know who, in 2013, made the determination as to who was most adversely affected and who was entitled to an equity portion of this project.

MR. LAVAEE:  That would be Undertaking JT2.27.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.27:  HYDRO ONE TO ADVISE WHO, IN 2013, MADE THE DETERMINATION AS TO WHO WAS MOST ADVERSELY AFFECTED AND WHO WAS ENTITLED TO AN EQUITY PORTION OF THIS PROJECT.

MS. LEA:  Anything further, Mr. Esquega?

MR. ESQUEGA:  And the other undertaking that was given just before we got into that was with respect to whether or not BZA would be entitled to have any equity or revenue-sharing opportunities in this project as well.

MS. LEA:   Was that included in a previous undertaking that you gave, which was to indicate, in general, whether other communities besides BLP were to be offered equity participation?  Was that a general undertaking that you gave to Ms. Strachan?

MS. GOULAIS:  I believe the undertaking was specifically for the Métis Nation of Ontario.

MS. LEA:   So this -- an undertaking -- I'm sorry?

MR. ESQUEGA:  That's right, and Mr. Henderson asked for the specific undertaking for Batchewana, and now I'm --


MS. LEA:  Okay.

MR. ESQUEGA:  -- asking for the same undertaking with respect to Biinjitiwaabik Zaaging Anishinaabek.

MS. LEA:  Is that an undertaking then that you will agree to provide?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.

MS. LEA:   Thank you.  If we could have a number.

MR. LAVAEE:  So that would be JT2.28.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.28:  HYDRO ONE TO LIST OPPORTUNITIES AVAILABLE TO BIINJITIWAABIK ZAAGING ANISHINAABEK, AS MR. HENDERSON EARLIER ASKED FOR WITH RESPECT TO BATCHEWANA.

MS. LEA:   Thank you.  Anything further, sir?

MR. ESQUEGA:  Thank you.

Another issue that has come up in this proceeding is with respect to declaration orders and how it could be used to overcome a full environmental assessment process, and I guess one of the issues I've seen that arise from your material at page 8 of your May 7 submission is the fact that you assert that any environmental impacts will be minimal, as one of your [audio dropout]


MS. CROLL:  All right, so I think we were referring to that in terms of -- as compared to the NextBridge undertaking, so we're not suggesting that the project itself has minimal impacts.  What we're saying is that the effects of our change in routing would be minimal.  In fact, we expect they would provide less impact to the environment and be of benefit.

MR. ESQUEGA:  But my understanding is that in order to get such a declaration from the minister, the minister is not looking at apples and oranges, the minister is looking at everything to see whether or not the project itself will be minimal, the impacts would be minimal.

MS. CROLL:  So when the ministry would evaluate our declaration order request, we would expect to have prepared information for them to demonstrate that the impacts of the shared route area, the 313 kilometres that are common to NextBridge and Hydro One, would have already been assessed and impacts and mitigation measures in place, and the change to that would be, again, a much narrower footprint and a different tower design, so that would be a reduced environmental impact of that portion.

Now, our studies through the park at that point and consultations would also need to demonstrate that we have an understanding of the environmental impacts of the project.

So keep in mind that the notes on page 8 support our assertion that we are a good candidate for a declaration order.  Keep in mind there are four criteria that the MOECC and the Minister would look at to determine whether we're a good candidate for a declaration order, and we've discussed three of those here.

MR. ESQUEGA:  So in effect, you're going to try to suggest that the -- that the environmental impacts are minimal without actually doing the environmental study work to prove that it's going to be minimal?

MS. CROLL:  I think what I'm suggesting is that we expect, given our proposed route and specifically the area through the park where we're not widening the corridor at all or undertaking any cutting, we would demonstrate that the environmental effects of the project are already well-understood.

So the reason behind a declaration order, as I discussed earlier, it isn't to allow a proponent to not conduct the studies or consultation that are required; it is a procedural measure that would really, from my understanding, be put in place when we've demonstrated that we've fulfilled the requirements of the project, so that being demonstrating that it's in the public interest, showing that the environmental effects of our change to the project are minimal, and demonstrating that the impacts of the project overall have already been adequately assessed.

So we're suggesting that there's been a lot of work already to adequately assess this project in the areas that are shared with NextBridge on that shared route, but we do recognize that we still have to conduct all of our own studies and consultation essentially from the start for the new area and then supplement what's been done by re-consulting with communities, interested parties, Indigenous communities along the route, to understand if there are any additional concerns based on our changes to the project.  And again, those changes are not as wide a route and a different tower design.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. LEA:   Thank you very much, Mr. Esquega.

I'd just like to see where we're at.  Mr. Zacher, are you still looking at 30 minutes?

MR. ZACHER:  I hope not.

MS. LEA:   I'm not sure that --


MR. ZACHER:  I promise I won't be 30 minutes.

MS. LEA:   All right, and Mr. Murray, any thoughts on how long you might be?

MR. MURRAY:  I actually think my colleague Mr. Lesychyn is going to have most of the questions, and I think we still have a bit of time, but I'm not -- I don't think we have 45 minutes.  I'm hoping less than 30.  I won't make any promises.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Twenty.

MS. LEA:  Well, okay, gentlemen, I'm not sure whether I should hold you to that.  I think we need a brief break.  We need to get up, stretch, et cetera, so we will return, however, quite quickly.  Can we return in -- is five minutes enough for folks?  Because we do want to get out of here preferably before 6:30.

Thank you, we'll reconvene in five minutes.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 5:37 p.m.
--- On resuming at 5:46 p.m.


MS. LEA:   All right, we’re back.  Mr. Zacher?
Questions by Mr. Zacher:


MR. ZACHER:  Good evening, panel.  I don’t have a lot of questions.

Mr. Young, I just want to ask a couple of follow up questions from Mr. Rubenstein with regards to the capacity gap, and I wonder if you could turn up page 23 of Hydro One's additional evidence filed May 7th.

This is with the two graphs that Mr. Rubenstein had referred you to.

MR. YOUNG:  Page 23?

MR. ZACHER:  Page 20, I apologize; 20 and 21.

MR. YOUNG:  Yes, I have it.

MR. ZACHER:  I think you were looking at the graph on page 20, which is actually from the 2014 needs update.  So properly, we should be looking at the most recent one, the 2017 needs update on page 21, right?

MR. YOUNG:  That is correct, but only -- I was referring to it based upon the determination in 2014 that those capacity shortfalls were at that time deemed appropriate to defer the project in-service by two years, right?

So at those levels, if it was deemed to be appropriate then, then in 2017, based on the study report, those numbers are actually smaller than in 2014.  And I was just trying to draw that linkage.

MR. ZACHER:  I understand.  So even if you are looking at the 2017 need update, where you see the sort of capacity gap sort really ticks up in 2023, not 2024, you still infer from the IESO's need update that this is -- there is a capacity gap, but it's manageable, in your view.

MR. YOUNG:  That's right.  It is manageable for another year.  I hope I didn't imply that it was manageable to 2023.

MR. ZACHER:  No. And just to be clear, I think you fairly conceded to Mr. Rubenstein that while it's manageable, there may be costs that come with managing that gap?

MR. YOUNG:  That's correct.

MR. ZACHER:  And those could include replacement energy costs, for instance imports from Manitoba.

MR. YOUNG:  That's right, but they would be incremental replacement costs.

MS. ZACHER:  And just to be crystal clear, Hydro One's application doesn't include any costs for managing that gap for the period 2020 to '21.  I'm right on that?

MR. YOUNG:  That's correct.

MR. ZACHER:  Nor any sort of contingent costs to the extent that there was further slippage in the schedule.

MR. YOUNG:  That is correct.  But I would say that we haven't included the cost only because we are not in a position to forecast in the short-term, I wouldn't say, you know, in the short-term, what those incremental costs may be.

MR. ZACHER:  Fair enough.  The second question I wanted to ask -- I'm not sure if this is for you, but I wanted to ask about the two week outage that Hydro One forecasts taking in August of 2020, and this is to replace the 87 towers in the park.

And so the first yes is how did Hydro One forecast two weeks to get that work done?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  So it was done through consultation with us and SNC-Lavalin and their construction methodologies that we were going to use for the replacement of those towers.

MR. ZACHER:  I'm going to betray my ignorance of construction, but 87 towers in two weeks, and you are also upgrading the foundations at the same time; is that right?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  So there is a lot of preparatory work that gets done prior to the actual outage being taken, right.  The anchors and so forth for the guy wires and so on are all installed.

The assembly works of the actual structures and so forth are done in off-site fly yards, and so hence I said there’s a lot of preparatory work that gets done in advance, right.

Under the actual outage itself, the activities are really to drop the conductor, for lack of better terms, fill the old towers, remove them with the helicopter, install the new towers in location, prep up on the guys and wait them within the existing conductors.

MR. ZACHER:  And I think Mr. Henderson had asked questions earlier, and indicated there is no road access.  So this is all access by helicopter.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  That is correct.

MR. ZACHER:  So is there any sort of reference points or historic examples that you can sort of point to to doing this sort of work in the -- over the course of two weeks?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  We've engaged with a number of the actual field construction staff that we would be utilizing for this in determining the schedule, and they have direct experience of -- when we've done projects, say, in Alberta and the like where comparable construction rates have been utilized with respect to production rates.

MR. ZACHER:  And I don't think -- you don't need to refer to it, but in your evidence, you talk about initial reviews and discussions showing that the risk of a two week outage of the existing line is manageable.

Could I just ask you to elaborate on that?  Who were those discussions with, and how did those discussions demonstrate that the two weeks was manageable?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Sorry, I'm going to have to ask you to repeat that.

MR. ZACHER:  Sure.  You may want to call up page 6 of your -- again, this is the supplementary Hydro One evidence.

MR. YOUNG:  Yes.  So we worked with our system operating group to look at, given the construction of approach provided by SNC and with that information, they reviewed as to, you know, given the length of time and the period of time needed for the outage, what are the impacts of the system, and reviewed whether or not there were opportunities for that length ever time during the year.

And based on their assessment, they indicated that the -- an outage window could be achieved.

This outage window was communicated to the -- in the system impact assessment that we submitted, and as part of the condition of that system impact assessment is that when we were 24 months out, that we would provide a very detailed outage plan to the IESO.

MR. ZACHER:  And is that on -- so that sort of would be July of this year?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Yes.

MR. ZACHER:  So that's on track?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Yes.

MR. ZACHER:  And is there any sort of -- how sensitive is your in-service date to any change in either the length of the outage, or the time that you're scheduled to take it in August of 2020?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  So the preferable month is around August, because of what the ground conditions would be like and so forth in the a area for the type of work.  You know, some tolerances around that period would be fine.

As to the actual durations, I mean if the durations had a shorter recall time or something like that, then the opportunity for multiple shorter outages would still -- would be a -- be possible.

MR. ZACHER:  So that's an option you can take, do a series of towers at a time and then stop and do ...

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Correct.

MR. ZACHER:  At when do you sort of get -- at what in the season do you sort of get to a point where you have to wait until the following year?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  I have to come back to you on that one.  I don't know the answer straight off.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  I'm sorry, I have to take an undertaking on that, and come back to you with for an answer.

MS. LEA:   Can you please repeat what the undertaking is for?

MR. ZACHER:  So an undertaking as to at what month in the season you get to the point where you have to wait until next year to do the necessary work.

MR. LAVAEE:  And that will be JT2.29.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.29:  HYDRO ONE TO ADVISE WHAT IS THE POINT AT WHICH FIELD CONSTRUCTION WORK MUST BE POSTPONED TO THE FOLLOWING YEAR

MR. ZACHER:  And then just in addition to that, any impact on the schedule to the extent you did have to wait until the ensuing year.

MR. WARREN:  Just for my benefit, Mr. Zacher, when you say do the necessary work, what work are you referring to?

MR. ZACHER:  The tower work, replacing the towers.  
And there is a second outage, I gather, that is scheduled for 2021, and this is to install the new line?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  That is correct.

MR. ZACHER:  And when is that outage scheduled for, and how long is that anticipated to take?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  So at present what we're looking at is conductor streaming happening between June of 2021 to September of 2021, but in this instance here we'd be looking at a single-circuit outage to allow the streaming of the adjacent (inaudible)...

MR. ZACHER:  And is that one outage?

[Reporter appeals.]

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  For the adjacent circuit to be installed.

[Reporter appeals.]

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Okay.  Sorry.

MR. ZACHER:  So this isn't one outage; it is sort of multiple outages?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  That is correct.

MR. ZACHER:  Between June and September.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  That is correct.

MR. ZACHER:  So Mr. Young, this might be for you.

There is reference in Hydro One's evidence to a restoration plan that includes a double-circuit bypass design, and again, it will betray my ignorance on this point, but is that -- how exactly is that done?  And this is with respect to the portion of the line that's in the park.  So on the (inaudible).

MR. YOUNG:  I think when we were referring to that restoration plan, it's not restricted to just in the park.  This is about a restoration plan should there be a loss of not only the quad circuit tower but also if there is a situation where we lose all the towers, in the situations where there is two tower lines.

MR. ZACHER:  But the double-circuit bypass design applies equally to the four circuit towers.

MR. YOUNG:  That's correct.

MR. ZACHER:  And again, how do you do that?  I'm imagining you are in the park.  You've got -- I think the evidence earlier was that it is a 150-foot-wide corridor.  Is this -- [hits microphone] -- sorry -- within the corridor right-of-way?

MR. YOUNG:  This would be within the corridor.

MR. ZACHER:  And that's feasible?

MR. YOUNG:  It is.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And how long does it take to design and build that?

MR. YOUNG:  I think the design is already underway, and in terms of how long it takes to construct it when you need it, well, we have the materials on hand, and depending on how quickly the crews can get out there, these poles could be installed within a day or several days, depending on how many poles are required.

MR. ZACHER:  NextBridge in its evidence touts the operational benefits that its design has over the Hydro One design, in particular, the two -- the two double-circuit line versus the single circuit with -- single line with four circuits.

Do you agree that there are operational benefits to the next -- to that aspect of the NextBridge design?

MR. YOUNG:  I think the two designs are quite comparable when you look at the length that we're talking about where we do have quad circuits in the -- you know, for most of the line it is two double-circuit tower lines, and so the construction for the quad circuit is of a 100-year design.  The rest of the corridor where there is two tower lines, we still have the existing double-circuit tower line, which is only designed to one in 50 years, so, you know, the only difference is that the portion through the park that is the quad tower, but being designed at a level of one to 100 years, I think is on balance, you know, comparable to the designs of, you know, over a 200-kilometre length where you have one tower circuit that's one in 150 design and then the other one is one in 100.

MR. ZACHER:  So you're talking about the respective designs, the risk of contingency, the respective risk of contingency --


MR. YOUNG:  Right.

MR. ZACHER:  What about just routine maintenance?  Is there a difference with respect to the number of circuits you'd have to take out of service to perform routine maintenance on the double-circuit line versus the quad circuit?

MR. YOUNG:  There may be some times where, for maintenance, that they -- in order to perform the maintenance, one side of the quad tower might be required to be out of service.

MR. ZACHER:  Is that two circuits or three circuits or four circuits?

MR. YOUNG:  That would be two circuits.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  Are there -- so in other words, if you are performing maintenance on one circuit, it's only necessary -- it may only be necessary to take one other circuit out of service, not...

MR. YOUNG:  I think it would depend on what it is that's being done.

MR. ISHAC:  The towers are designed for lifetime maintenance.

MR. ZACHER:  Just so I understand it, I imagine if you got the two-line double circuit, if you are doing work on one circuit you have to take one line out of service, but you've got the other line in-service, so two other circuits, right?  That's --


MR. ISHAC:  This is a scenario, but there is another scenario also that the maintenance work replacing insulator broken or something, it can be done live.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  How does the risk of thunder and lightning storms for the four-circuit tower portion of Hydro One's project within the park compare to the risk of thunder and lightning storms with respect to the two-line double circuit outside of the park?

MR. YOUNG:  I'm not sure that it's materially larger. If it were, we would need to respect contingencies, where it's not -- just as I went through this morning with the performance standards that we are required to design to, that if there was an expectation that multi-circuit tower lines would lose all circuits on a single lightning strike, then the requirement would be beyond just two adjacent circuits.

MR. ZACHER:  What about multiple lightning strikes during a storm?  Can you point to -- do you have any --


MR. YOUNG:  Well, if there was multiple or there's a very, very severe storm, then the likelihood of something that takes out four circuits on one tower could equally be as, you know, likely on, you know, four circuits on two towers.

MR. ZACHER:  And did you have any experience based on Hydro One --


MS. LEA:  You are fading, Mr. Zacher.

MR. ZACHER:  Sorry, does Hydro One have any experience to point to from its other multiple circuit lines?

MR. YOUNG:  Yeah, so we have a number of multi-circuit lines throughout the province, as we indicated earlier this morning.  We have four circuit towers, 230 kV, from Cherrywood going east, and I don't believe, subject to check, that we've ever had a lightning strike which has taken all four circuits out.

MR. ZACHER:  I guess this might be my last question.

So there's been evidence, obviously, from others and through the questions of some of the other parties with respect to the challenges of meeting the various milestones, all of which are critical to the in-service date.

And Mr. Spencer, I think you said earlier that it's prudent to sort of spend some time looking at all of these important milestones and how slippage in any one may impact schedule, and I'm just wondering whether you've taken any steps -- undertaken any kind of risk analysis or sort of handicapping to determine today what's the likelihood that this project is in-service December 31, 2021 versus a year later, versus two years later?

MR. SPENCER:  So I'll provide an answer and Mr. Karunakaran can elaborate if required.

We are very confident in our ability to hit December 2021.  In fact, in that overall schedule we have approximately four months' worth of schedule float which, as we've heard from evidence through NextBridge, is three months more than they have on their critical path.

We've allocated -- we've done an appropriate, in our view, risk assessment, and we followed a leading industry practice around development of contingency, both for schedule and dollars, and that has been factored into our budget and our schedule that's presented in our application.

MR. ZACHER:  Just to be clear, you can look at any one of these important variables, whether it is the timing of the AEA or the OEB decision, or negotiating necessary agreements with First Nations.  But have you looked at these, collectively assessed, what the likelihood is of one or multiple milestones not being met, and assessed overall what the likelihood today is that you meet your target in-service date rather than being a year too late.

MR. SPENCER:  So in a generic sense, we have performed a probabilistic risk assessment listing all potential risks on the project, what impact they have on the schedule and the budget.  And we've looked at the likelihood of the consequence of those risks and modeled that through a Monte Carlo simulation, and that is what specifically informed our contingency and risk factors in both our schedule and our cost.

It is a very similar approach that we filed in our -- in our interrogatory request for our station application.  The proceeding number I don't have immediately handy, but it is a very similar process to that.

MR. ZACHER:  So is it your evidence today that it's more likely than not that the project hits the in-service date if approved by the OEB, as opposed to being one year late, for instance?

MR. SPENCER:  It is absolutely.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Absolutely.

MR. ZACHER:  Those are my questions.

MS. LEA:   Thank you very much, Mr. Zacher.  Board Staff?Qu


MR. LESYCHYN:  Good afternoon.  My name is Mike Lesychyn, Board Staff here.
Questions by Mr. Lesychyn:


My questions are related to transmission line tower design, routing the outages, and reliability.  If we could turn to Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 1, page 4?

The good news is Mr. Zacher actually went through a lot of the questions that I had.

So Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 1 of Hydro One's application, page 4.  So on this page, there are two sections, section 1 and 2, where you describe the transmission line that you are proposing to construct.

And my questions are really -- I looked at this and I had a few questions.  I just want confirmation.

Could you please confirm that no quad structures are going to be used on any part of the line outside of the park?  So we're exclusively within the park, or are there some quad structures -- and my thinking is at the boundaries?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  No, it is exclusively within the park.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Thank you.  You've already given us an overview of how you intend to construct the towers within the park.  One of the questions is will there be any -- because of certain complications that you may encounter as you're constructing within the park, will there be any type of bypass that will be required, temporary bypasses?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  It's not intended to have temporary bypasses, because otherwise, the sequence of the work is that you are effectively putting in the structures and reinstating the existing circuits, and then it's a later activity to actually install the conductor for the new circuits.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Thank you.  What happens if in the field Hydro One encounters some issues during this two week outage period?  For example, what happens if some of the foundations need to be replaced?  Or is it possible to build 2.5 kilometres of that transmission line per day, because that is kind of like the schedule that you're going to have to follow, eh?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  As I said, there is a lot of preparatory work that occurs prior to the actual outage being taken, and part of that is actual assessment of the foundation works, any adjustment to the design that is necessary on that front.  A lot of strengthening and reinforcing works can still be done prior to the actual outage being taken.

So from that perspective, we've got a high degree of confidence in the methodology being put forward.

MR. LESYCHYN:  All right.  As far as the T1M relocation, would there be any type of temporary bypasses that would be required for that?  You are proposing to relocate some of the lines there at T1M.

MR. YOUNG:  We don't have those details at this time.  We will have to -- when we go to plan more specifically that work, then we will look at whether a bypass is required or not.

T1M is connected at both ends and so depending on specifically where and what's being relocated, then it may or may not require bypass.  But we will have to look at it at a later date.

MR. LESYCHYN:  If a bypass was required, then there would be additional cost that you haven't factored into the over all budget.

MR. SPENCER:  The cost associated with the relocation of T1M.

MR. LESYCHYN:  But if you had a build a bypass...


MR. YOUNG:  We provided a preliminary estimate of 1 to $3 million for the relocation, and that will reflect any potential bypass cost.  But at this point, I'm not -- I cannot specifically answer if a bypass is needed or not.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Okay, thank you.  If we can turn to Exhibit B, tab 5, schedule 1, page 3?

Has Hydro One confirmed with Parks Canada that the proposed quad tower guide wires don't alter the existing tower footprint?  So you are going to have to add those -- for this new tower design, you are going to have to add these guide wires in, right?  Would that impact the existing footprint?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Sorry, I'm just trying to catch up to you here on the page. You are referring to the indented section?

MR. LESYCHYN:  Yes.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  So the structures that are going to be going in for the quad towers will have the same base footprint as what the existing structures have.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Right.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  And the guide wires that are going to be installed, the anchors for those will sit within the existing right of way as well.

MR. LESYCHYN:  And Parks Canada wouldn't consider that an alteration on the existing foot print, those anchors?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  No.

MR. LESYCHYN:  My final question on this point: Has Hydro One constructed other transmission lines that have used existing foundations that are 50 plus years old?  Is this a first-time thing, or is this normal practice?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  So just as a point of clarity on this, when we are doing this works, the foundations, whilst they might be aged at the moment, are going to be refurnished as part of the actual works, right.

So in any sort of line refurbishment works, you always look to refurbish to an as-new state.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Okay.  So if we can turn to NextBridge's additional materials, attachment A, appendix 5, page 2, and there is a paragraph that starts with "in addition."

MS. LEA:   I’m sorry, attachment 5?

MR. LESYCHYN:  Attachment A, appendix 5, page 2 of NextBridge's additional materials.  So right in that second paragraph, "in addition."

Can you please explain why Hydro One's proposal can use approximately 50 percent less corridor area than NextBridge's solution?

MS. CROLL:  So that 50 percent less corridor area considers the entire route.  So first of all, our route is 50 kilometres shorter, and then in addition to that, for the areas where we are twinning our existing corridor, the required widening for our proposal and our design is approximately 37 metres.  The required widening in NextBridge's design is approximately 64 metres.  And for areas where we go through Pukaskwa National Park the widening is zero, and then for the area of approximately 50 kilometres where we have a deviation from the existing route, and that's in the Dorion area, our required route for a new corridor is -- our required widening, sorry, is 45 metres, and NextBridge's is approximately 64.

So when you add up the area of the new footprint for our line versus that proposed by NextBridge, that's where you get that 50 percent less corridor area.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Thank you.  Why would NextBridge -- you've answered the next question.  Did the proposal that Hydro One and Great Lakes Power put forward at the designation stage have the same corridor with this Hydro One's current proposal?  Why or why not?

MR. SPENCER:  No, it did not.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Okay, so if I can turn to the additional evidence that Hydro One provided on May 7th, page 6.  So the paragraph that we're interested in is "For over 90 years".  I know that this morning we kind of discussed a little bit about the locations where Hydro One had quad towers.  I just wanted to get a little bit more information --


MR. SPENCER:  Sorry, if you may, Mr. Lesychyn, can you just give us the relative spot on the page in the absence of...

MR. LESYCHYN:  Second -- the seventh paragraph down, (i), "For over 90 years".

MR. SPENCER:  Thank you.  We're there.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Okay.  So it has been discussed throughout the day various locations within the province for these quad structures that Hydro One has.  In other locations where Hydro One has a three- or four-circuit tower what is the distance -- and there was some mention -- I didn't quite catch it -- for one of the particular circuits that you have quad towers on?

MR. SPENCER:  I believe those details will be forthcoming in an undertaking that was --


MR. LESYCHYN:  Okay.  That --


MR. SPENCER:  -- requested earlier this morning.

MR. YOUNG:  Yeah, I did raise the example of a comparable quad-circuit tower of just under 30 kilometres that we have installed for decades in Ontario, in the east GTA area.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Okay.  In other locations where Hydro One has three or four circuit towers, do all the circuits supply the same stations?  For example, in the case of Lake Superior link, all four circuits on the quad tower will be running into Wawa TS, right?  Wawa TS to Marathon TS.

MR. YOUNG:  Not all of them.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Okay.  If we can turn to Exhibit F, tab 1, Schedule 1.  It's the IESO's SIA.  Page 2, the findings.

MR. SPENCER:  Is there a specific page reference, or...

MR. LESYCHYN:  Yeah, page 2.  It's in the findings.

MR. SPENCER:  Page 2 is something else, I think.  The pagination must be different.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Yeah.

MR. SPENCER:  So I believe it's page 10 in --


MR. LESYCHYN:  Page 10?

MR. SPENCER:  -- the version that's --


MR. LESYCHYN:  There is a section called -- ah, yeah, there it is there.

So if we turn to -- keep scrolling town, right, okay, and so this one here, I'm thinking -- okay, I think I've got the -- what I should be referring to is the final SIA that you had submitted, because this section is different.  I think this is in the application.  So if we can go to the -- the final SIA.  That was submitted on March 29th, 2018.  Yes.

So paragraph number 7.  That's the one I'm interested in.  And I have a few questions.  What has Hydro One's experience been with respect to restoration times within the park for extreme contingencies events in the past?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. YOUNG:  We've not had the loss of both tower lines in the park in the past.

MR. LESYCHYN:  So that's never happened in 50 years or...

MR. YOUNG:  Not in the park.  No.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Okay.  Basically, you've taken care of three questions.  The next one's been taken care of.

Does Hydro One or the IESO take into account probability of events occurring when planning the system; for example, due to the NERC, NPCC, or IESO standards, consider the probability of a contingency occurring, or do the standards require that the system must be built to withstand specified contingencies?

MR. YOUNG:  The reliability standards are all deterministic, and so currently the power system is designed on a deterministic basis, not based on probabilistic considerations.

MR. LESYCHYN:  In the last 50 years has the weather pattern in the park changed?  In other words, have the storms become more severe because of global warning, so there would be more probab -- there would be a higher probability today of a -- for example, more lightning strikes or more tornadoes or more severe -- more severe weather patterns?

MR. SPENCER:  I don't believe members of this panel have that information.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Okay, what would the -- I guess the next question is, like, the quad towers -- the quad tower design that you've come up with within the park, would you consider putting that type of design outside the park, and that way you wouldn't have to use another right-of-way?  You could use the existing right-of-way?

MR. SPENCER:  Well, although technically possible, one may argue, it would be not cost-effective.

MR. LESYCHYN:  So from a cost perspective, you wouldn't recommend that approach?

MR. SPENCER:  Not from a cost perspective, no.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Even though you wouldn't need another right-of-way.

MR. SPENCER:  It would be cost-prohibitive.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Okay.  If I turn to Exhibit G, tab 1, Schedule 1 in the final CIA.  Page 17.  In the very conclusion -- at the very last paragraph there:

"Does Hydro One's proposal, Lake Superior link project, provide the same reliability as NextBridge's East-West Tie proposal, considering the extreme contingency issue identified by the IESO and the SIA?"

MR. YOUNG:  Sorry, Mr. Lesychyn, can you repeat the question?

MR. LESYCHYN:  Does Hydro One's proposed Lake Superior project provide the same reliability as NextBridge's East-West Tie proposal, considering the extreme contingency issue identified by the IESO in its SIA?  And that was the previous paragraph, paragraph 7.

MR. YOUNG:  From an extreme contingency performance perspective, it would be no different than the NextBridge proposal with the extreme contingency here is losing all four circuits.  Whether you lose them all on one tower or you lose them all on two towers, the outcome is the same, the impact is the same.


MR. LESYCHYN:  So basically, the circuit would be down?


MR. YOUNG:  Well, you would lose all four circuits.


MR. LESYCHYN:  So basically, the whole northwest side of the province would be cut off?


MR. SPENCER:  Your question, if I may, was whether there is a difference between the two solutions.


MR. YOUNG:  Yes, and from an extreme contingency perspective, there is -- the impact is the same.


MR. LESYCHYN:  Okay.  If I could turn to -- and we kind of -- people kind of touched on this earlier within the room.  But if we turn to Exhibit F, tab 1, schedule 1, attachment 3, this is the IESO.  And that was the last -- so that would be actually not on page 10.  I think it was  not on page 2, but page 10 in the findings again, and it's paragraph 8.


MR. SPENCER:  I think you've got everyone spun around with your numbers there.  Would you mind repeating them?


MR. LESYCHYN:  It is attachment 3.  It is the IESO's SIA, and I think it is page 10, right?  It is in the findings again.


MR. KARUNAKARAN:  You are referring to bullet point 8 of the findings?


MR. LESYCHYN:  Yes.


MR. KARUNAKARAN:  That starts off "outages to the existing east-west tie"?


MR. LESYCHYN:  Yes.  So we talked -- this we talked a little bit about, the two week outage.


Do you have any idea as to when the projected date for that outage would be?


MR. SPENCER:  Yes.


MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Yes.  One second?


MR. SPENCER:  August 2020.


MR. LESYCHYN:  August 2020, okay.  So basically you are looking at the two-week period then?


MR. KARUNAKARAN:  That's correct.


MR. LESYCHYN:  Has the east-west tie lines ever been on an outage, a similar type of outage in the past during the last 50 years for two weeks?


MR. SPENCER:  I don't think there has been a need in the last 50 years.


MR. LESYCHYN:  Okay.  But in that whole historical time there has never been an outage that's basically -- that circuit has been down for two weeks?


MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Just one second.


MR. LESYCHYN:  Even a scheduled outage.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. SPENCER:  With your clarification of "planned outage" even, we don't have that that information with us on this panel.


MR. LESYCHYN:  Are there outage constraints in that area of the province?  And what is the frequency of any outage rescheduling?


MR. YOUNG:  That's a very broad question, Mr. Lesychyn.  Can you be a little more specific when you say were there outage limitations?  The northwest is a big area, and there are a lot of transmission facilities.


MR. LESYCHYN:  Okay, I can narrow that down to outages in the area of the park, or in the vicinity of that park.  Is there constraints in that area?


MR. YOUNG:  From a power transfer perspective?


MR. LESYCHYN:  From any perspective.


MR. YOUNG:  Well, in the park, the only transmission facility is the existing east-west tie.


MR. LESYCHYN:  So if --


MR. YOUNG:  So if you are talking about limitations, sure, whenever there are limitations to the east-west tie, we've had them in the past.


I'm not sure I've answered your question, so I'm just trying to understand that a little bit better.


MR. LESYCHYN:  What is the frequency of those outages?


MR. SPENCER:  I might be able to simplify this, only because I don't understand it as well as Mr. Young does per se with his power system planning background.


There are restrictions during the calendar year that would limit the availability to take a double circuit outage on the Marathon by Wawa section, no doubt.


That is why in part, a large part, exclusively we have planned our construction around the point in the year in which we have the highest likelihood of obtaining those outages.


MR. LESYCHYN:  If you couldn't get that outage at that point in time, what would the impact be on the schedule?


MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Well, I think as we had answered earlier in questions to the IESO counsel -- I apologize, I've forgotten your name -- we would be looking at multiple shorter duration outages to be able to construct the works.


MR. SPENCER:  That contingency, that risk, has been in fact accounted for in our contingency schedules and budgets.


MR. LESYCHYN:  Thank you.  You've actually answered the next question.

Questions by Ms. Crnojacki:

MS. CRNOJACKI:  I would like to ask a couple of questions about what Hydro One's project budget covers, and what would be the incremental project cost.


The reference is to your Exhibit B 7 1, so it may be helpful if we turn it up.


These questions are mainly related to the environmental assessment and indigenous consultation costs.


We are looking to understand whether, if Hydro One is not able to secure an EA exemption through a declaration regulation and is required to carry on an individual EA, will there be incremental project costs and if these costs are covered by your existing project budget?


MS. CROLL:  Is this on?   So, the studies that are required for either a declaration order or an individual EA and the consultation are similar for either undertaking.  So we're actually doing what's required to get us to the point where we can submit an individual EA.


However, we still feel that we're a good candidate for a declaration order, and it's been made clear to us that that option is also available to us.


MR. SPENCER:  And just as a matter of scale here on the potential cost implications, at that point in the project -- which I'll just say is relatively early on, pre-construction -- the amount of capital expenditure life today would be relatively small.  Therefore, the cost impact associated with incremental carrying charges and interest during construction would be, of course, minimized.


A delay later on in the project has a relatively larger impact.  Those small risks that we're talking about here of -- let's call it minor delay and something like the individual EA approval in your scenario, those are in fact modeled and costed within our contingency of the project.


MS. CRNOJACKI:  Yes, thank you very much.  Do you have an estimate of the cost of carrying out an individual environmental assessment?


MS. CROLL:  Are you referring to the individual environmental assessment for this project?


MS. CRNOJACKI:  Yes, the information that would be applicable to this project.


[Witness panel confers]


MS. CROLL:  Yes.  So I think the costs we are referring to are for the route that's new to our project area, so the park and approaches.


I'm sorry, could you repeat the question?  Maybe I'm not answering it.


MS. CRNOJACKI:  No, I understand -- as I understand the environmental assessment requirements, you are going to conduct an individual environmental assessment for the portions of the route that are outside of the park.  And then there are a bit different additional requirements by Canadian environmental assessment for the portion of the route through the park.  Is that --


MS. CROLL:  Right.  So the individual environmental assessment is a requirement under the Environmental Assessment Act, provincially.  So in addition to that, there is a federal requirement under the Canadian Environmental Assessment Act within the park.


So we have budgeted to complete that as well, but the studies that we'll be completing in the park area that are required for the individual EA or a declaration order are the same as the studies that we would require for our federal environmental assessment.


So although there is another report, the consultation and studies would be used for both of the requirements.


MS. CRNOJACKI:  So you've explained the process and the requirements, and the type of studies and how you would use your studies, but related to the question on cost, do you
have -- are you able to give us more -- an estimate?

MS. CROLL:  Are you referring to an estimate for the park only?

MS. CRNOJACKI:  For both, for the -- or the environmental assessment requirements that would be related to this project?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. CROLL:  Okay.  Right.  So I think what you are referencing is the cost associated with the environmental assessments and approvals.  So if we look at -- which table is that?

MR. SPENCER:  Two and three.

MS. CROLL:  Table 2 and 3.  Yes, you can see that they contain environmental approvals, consultations, and those are in both tables, so both development costs and construction costs.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Okay, and any reason that you just indicated would be small regarding delays, and any additional costs that are not included would -- in these tables would be in the contingency -- included in the contingencies?  Contingency cost?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct, so contingency would include a provision for other EA-related activities or consultation activities that weren't assumed in the original cost estimate.

MR. MURRAY:  Perhaps I can interject, because I dealt with most of the environmental questions, so in addition to that answer we'd be interested in knowing -- I understand Hydro One's position is they are hoping to use or reference the NextBridge EA work.  Well, let's assume for a minute you can't.  You have to start from scratch, you have to do all our own studies.

Do you have a sense of the magnitude of what those costs would be and if those are currently envisioned in the budgets?

MS. CROLL:  Those are not currently in the budget, and we haven't done any scoping exercises for those costs.  I couldn't answer that question.

MR. MURRAY:  Can you give us any sense based upon other projects you've done?  Like, obviously you've done other large projects.  You must be able to give us some sort of magnitude or range in terms of the costs you would envision?

MS. CROLL:  Individual EAs are quite large and each project is unique.  I can't think of an appropriate project for comparison at this point.

MR. MURRAY:  Are we talking a million dollars, are we talking $10 million, are we talking more?

MS. CROLL:  I couldn't answer that at this time.

MR. MURRAY:  Okay.

MS. CROLL:  We haven't scoped that out.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Just a moment, please.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Just a couple questions here:  Are there any stranded assets as a result of Hydro One's proposed quad towers through the park?

MR. SPENCER:  Not to our knowledge, no.

MR. LESYCHYN:  So there wouldn't be any kind of incremental cost for that.

MR. SPENCER:  There are no -- there will be no stranded -- we don't foresee any stranded assets with the tower replacement.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Okay.  Hang on, hang on.  Within the park, is the construction cost incremental within the park or is it full cost?  In other words, you're basically only looking at the cost to basically take the circuits from a double circuit to a quad circuit?  Are you basically -- is the entire cost is being fully allocated?

MR. SPENCER:  The modifications to the tower -- the towers through the park to enable a quad circuit, those costs in this application are fully burdened.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Okay.  Is there any stranded value for the towers that you're basically taking out, because those towers are not at end of life.  They are 50 years old.  I'm not sure of what the value is there, but...

MR. SPENCER:  We're not sure on this panel of the details of that, to be honest.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Okay.
Questions by Mr. Murray:

MR. MURRAY:  So it looks like we're almost at the end.  I just have two final questions.  The first question is, I was hoping we could pull up page 17 of the evidence that's been filed by Hydro One for this motion.  Page 17.  And if we could just -- page 17.  I think it might have been up a page, if we could scroll up.  No, no, maybe -- scroll down a page, scroll down to the bottom, just at the end of page 17.  Perfect.  Right there.

So I'm going to be reading from the second paragraph under the heading "derouting", where it's written:
"From a cost perspective reinforcing the Hydro One line through the park alone without connecting to Hydro One proposed LSL line outside the park would likely not be cheaper than the Hydro One Lake Superior link solution, although it would be cheaper than the NextBridge solution."

So this is talking once again about the proposal that's been raised in the Board's notice of hearing of the motion where NextBridge would build the parts outside the park and Hydro One would build the part of the line inside the park.

Is there any way you could provide an approximate amount, in terms of, if you would just build the part in the park to upgrade it to, like, the four -- the quad circuit, what the cost of that would be?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  If you are referring to the cost to actually just refurbish the 87 towers alone within the park, it would be about $100 million.

MR. MURRAY:  Would that be also upgraded to a quad circuit?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you.  And the last question relates to, I believe -- I'm following up on a question I believe that IESO asked at the end, where Mr. Spencer in response at the end of the questioning made reference to a probabilistic analysis that was used to confirm the Lake Superior link schedule, a Monte Carlo analysis; do I have that right?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  Is that on the record?

MR. SPENCER:  It has not been filed in this motion, no.

MR. MURRAY:  Can you undertake to file that in this motion?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes, we can do that.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you, those are all my questions.

MR. LAVAEE:  That would be JT2.30.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.30:  HYDRO ONE TO FILE THE PROBABILISTIC MONTE CARLO ANALYSIS USED TO CONFIRM THE LAKE SUPERIOR LINK SCHEDULE.

MS. LEA:  Thank you, Mr. Murray.

I've had a request from Mr. Rubenstein to ask one more question.  I trust he's going to buy us all a beer as well.

[Laughter]

I would ask that he be indulged in this, please.
Continued Questions by Mr. Rubenstein:

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just a quick follow-up, and maybe you can tell me if you are -- the document that you just agreed to provide Board Staff will cover it.

Is the budget that you -- sorry, is the schedule that you ended up coming to to get to the 20 -- the December 2021 date, is that based on a Monte Carlo analysis that would be the fiftieth percentile?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  No, it is actually a PAD5.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So it's a PAD5 to get to that.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Okay.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The other -- the question I also had with respect to the development cost.  Is the plan with respect to the development cost, assuming that you are -- your budget is correct for that, to include that in sort of CWIP in the -- for the project as NextBridge is proposing with respect to theirs to roll those costs in to essentially the capital cost at the end?

MR. SPENCER:  So I'm not 100 percent clear on how NextBridge has suggested their costs can be recovered, but in the case of Hydro One's application on page 2 of Exhibit B, tab 7, Schedule 1 we provide our perspective around recovery of those costs, ultimately, as part of the -- the capital cost of the project, in accordance with the OEB policy framework for transmission project development plans, largely, because of the second bullet around line 17, to draw your attention:

"The amount saved on construction costs could be more than the cost added by funding of a second development project."

So primarily relying on that bullet, yes, to your answer, we would be seeking recovery of the development costs if selected and granted leave to construct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  I trust there is nothing further.

I want to thank all of you so very much for this very lengthy day.  I think that we've heard and learned a lot today.  I particularly want to thank the Hydro One witnesses, who have been on the stand for a lengthy period of time, and most of all our court reporter, who endures with all of us all day.

So thank you all very much.  That's the conclusion of the technical conference for this motion.
--- Whereupon the conference concluded at 6:47 p.m.
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